
 
 

(Established pursuant to section 103 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development  
and Construction Act 2009 as the Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton  

and Wirral Combined Authority) 

MEETING OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION  
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

 

To: The Members of the Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee 
to be held on Wednesday, 24th November, 2021 at 2.00 pm in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP. 
 

Members of the public are encouraged to view the meeting via the webcast but 
for anyone who would like to attend in person, please contact Democratic 
Services on 07833 047153 or email democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-
ca.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. Please note that there is very limited 
capacity in the Chamber and seating will be allocated on a first come, first 
served basis. 
 

All those attending will be asked to wear a face covering (unless exempt) and 
are encouraged to take a Lateral Flow Test before attending. You should not 
attend if you have tested positive for Coronavirus or if you have any symptoms 
of Coronavirus. 
 

If you have any queries regarding this meeting, please contact Lisa Backstrom 
on telephone number (0151) 330 1079. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive  

 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 

 

This meeting will be filmed by the Combined Authority for live and/or 
subsequent broadcast on the Combined Authority’s website. The whole of the 
meeting will be filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items.  
 

If you do not wish to have your image captured or if you have any queries 
regarding the webcasting of the meeting please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer on the above number or email 
democratic.services@liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk.  
 
A Fair Processing Notice is available on the Combined Authority’s website at 
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-
Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf 

mailto:democratic.services@merseytravel.gov.uk
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf
https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Fair-Processing-Notice-CA-Meeting-Video-Recording.pdf


 

 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. APOLOGIES  

   

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

   

3. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting held on 22 September 2021. 

  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

GOVERNANCE 
 

4. MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Monitoring Officer providing an update on a 
review of the Members’ Code of Conduct.  

  (Pages 5 - 90) 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

5. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit to provide the Liverpool 
City Region Audit and Governance Committee with an overview of the 
internal audit work completed in respect of the Combined Authority in the 
third quarter of 2021-22, in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan 2021-
22. 

  (Pages 91 - 114) 
 

6. FRAUD UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit to provide an update in 
respect of managing the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption in the 
organisation. 

  (Pages 115 - 200) 
 

7. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  

 To consider a report of the Head of Internal Audit to provide an update in 
respect of the system of corporate risk management and the activity that 
has been undertaken in continuing to embed this system during the third 
quarter of 2021-22. 

  (Pages 201 - 226) 



 

 

 

8. APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS  

 To consider a report of the Executive Director of Corporate Services which 
provides the options for the appointment of external auditors and seeks 
Member’s views on the acceptability of the proposal to opt in to the PSAA 
route for appointing external auditors.  

  (Pages 227 - 236) 
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

   
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
 

 
At a meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee held in the Authority 

Chamber - No.1 Mann Island, Liverpool, L3 1BP on Wednesday, 22nd September, 
2021 the following Members were 
 

P r e s e n t: 
 

Councillor E Finneran (Chair) Overview and Scrutiny  Knowsley MBC 
Councillor J Hansen (Vice-Chair) Overview and Scrutiny  Sefton MBC 
Councillor P Moloney  Overview and Scrutiny  Liverpool CC  
Councillor M Wharton  LCRCA Halton BC 
Councillor G Morgan  LCRCA Knowsley MBC 
Mr M McDonagh  Independent Member  
 
 
15. APOLOGIES  
 
 An apology was received from Councillor D Burgess-Joyce. 
 
16. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 Councillor Pat Moloney declared an interest in item 7 which related to his 
position as Deferred Members Representative on the Merseyside Pension Fund 
Board. 
 
17. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  
 
 The minutes of the last meeting held on 28 July 2021 were agreed with an 
amendment to show Councillor Moloney represents Liverpool CC. 
 
18. GOVERNANCE UPDATE (INFORMATION MANAGEMENT – BREACHES, 

CONDUCT AND COMPLAINTS AND WHISTLEBLOWING)  
 
 The Committee received an update from Andrew Henderson, Senior 
Information Management Officer focussing on the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority’s (LCR CA) information management procedures and requests for 
information over the last 12 months.  
 
 Members were advised that the figures in the report were cumulative and 
represented both the LCR CA and Merseytravel and there had been a marked 
increase in requests compared to the previous year.  During 2019-20 there had been 
91 requests and this had risen to 193 over the last 12 months. It was suggested that 
the rise could be attributed in part to the pandemic, as the profile of the LCR CA had 
increased considerably during that time. Common topics of interest included the 
Strategic Investment Fund, Programme Management Office, Subsidised Bus Routes 
and LCR Cares.  
 
 It was explained that 46% of the requested received were for information not 
held by the LCR CA. This was due in part to  group requests submitted to multiple 
authorities by journalists without checking whether the questions were applicable.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 The Committee were advised that during 2020-21, only 1 request was not 
responded to within the statutory deadline as a result of the information being held in 
off-site storage and the government’s social distancing guidelines preventing officers 
from obtaining that information. Members were advised that an acceptable response 
rate is typically 90% and it was noted that the LCR CA had a response rate in excess 
of 99% of queries answered within the deadline.  
 
 It was explained that there were fewer requests for CCTV during 2019-20 due 
to the reduction in traffic through the Mersey Tunnels which accounted for the 
majority of request for CCTV (which are used in legal proceedings after collisions).  
 
 With regards to the change in working practices during the pandemic, 
Members were advised the LCR CA and Merseytravel had issues from mandatory 
training on cyber-crime and managing data.  
 
 There had been one complaint in 2019-20 which had not resulted in any 
enforcement action as the Information Commissioner had found the procedures in 
place and the actions undertaken to be appropriate. It was noted that there had been 
no complaints under the Member’s Code of Conduct during this period, nor had there 
been any information breaches in 2021.  
 
 Councillor Moloney asked what percentage of the requests were from 
individuals, media organisations or public bodies. It was explained that approximately 
50% of requests were from journalists, 15% were community organisations and 
campaign groups and 35% were individual requests for information. 
 
 Cllr Hansen queried how widely the data protection training was rolled out 
across the organisation. In relation to training, Members were informed that the 
Learning Team and HR department had adopted a new certification scheme and 
learning portal where the five modules resided. Officers had considered the different 
job roles and departments across the organisation and how involved they were with 
personal information when identifying who should undertake the training and how 
frequently they would need to undertake a refresher. It was decided that a refreshed 
needed to be completed every two years and Andrew Henderson also provided 
bespoke sessions as needed.  
 

RESOLVED - That the LCR Audit and Governance Committee note the 
contents of that report.  

 
19. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit provided the Members with an update 
that focused on the work undertaken by the Internal Audit Service in quarter two and 
a breakdown of the four audits undertaken during that period.  
 
 In terms of the percentage of the plan completed, it was reported that with the 
work in progress taken into consideration,  32% had been attained and Laura 
Williams assured the Members that the plan in its entirety would be delivered by the 
end of the year.  
 
 Since the last meeting, the National Fraud Initiative had been undertaken and 
had identified no significant acts of fraud or error aside from a £3,840 duplicate 
creditor record. 
 

Page 2



 Members were reminded that the initial findings of the Internal Audit 
Standards External Assessment were positive and showed full compliance. 
 
RESOLVED  That:- 
 
(i) the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the report be 

noted; and  
  

(ii) the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan in 
respect of the Combined Authority be noted.  
 

20. RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  
 
 Laura Williams, Head of Internal Audit provided a risk management update 
noting the progress in embedding risk management made in the 18 months since the 
appointment of a Risk Manager.  
 
 The Corporate Risk Register had been refreshed and reviewed to align with 
the Corporate Plan with input from the Executive Leadership Team . It was 
highlighted that some risks had been reduced during that process and were now 
being managed at service level. The risks had been presented to the Members 
thematically and Councillor Wharton confirmed that this approach was preferred.  
 
 It was noted that the service risks were also being updated and the quarterly 
officer Risk Group was developing into a positive forum for discussion of risk.   
 
 Councillor Morgan queried how the organisation ensured that risk 
management and performance management were aligned to the Corporate Plan and 
the LCR CA’s priorities. It was explained that a lot of consideration had been given to 
aligning the two documents. Furthermore, officers were taking measures to ensure 
that the service risk registers aligned with the corporate plan priorities.  
 
 Mr McDonagh asked if there were any timescales in place for reducing the 
red risks in the plan down to amber or green. Laura Williams explained that each risk 
had actions aligned to it to mitigate the risk, but this would not necessarily reduce the 
risk rating to amber or green. Once each risk’s actions were implemented then 
additional actions would be considered to try and reduce the risk further so as to 
progress the risk towards its target score. 
 
RESOLVED - That the LCR Audit and Governance Committee note the progress 
made in embedding the system of corporate risk management into the organisation. 
 
21. ANNUAL STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020-21  
 
 Assistant Director for Finance, Sarah Johnston presented the Annual 
Statement of Accounts for 2020-21 which included the external auditor’s completion 
report. Members were advised that there were some elements of the audit 
outstanding and as such the report was in draft as were the accounts.  
 
 It was expected that an unqualified opinion of the accounts would be issued, 
and it was explained that the value for money judgement had been decoupled from 
the statement of accounts and as such would be reported on later in the year.  
 
 Mark Dalton, Mazars highlighted the key elements of the report and it was 
noted that a clean and unqualified opinion of the accounts was anticipated once the 

Page 3



outstanding pieces of work were completed. There were no matters to report to the 
Committee on significant risks as part of the audit work and any misstatements would 
be reported to the Committee prior to sign off the accounts.   
 
 Members were advised that Mazars were awaiting assurances from the 
Merseyside Pension Fund Auditors which may delay the target date of 30 September 
2021. The Finance team were thanked for their cooperation and hard work during the 
audit.  
 
RESOLVED That:- 
 
(i) the content of the report be noted;  

  
(ii) the draft Audit Completion Report (ACR) on the annual Statement of 

Accounts attached at Appendix One be considered; and  
 

(iii) for completeness a final ACR will be issued to the Committee on completion 
of the audit.  
 

22. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There were no items of other business for consideration at this meeting.  
 
 
Minutes 15 to 22 received as a correct record the 24 day of November 2021. 
 
 

 

Chairperson of the Committee 
 

(The meeting closed at 14:42pm) 
 
 

 

Page 4



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Liverpool City Region 

Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Meeting:     24 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
KEY DECISION   No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER  
 

MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The Local Government Association (“LGA”) published a model Councillor Code of 

Conduct in December 2020 (“LGA Model Code”).  A working group comprised 
primarily of the Monitoring Officers of the nine authorities across the Liverpool City 
Region was established to modify the LGA Model Code and to align and 
recommend a shared code. 

 
1.2 A modified version of the LGA Model Code (“Merseyside Model Code”) was 

adopted by the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority at the meeting on 4 June 
2021. 

 
1.3 Guidance designed to assist Monitoring Officers, and anyone nominated by a 

Monitoring Officer to carry out investigations on their behalf and to assist Members / 
Councillors in understanding the process was published by the LGA on 21 
September 2021. 

 
1.4 The LGA have also made some minor changes to their model code in revisions 

dated 19 January and 17 May 2021. 
 
1.5 This report notes the ongoing work to update the Merseyside Model Code and to 

align arrangements for investigating and making decisions in relation to allegations 
made concerning Councillor/Member conduct across Liverpool City Region 
authorities 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance 
 Committee: 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



(a) note and endorse the updating of the Merseyside Model Code in accordance 
with amendments made to the LGA Model Code; 
 

(b) note the publication by the LGA of guidance to better understand and apply the 
LGA Model Code;  

 
(c) note and endorse the working together by authorities across the City Region to 

align the approach and arrangements for investigating and making decisions in 
relation to allegations made concerning Councillor/Member conduct; and 

 
(d) Determine whether to commend the revised Merseyside Model Code to the 

Combined Authority for approval. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The majority of the changes made to the LGA Model Code have been made to 

correct typographical errors.  However, a significant change has been made to the 
prejudicial interest test, which in the Merseyside Model Code and original LGA 
Model Code is applied to „your interests‟.  The revised drafting properly expands the 
scope of the test to include other interests and those of family and associates. 
 

3.2 A copy of the Merseyside Model Code with the proposed amendments is included 
as Appendix One.  However, further minor amendments may be required.   

 
3.3 The Merseyside Model Code was based on the December 2020 version of the LGA 

Model Code.  The 17 May 2021 version has only recently been made available to 
Liverpool City Region Monitoring Officers and the 19 January 2021 version was not 
provided.  As such, additional amendments may be required to incorporate into the 
Merseyside Code of Conduct any relevant changes made to the 19 January 2021 
LGA Model Code and/or to provide for other local arrangements. 

 
3.4 Monitoring Officers across the Liverpool City Region will continue to work together 

in an attempt to align amendments to the Merseyside Model Code across their 
respective authorities. 

 
3.5 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority is further developing formal 

arrangements in place for investigating and making decisions in relation to 
allegations made concerning Member conduct in concert with the other City Region 
authorities. 

 
3.6 On 21 September 2021, the LGA published guidance to better understand and 

apply the LGA Model Code (“LGA Guidance”). 
 
3.7 Given its relationship to the LGA Model Code (and in turn the Merseyside Model 

Code), the LGA Guidance can be consulted should an allegation of a breach of the 
Merseyside Model Code be made against a Member of Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority. 

 
 
 
 

Page 6



3.8 A copy of the LGA Guidance is included as Appendix Two. 
 
3.9 A working group comprised primarily of the Monitoring Officers of the nine 

authorities across the Liverpool City Region was established to see whether 
common arrangements for investigating and making decisions in relation to 
allegations made concerning Member/Councillor conduct could be adopted by 
Liverpool City Region authorities. 

 
3.10 The work detailed in the above paragraph was paused pending adoption of the 

Merseyside Model Code by Liverpool City Region authorities and the publication of 
the LGA Guidance. 

 
3.11 Work will now resume to see whether the Guidance (or a modified version of the 

Guidance to accord more closely with local arrangements and the Merseyside 
Model Code) can be adopted by Liverpool City Region authorities as their 
arrangements for investigating and making decisions in relation to allegations made 
concerning Member/Councillor conduct.  Alternatively, the Guidance (or a modified 
version thereof) could supplement „Members Code of Conduct Protocols‟. 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
 
4.1 Financial 
   
  There are no identified financial implications arising directly from this report. 
 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no identified human resources implications arising directly from this 
report. 

 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 There are no identified physical assets implications directly arising from this report.. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 There are no identified information technology implications directly arising from this 

report. 
 

 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Under section 28 (6) of the Localism Act 2011, most local authorities must have in 

place: 
 

(i)   arrangements under which allegations against Members can be investigated; 
  and 
(ii)  arrangements under which decisions on allegations against Members can  be  
  made 
 

Page 7



5.2 There are no specific arrangements that must be adopted, but the arrangements 
adopted must be consistent with the requirements of section 28 of the Localism Act 
2011 and involve an independent person. 

 
5.3 The arrangements provided by the Guidance are consistent with the requirements 

of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
 
6.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 Considering best practice and implementing improvements will help maintain sound 

corporate governance and the integrity of local authority decision making, 
minimising risk of challenge, corruption, improper conduct and standards 
complaints.    

 
6.2 Not updating the Merseyside Model Code would result in Liverpool City Region 

Combined Authority‟s code not remaining up to date with best practice.  
 
6.3 Not updating the existing code in association with other Liverpool City Region 

authorities may result in difficulties in shared interpretation and for Members in light 
of their roles in the constituent authorities. 

 
6.4 There is a risk that allegations of a breach of the Merseyside Model Code may be 

investigated and handled differently unless specific guidance and/or procedures are 
adopted.  Members may not fully understanding the relevant processes in the 
absence of express guidance. 

 
6.5 Not adopting an approach consistent with other Liverpool City Region authorities 

may result in difficulties in shared interpretation and for Members in light of their 
roles in the constituent authorities. 

 
 

7.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no identified equality and diverstiy implications directly arising from this 

report. 
 
 

8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 

8.1 There are no identified equality and diverstiy implications directly arising from this 
report. 

 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 Changes to the Merseyside Model Code and arrangements for investigating and 

making decisions in relation to allegations made concerning Member conduct 
impacts Liverpool City Region Combined Authority‟s Members. 

 
 

Page 8



9.2 The LGA undertook exensive consultation with local authorites (including Liverpool 
City Region authorities) during the preparationof the LGA Code and Guidance. 

 
9.3 Given that the working groups established to progress these matters involve the 

Monitoring Officers of Liverpool City Region Combined Authority‟s constituent 
authorities, communications to the relevant constituent authority stakeholders shall 
be undertaken directly at a constituent authority level.    

 
 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 This report details proposed changes to the modified version of the LGA Model 

Code adopted by the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority at the meeting on 4 
June 2021 and the publication by the LGA of guidance to support investigations into 
Member / Councillor Conduct.  Work shall continue to see whether common 
arrangements for investigating and making decisions in relation to allegations made 
concerning Member / Councillor conduct can be adopted by Liverpool City Region 
authorities.   

 
 

JILL COULE 
Monitoring Oficer 

 
 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Michael Howarth Solicitor Tel: 0151 330 1320 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One - Proposed Amendments to Merseyside Model Code 
Appendix Two - LGA Guidance 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Annexe 1 

 

Proposed Amendments to Merseyside 

Model Code 
Introduction 

 

This Authority and those across the Liverpool City Region have adopted this Code of 

Conduct to promote and maintain high standards of conduct and underpin public 

confidence in the authority and its members and co-opted members. It is adapted 

from the Local Government Association (LGA) Model Councillor Code of Conduct 

2020 published 19th January 2021.  

 

The LGA Model Code was introduced by a Joint Statement from the political groups 

that: 

 

“The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our 

country’s system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be 

held accountable and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated 

with the role. Our conduct as an individual councillor affects the reputation of 

all councillors. We want the role of councillor to be one that people aspire to. 

We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to 

be putting themselves forward to become councillors.  

 

As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services 

and deliver local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust 

us to represent our local area; taking decisions fairly, openly, and 

transparently. We have both an individual and collective responsibility to meet 

these expectations by maintaining high standards and demonstrating good 

conduct, and by challenging behaviour which falls below expectations.  

 

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without 

being intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the 

general public.  

 

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good 

conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local government.” 

 

The Code sets out general obligations about the standards of conduct expected 

of Members and co-opted members of the authority, together with provisions 

about registering and declaring interests. It has been adopted under section 27 

of the Localism Act 2011 by the Authority on [  ].  

 

Page 11



The LGA Model Code is to be reviewed annually and is supported by Guidance [to 

be] issued April 2021. 

 

Definitions 

 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “Member” means a member or co-opted 

member of a local authority [or a directly elected mayor]. A “co-opted member” is 

defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of 

the authority but who: 

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or; 

b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint 

sub- committee of the authority; 

 

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local authority” includes the upper tier 

councils, town or parish councils and the combined authorities across the Liverpool 

City Region. 

 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct 

 

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a Member, in modelling the 

behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal check and balance, and to 

set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being taken against you. It is 

also to protect you, the public, fellow Members, local authority officers and the 

reputation of local government. It sets out general principles of conduct expected of 

all Members and your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The 

LGA encourages the use of support, training and mediation prior to action being 

taken using the Code. The fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain 

public confidence in the role of Member and local government. 

 

General principles of Member Conduct 

 

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 

services, including ministers, civil servants, Members and local authority officers; 

should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 

Principles. 

 

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 

specifically for the role of Member. 

 

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

 

• I act with integrity and honesty 

• I act lawfully 

• I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

• I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the 

role of Member. 

Page 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


 

In undertaking my role: 

 

• I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local 

community 

• I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person 

• I avoid conflicts of interest 

• I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

• I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my 

local authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

 

Application of the Code of Conduct 

 

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 

acceptance of the office of Member or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 

member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a Member. 

 

This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity as a 

Member which may include when: 

 

• you misuse your position as a Member; or 

• your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the 

public with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a Member. 

 

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 

• at face-to-face meetings 

• at online or telephone meetings 

• in written communication 

• in verbal communication 

• in non-verbal communication 

• in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 

comments. 

 

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at 

all times when acting as a Member. 

 

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the 

Code of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring 

Officer on any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish 

Members are encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to 

the Monitoring Officer. 

 

Standards of Member conduct 

 

Page 13



This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 

required of you as a Member. Should your conduct fall short of these standards, a 

complaint may be made against you, which may result in action being taken. 

 

Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they 

should be followed. 

 

General Conduct 
 

1. Respect 
 

As a Member: 

 

1.1 I treat other Members and members of the public with respect. 

 

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 

partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority 

with respect and respect the role they play. 

 

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written 

word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a 

Member, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, 

opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, subject 

individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack. 

 

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude 

and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 

Members. 

 

In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. If members 

of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop 

any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local 

authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow 

Members, where action could then be taken under the Member Code of Conduct, 

and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local 

authority’s Member- officer protocol. 

 

 

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination 
 

As a Member: 

 

2.1 I do not bully any person. 

 

2.2 I do not harass any person. 

 

Page 14



2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any 

person. 

 

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 

offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying 

might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on 

social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social 

events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 

 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that 

causes alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such 

conduct on at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose 

unwanted communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be 

expected to cause distress or fear in any reasonable person. 

 

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's 

identity defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender 

reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 

or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Members have a 

central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral to the local authority's 

performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision and public 

commitment to equality across public services. 

 

 

3. Impartiality of officers of the local authority  
 

As a Member: 

 

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of 

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority. 

 

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 

they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a 

way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to 

understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the 

content of a report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them 

to act differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so 

would prejudice their professional integrity. 

 

  

Page 15



4. Confidentiality and access to information  
 

As a Member: 

 

4.1 I do not disclose information: 

a. given to me in confidence by anyone 

b. acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be 

aware, is of a confidential nature, unless 

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to 

give it; 

ii. I am required by law to do so; 

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose 

of obtaining professional legal advice provided that the 

third party agrees not to disclose the information to 

any other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is: 

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and 

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the 

reasonable requirements of the local authority; 

and 

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to 

its release. 

 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role 

as a Member for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family 

members, my employer or my business interests. 

 

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled 

to by law. 

 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 

printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 

circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 

required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held 

by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include 

personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations. 

 

 

5. Disrepute 
 

As a Member: 

 

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. 

 

As a Member, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 

your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary 

Page 16



members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an 

adverse impact on you, other Members and/or your local authority and may lower the 

public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/it’s 

functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can 

bring your local authority into disrepute. 

 

You are able to hold the local authority and fellow Members to account and are able 

to constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and processes 

undertaken by the local authority whilst continuing to adhere to other aspects of this 

Code of Conduct. 

 

 

6. Use of position  
 

As a Member: 

 

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the 

advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

 

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 

opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 

will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to 

further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

 

 

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities 
 

As a Member: 

 

7.1 I do not misuse local authority resources. 

 

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising 

their use by others: 

a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and 

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 

unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to 

facilitate, or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of 

the local authority or of the office to which I have been elected 

or appointed. 

 

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 

in carrying out your duties as a Member. 

 

Examples include: 

• office support 

• stationery 

Commented [HM1]: The word “authority” was missing 
in the previous version.  This was a typo. 

Page 17



• equipment such as phones, and computers 

• transport 

• access and use of local authority buildings and rooms. 

 

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a Member more effectively 

and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in 

accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local 

authority’s own policies regarding their use. 

 

 

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct  
 

As a Member: 

 

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority. 

 

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or 

determination. 

 

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to 

be involved with the administration of any investigation or 

proceedings. 

 

8.4 I comply with any sanction imposed on me following a finding that I 

have breached the Code of Conduct. 

 

It is extremely important for you as a Member to demonstrate high standards, for you 

to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the 

local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about 

the local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

Protecting your reputation and the reputation of the local authority 
 

9. Interests 
 

As a Member: 

 

9.1 I register and disclose my interests. 

 

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 

maintain a register of interests of Members of the local authority. 

 

You need to register your interests so that the public, local authority employees and 

fellow Members know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. 

Page 18



The register is a public document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue 

arises. The register also protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and 

a willingness to be held accountable. You are personally responsible for deciding 

whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for 

you to know early on if others think that a potential conflict might arise. It is also 

important that the public know about any interest that might have to be disclosed by 

you or other Members when making or taking part in decisions, so that decision 

making is seen by the public as open and honest. This helps to ensure that public 

confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 

 

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as 

set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

 

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. 

If in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

 

 

10. Pre-Determination or Bias 
 

As a Member I: 

 

10.1 Never place myself under any financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations who might seek to influence me in the 

performance of my official duties. 

 

10.2 Consider all matters with an open mind and make decisions based 

upon weighing the best evidence before me, fairly and on merit. 

 

Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue 

which does not impact on your personal and/or professional life, you should not be 

prohibited from participating in a decision in your role as Member.  However, you 

must ensure that your integrity is no compromised. 

 

You may be pre-disposed to a number of outcomes to a decision, based upon your, 

philosophy, beliefs or political allegiance (including any application of a Group whip), 

but this must not predetermine your actions or the outcome of a decision you are to 

make. You must always remain open to the potential for further evidence or 

argument to alter any previously expressed or held viewpoint at the time of making 

your decision. For this reason, particularly in relation to contractual matters or those 

affecting individuals’ civil rights, it is often best to be cautious about how or if your 

views are expressed before coming to make a decision.  

  

Page 19



 

11. Gifts and hospitality  

 

As a Member: 

 

11.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated 

value, which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain 

or a reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show 

favour from persons seeking to acquire, develop or do 

business with the local authority or from persons who may 

apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other 

significant advantage. 

 
11.2 I register with the Monitoring Officer any gift or 

hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50 within 

28 days of its receipt. 

 
11.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant 

gift or hospitality that I have been offered but have 
refused to accept. 

 

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 

exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 

reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a Member. The 

presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, 

there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 

which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, 

you do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as 

a Member, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important 

to note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated 

with your duties as a Member. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer 

for guidance. 

  

Page 20



Appendices 

 

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life 

 

The principles are: 

 

Selflessness 

 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

 

Integrity 

 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 

people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 

They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 

benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve 

any interests and relationships. 

 

Objectivity 

 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 

using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 

Accountability 

 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 

and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 

Openness 

 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 

manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 

and lawful reasons for so doing. 

 

Honesty 

 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

 

Leadership 

 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to 

challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

 

  

Page 21



Annex B Registering interests 

 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office 

you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 

categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 

described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 

2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall 

within the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests). 

 

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 

you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 

below. 

 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 

husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

 

“Standard Dispensation” means a dispensation that has been granted by the 

Authority relieving the member or co-opted member from the restrictions or 

obligations under this Code as detailed in Table 3 below. 

 

 

 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 

28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a 

registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

Member, or a person connected with the Member, being subject to violence 

or intimidation. 

 

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 

with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 

Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

 

Disclosure and Non-participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose 

the interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and 

must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation 

or a Standard Dispensation applies. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not 

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. 

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to 

participate and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 

interest. 

 

Page 22



5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be 

considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise 

of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 

interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart 

from arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests and Non-Registerable 

Interests (Personal and Prejudicial Interests) 

 

Personal Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects: 

a. your own financial interest or well being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative, close 

associate; or 

c. a financial interest or wellbeing of a body included in those you 

need to disclose under Other Registrable Interests as set out in 

Table 2 

 

 you must disclose the interest.  In order to determine whether you 

can remain in the meeting after disclosing the interest the following 

test should be applied. 

 

Prejudicial Interests 

7. In the following instances, you must disclose the interest and you may 

speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 

speak at the meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion 

or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have 

been granted a dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 

interest. 

 

a. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of 

your Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2). 

 

b. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your 

financial interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a 

relative or close associate.  

c. Where a matter affects your the financial interest or well-being: 

1. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of 

the majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the 

Commented [HM2]: This wording was missing in the 
previous draft 

Commented [HM3]: The wording has been widened so 
that it includes all of the interests listed in this paragraph 

Page 23



decision and; 

2. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would 

believe that it would affect your view of the wider public interest 

 

8. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and 

you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you 

must make sure that any written statement of that decision records the 

existence and nature of your interest. 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

 

9.   You also have a prejudicial interest in any business before an overview 

and scrutiny committee of your authority (or of a sub-committee of such a 

committee) where: 

 

(a)  that business relates to a decision made (whether implemented or 

not) or action taken by your authority’s Cabinet, board or another of 

your authority’s committees, sub-committees, joint committees or 

joint subcommittees; and   

 

(b)  at the time the decision was made or action was taken, you were a 

member of the Cabinet, board, committee, sub-committee, joint 

committee or joint sub-committee mentioned in sub-paragraph (a) 

and you were present when that decision was made or action was 

taken.  

 

10. Paragraph 9 does not prevent you attending and participating in a meeting 

if you are required to attend a meeting of an overview or scrutiny 

committee, by such committee exercising its statutory powers. 

 

Page 24



Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set 

out in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012. 

 
Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any 
other financial benefit (other than 
from the local authority) made to the 
Member during the previous 12-
month period for expenses incurred 
by him/her in carrying out his/her 
duties as a Member, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or 
financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade 
Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
Member or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
Member is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or a body that such person 
has a beneficial interest in the securities 
of*) and the council 
— 
(a) under which goods or services are 
to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which 
is within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, 
servitude, interest or right in or over 
land which does not give the Member 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the Member is living 
as if they were spouses/ civil partners 
(alone or jointly with another) a right to 
occupy or to receive income. 

Commented [HM4]: The wording “Any unpaid 
directorship” has been removed. 
 
It was a Committee on Standards in Public Life 
recommendation but not been legislated for so shouldn’t 
be in the ‘criminal’ chart.  
 
It has been added as a new Other Registerable Interest 
instead to (a) in Table 2 below. 

Page 25

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of the council 
for a month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s 
knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the council; and 

(b) the tenant is a body that the 
Member, or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
Member is living as if they were 
spouses/ civil partners is a partner of or 
a director* of or has a beneficial 
interest in the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* 
of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s 
knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the 
council; and 
(b) either— 
(i) ) the total nominal value of 
the securities* exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that 
body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of 
more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in 
which the Member, or his/ her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
Member is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 
 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of 

an industrial and provident society. 

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, 

bonds, units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the 

Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 

description, other than money deposited with a building society. 

 

  

Page 26



Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 
 

 

 

 

 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates 
to or is likely to affect: 

 
a) any unpaid directorships 

 
a)b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of 

general control or management and to which you are nominated or 
appointed by your authority 

 
b)c) any body 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature 
(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) 
 

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management 

Commented [HM5]: Changes have been made to this 
table to reflect guidance issued in relation to Other 
Registerable Interests 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.45 cm,  No bullets or

numbering

Formatted: Indent: Left:  2.72 cm

Page 27



Table 3: Standard Dispensations 

 

 

1. You will not be regarded as having a prejudicial interest in any business of 
your authority in respect of any Other Registerable Interest: 

 
(a) where that business relates to: 

 
(i) another local authority of which you are also a member; 
 
(ii) another public authority or body exercising functions of a public 

nature in which you hold a position of general control or 
management; 

 
(iii) a body to which you have been elected, appointed or nominated 

by your authority, but only in the circumstance where the sole 
purpose of participating is to make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence relating to the business at the request 
of the [elected mayor, cabinet, cabinet member or] Committee 
meeting 

 
(iv) your role as a school governor, unless it relates particularly to the 

school of which you are a governor; or 
 
(v) your role as a member of a National Health Service board or 

governing body; 
 

(b) except that no dispensation described in sub-paragraph (a) above will 
apply where the business to be transacted at the meeting is the 
determination of any regulatory approval, consent, licence, permission 
or registration (for example, determination of an application for 
planning permission or consent or licence under the Licensing Act 
2003). 

 
2. You will not be regarded as having a prejudicial interest in any business 

where that business relates to:  
 

(a) the housing functions of your authority where you hold a tenancy or 
lease with your authority, provided that you do not have arrears of rent 
with your authority of more than two months, and provided that those 
functions do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; 

 
(b) the functions of your authority in respect of school meals, transport and 

travelling expenses, where you are a guardian, parent, grandparent or 
have parental responsibility (as defined in section 3 of the Children Act 
1989) of a child in full time education, unless it relates particularly to 
the school which that child attends;; 

 
(d) the functions of your authority in respect of an allowance or payment 

made under sections 22(5), 24(4) and 173 to 176 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, an allowance or pension under section 18 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 or an allowance or payment 
under section 100 of the Local Government Act 2000; 

 
(e) any ceremonial honour given to one or more Members; or 
 

Page 28



 

 

 
(c) the functions of your authority in respect of statutory sick pay under 

Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, 
where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of such pay 
from your authority; 

 
(d) the functions of your authority in respect of an allowance or payment 

made under sections 22(5), 24(4) and 173 to 176 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, an allowance or pension under section 18 of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 or an allowance or 
payment under section 100 of the Local Government Act 2000; 

 
(e) any ceremonial honour given to one or more Members; or 
 
(f) the setting of the authority’s council tax requirement, council tax, levy 

or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (except 
that this dispensation does not apply if you are two months or more in 
arrears with their Council Tax you must declare this to the meeting and 
must not vote on budget recommendations, as to do otherwise can be 
a criminal offence). 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 1/60

[]

Home [/] >  Publications [/publications]

This guidance, together with the guidance
prepared for councillors to help them understand
and follow the revised Local Government
Association (LGA) Model Councillor Code of
Conduct (2020), has been prepared in response to
requests received by the LGA as part of our
consultation in 2020 on the LGA Model Councillor
Code of Conduct. It is designed to assist
monitoring officers, and anyone nominated by a
monitoring officer to carry out investigations on
their behalf and to assist councillors in
understanding the process. Local authorities may
have different practices and arrangements in
place. However, the principles of fairness,
proportionality, transparency and impartiality will
still apply.

21 Sep 2021

Guidance on Member Model Code
of Conduct Complaints Handling

1. Introduction

It is vital that the public has confidence in the high standards of local government, and
that there is transparency about the conduct of councillors and the mechanisms for
dealing with alleged breaches of the Codes of Conduct. Equally, it is vital that
councillors themselves have confidence in these mechanisms, and that investigations
into such complaints abide by the principles of natural justice.

Page 31

https://www.local.gov.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications


05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 2/60

Any reference in this guidance to ‘you’ is a reference to a monitoring officer, a deputy
monitoring officer, or any person nominated by them to carry out their functions.
Furthermore, any reference to the ‘subject member’ is a reference to the councillor
who is the subject of the allegation and references to an Independent Person means
an Independent Person appointed under s. 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011.

Under the Model Code of Conduct, councillors are required to cooperate with any
Code of Conduct investigation and respect the impartiality of officers. This is in
recognition of the key role monitoring officers have in ensuring what might be
contentious and difficult issues are handled fairly. This guidance is to support them in
carrying out their duties.

The system of regulation of standards of councillor conduct in England is governed by
the Localism Act 2011. Local authorities must have a Code of Conduct for councillors,
which must be consistent with the “Seven Principles of Public Life”, selflessness,
honesty, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness and leadership.

Under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011, local authorities (other than parish and
town councils) must have in place ‘arrangements’ under which allegations that an
elected or co-opted councillor of the authority or of a town or parish council within the
principal authority’s area has failed to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct can
be considered and decisions made on such allegations. It is for the principal authority
to decide the details of those arrangements, but they must appoint at least one
Independent Person whose views are to be taken into account before making a
decision on a complaint that they have decided to investigate.

This guidance is for guidance purposes only and where it differs from the authority’s
own arrangements under the Localism Act then the authority’s arrangements should
be followed.

s28      (6) A relevant authority other than a parish council must have in place—

(a) arrangements under which allegations can be investigated, and

(b) arrangements under which decisions on allegations can be made.

(7) Arrangements put in place under subsection (6)(b) by a relevant authority must
include provision for the appointment by the authority of at least one independent
person—

(a) whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the authority before it
makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to investigate, and

Page 32



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 3/60

(b) whose views may be sought—

(i) by the authority in relation to an allegation in circumstances not within paragraph
(a),

(ii) by a member, or co-opted member, of the authority if that    person’s behaviour is
the subject of an allegation, and

(iii) by a member, or co-opted member, of a parish council if that person’s behaviour is
the subject of an allegation and the authority is the parish council’s principal authority.

The case of R (Harvey) v Ledbury Town Council 2018 (R Taylor v Honiton TC) made
clear that allegations of a failure to follow an authority’s Code of Conduct can only be
considered in accordance with the principal authority’s standards arrangements.
Though the conduct complained of may give rise to a staff grievance, for example, the
subject member cannot receive a sanction outside of the standards arrangements.

Background

More than 100,000 people give their time as councillors. The majority do so with the
very best motives, and they conduct themselves in a way that is beyond reproach.
However, public perception tends to focus on a minority who in some way abuse their
positions or behave badly. Even where behaviour does falls short most issues are
resolved easily through a simple apology or through swift action from an officer, a
political group or meeting chair. Reference to the Code of Conduct and a formal
complaint are very much the last resort where issues remain unresolved.

Anyone who considers that a councillor may have breached the Code of Conduct may
make a complaint to that councillor’s local authority, usually via the principal
authority’s monitoring officer. Each complaint must be assessed to see if it falls within
the authority’s legal jurisdiction, for example whether the subject member was acting
as a councillor or representative of the authority at the time. A decision must then be
made on whether or not some action should be taken, either as an investigation or
some other form of action.

When a matter is referred for investigation or other action, it does not mean that a
decision has been made about the validity of the allegation. It simply means that the
authority believes the alleged conduct, if proven, may amount to a failure to comply
with the Code of Conduct and that some action should be taken in response to the
complaint.

Page 33



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 4/60

The process for dealing with Code of Conduct complaints must be fair and be seen to
be fair.

2. Initial assessment of complaints

Responsibilities

The law does not specify how complaints are to be handled. However, in most
authorities, initial assessment of complaints that a councillor may have breached the
Code of Conduct is usually carried out by the authority’s monitoring officer. In other
authorities all complaints go to an assessment committee of councillors for
consideration. This is a matter for local choice, but the authority should be satisfied
that whatever assessment arrangements it adopts, the assessment can be carried out
fairly, objectively and without undue delay.

Even where the matter is normally delegated to the monitoring officer, they may
reserve the right to refer the matter to a committee of councillors, for example where
the monitoring officer has a conflict of interest or the matter is particularly high-profile.

Whichever approach (or any other) is taken, it is important to have published criteria
against which complaints can be assessed to aid transparency and consistency (see
below).

Independent Persons (IPs) are people who are neither councillors nor officers of the
authority but are appointed under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 to work with the
authority to support them with Code of Conduct complaints and standards issues.
Under the Localism Act their views must be sought and taken into account on any
matter under investigation, the subject member may seek their views at any stage and
the authority may also seek their views at any other stage of the process.

The Committee on Standards in Public Life has recommended that authorities should
also seek the views of the IP when initially assessing a case as a further way of
ensuring consistency and enhancing public confidence in the framework.

Pre-assessment

Publicising the complaints system

Page 34



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 5/60

Local authorities, including parish and town councils, should publish information on
their websites about the Code of Conduct, about what can and cannot be considered
as a complaint, how to complain (including a standard complaints form if appropriate)
and where Code of Conduct complaints should be sent to. They should also provide
clear details of the procedures they will follow in relation to any written allegation
received about a councillor.

Where a principal authority is responsible for handling complaints about its parish and
town councillors, it should also make this clear.

The submission of complaints and accessibility

Local authorities should consider that some complainants will not know where to
direct their complaint. Some complaints may also need to be considered through more
than one of an authority’s complaint processes.

Officers dealing with any incoming complaints to the authority will therefore need to be
alert to a complaint that a councillor may have breached the Code. If a written
complaint specifies or appears to specify that it is in relation to the Code, then it
should be passed to the relevant person for consideration.

Local authorities may produce a complaint form which sets out all the information they
expect to receive from a complainant. This can be helpful to both the authority and the
complainant. However, authorities cannot compel complainants to use a complaint
form.

If an authority does not have a complaint form, it should nevertheless give clear
guidelines as to the information that complainants need to provide.

The required information may include:

the complainant’s name, address and other contact details;
who the complainant is, for example, a member of the public, fellow councillor or
officer;
who the complaint is about and the authority or authorities that the councillor
belongs to;
details of the alleged misconduct including, where possible, dates, witness details
and other supporting information;
equality monitoring data if applicable, for example the nationality of the complainant.

Page 35



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 6/60

The authority should also make it clear that only in exceptional circumstances would a
complainant be granted confidentiality and that as a matter of fairness the
complainant’s identity would normally be disclosed to the subject member (see section
below on confidentiality).

A complaint may arise from an expression of dissatisfaction or concern, which come
about in a number of ways initially, including verbally. In such cases, the monitoring
officer should ask the complainant whether they want to formally put the matter in
writing. If the complainant does not, then the monitoring officer should consider the
options for informal resolution to satisfy the complainant. If it is a significant complaint,
which the complainant is unwilling to commit to writing (for example because they feel
they are being bullied), the monitoring officer may wish to reassure the complainant
about confidentiality and draft the complaint for agreement with the complainant.

Under the Localism Act, however, formal complaints must be submitted in writing. This
include electronic submissions, though the requirement for complaints to be submitted
in writing must be read in conjunction with the Equality Act 2010 and the duty to make
adjustments. For example, a complainant may have a disability that prevents them
from making their complaint in writing. In such cases, authorities may need to
transcribe a verbal complaint and then produce a written copy for approval by the
complainant or the complainant’s representative.

Authorities should also consider what support should be made available to
complainants.

Authorities should not normally allow anonymous complaints as that would be against
the principles of transparency and fairness and make matters much more difficult to
investigate. However, there may be exceptional compelling reasons why an
anonymous complaint could be accepted without detriment to the process and where
the allegation can be evidenced without reference to the complainant. For example, if
an anonymous complainant submitted a video showing the councillor acting
inappropriately or sent in documentation disclosing an undeclared directorship in a
matter relating to local authority business, it may be considered that the public interest
in investigating the allegation outweighed the issue of anonymity.

Please note that anonymity and confidentiality are different concepts. Anonymity
means the complainant is not known whereas confidentiality means that the
complainant is known to the authority but their identity has been withheld for a specific
reason.

Complaints which identify criminal conduct or a breach of other regulations by any
person may be referred to the police or any other relevant regulatory agency for
consideration, in accordance with any agreed protocol. In such cases the authority, inPage 36



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 7/60

agreement with the other body, should consider pausing the assessment of the
complaint pending action by the other body.

Acknowledging receipt of a complaint

When a complaint is received by the local authority the relevant officer should
acknowledge its receipt and set out the process to be taken to assess the complaint
with an agreed timescale.

The authority may also notify the subject member that a complaint has been received
and invite their comments on it within an agreed timescale. In deciding whether or not
to notify the subject member they would need to weigh up different factors. For
example, would telling the subject member risk that the complainant may be
intimidated or evidence destroyed, or if the complaint seems to fall outside of the
jurisdiction of the Code is there any need to hear from the councillor? However, the
presumption would normally be to invite the subject member to comment as this can
help the authority to decide whether a matter can be dealt with informally without the
need for a formal investigation, for example.

If the authority does tell the subject member about the complaint, the relevant officer
will need to be satisfied that they have the legal power to disclose the information they
choose to reveal. Additionally, the impact of the Data Protection Act 2018 and UK
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) should be considered to ensure that any
personal data is processed fairly and lawfully at every stage of the process.
Reasonable expectations of privacy need to be balanced against the public interest.

Pre-assessment enquiries and reports

When the authority notifies the subject member that a complaint has been made
about them, and seeks any relevant comments, the subject member should be given
a short timeframe in which to submit their comments such as 10 working days from
the date of the notification. In parish cases the principal authority may also notify the
clerk and may ask for relevant factual information which would help in the assessment
of the complaint.

In notifying the subject member it should be made clear that no judgment one way or
the other has been made about whether the allegation is in fact true.

The authority may contact complainants for clarification of their complaint if they are
unable to understand the document submitted.Page 37



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 8/60

The authority may also carry out preliminary enquiries, for example whether the
member was in fact present at the meeting to which the complaint relates. However,
such enquiries should be limited to readily-available public records so as not to extend
to a more formal investigation.

In authorities where the assessment is carried out by a committee rather than an
officer, they may decide that they want the monitoring officer, or other officer, to
prepare a short summary of a complaint for the committee to consider. This could, for
example, set out the following details:

Whether the complaint is within jurisdiction;
The paragraphs of the Code of Conduct the complaint might relate to, or the
paragraphs the complainant has identified;
A summary of key aspects of the complaint if it is lengthy or complex;
Any further information that the officer has obtained to assist the committee with its
decision, for example initial comments from the subject member, minutes of
meetings or a copy of a councillor’s entry in the register of interests. However, it
should be noted that these pre-assessment enquiries should not be carried out in
such a way as to amount to an investigation. For example, they should not extend
to interviewing potential witnesses, the complainant, or the subject member
(although they may have been asked for initial comments) as that would be a matter
for any formal investigation should the case proceed;
The views of the Independent Person.

Assessment

Initial tests
The assessment of a complaint would normally be a two-step process, described by
the Committee on Standards in Public Life as the ‘can/should’ stages – the first stage
being ‘can we deal with this complaint?’ and the second being ‘should we deal with
this complaint?’.

The first step would be a jurisdictional test and would assess whether the complaint is:

against one or more named councillors of the authority or of a parish or town
council the authority is responsible for;
the named councillor was in office at the time of the alleged conduct;
the complaint relates to matters where the councillor was acting as a councillor or
representative of the authority and it is not a private matter;
the complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code under which the councillor
was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct.Page 38



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 9/60

If the complaint fails one or more of these tests it cannot be investigated as a breach
of the Code, and the complainant must be informed that no further action will be taken
in respect of the complaint. If there is any doubt, however, the allegation should
proceed to the second stage. For example, if it is unclear whether the councillor was
acting ‘in capacity’ or not then the second stage of assessment criteria should be
used.

Where a matter is being referred to a committee of councillors for assessment, we
would expect the monitoring officer only to pass cases which have met the
jurisdictional threshold.

Second-stage criteria

Once these jurisdictional tests have been met the authority should have further criteria
against which it assesses complaints and decides what action, if any, to take. These
criteria should reflect local circumstances and priorities and be simple, clear and
open. They should ensure fairness for both the complainant and the subject member.

Assessing all complaints by established criteria will also protect the authority from
accusations of bias. Assessment criteria can be reviewed and amended as necessary,
but this should not be done during consideration of a matter.

In drawing up assessment criteria, authorities should bear in mind the importance of
ensuring that complainants are confident that complaints about councillor conduct are
taken seriously and dealt with appropriately. They should also consider that deciding
to investigate a complaint or to take other action will cost both public money and the
officers’ and councillors’ time. This is an important consideration where the matter is
relatively minor.

The following non-exclusive factors may help an authority to develop local criteria:

1. Does the complaint contain sufficient evidence to demonstrate a potential breach
of the Code?
2. Are there alternative, more appropriate, remedies that should be explored first?
3. Where the complaint is by one councillor against another, a greater allowance for
robust political debate (but not personal abuse) may be given, bearing in mind the
right to freedom of expression;
4. Is the complaint in the view of the authority malicious, politically motivated, or ‘tit
for tat’
5. Whether an investigation would not be in the public interest or the matter, even if
proven, would not be serious enough to warrant any sanction (see guidance onPage 39



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 10/60

hearings);
6. Whether a substantially similar complaint has previously been considered and no
new material evidence has been submitted within the current administration;
7. Whether a substantially similar complaint has been submitted and accepted;
8. Does the complaint relate to conduct in the distant past? This would include
consideration or any reason why there had been a delay in making the complaint;
9. Was the behaviour that is the subject of the complaint already dealt with? For
example, through an apology at the relevant meeting;
10. Does the complaint actually relate to dissatisfaction with a local authority
decision rather than the specific conduct of an individual? And
11. Is it about someone who is no longer a councillor or who is seriously ill?

Some of these criteria are inevitably subjective. For example, who decides if a
complaint is trivial? The complainant may feel they have a genuine grievance even if
to a third party it seems relatively minor.

Equally even if a complaint seems to be ‘politically motivated’ it may nevertheless be
highlighting a potentially significant breach of the Code which could not be ignored.

Such criteria can therefore only ever be indicative, and authorities always need to take
into account the public interest in taking further action on a complaint. Assessment
criteria should be adopted which take this into account so that authorities can be seen
to be treating all complaints in a fair and balanced way.

In assessing any case, an authority may want to consider the following questions in
the context of local knowledge and experience:

Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the authority that the
complaint should be referred for investigation or other action?

If the answer is no, it should be made clear to the complainant that there is insufficient
evidence to make a decision so unless, or until, further information is received, the
authority will take no further action on the complaint. When doing so, the complainant
should be given a clear timeline to submit any further evidence or otherwise the file
will be closed.

Is the complaint about someone who is no longer a councillor?
The councillor may have been a councillor at the time of the alleged misconduct but
may have since ceased to be a councillor. The authority will need to consider whether
it still has jurisdiction. If so, then the authority may not want to take any further action
unless they believe the matter is so serious, and the councillor may return to the

Page 40



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 11/60

authority that it would still be in the public interest to pursue the matter. If they do
pursue the matter the range of potential sanctions is inevitably more limited and may
extend only to publication of the report and a formal censure.

If the councillor is still a member of another principal authority, the authority may wish
to refer the complaint to that authority if it would also fall within their code of conduct.

If a councillor is still a member of a town or parish council within the principal
authority’s area, then the principal authority can still deal with the matter if it relates to
matters at the town or parish council.

Is the complaint about something that happened so long ago that there would
be little benefit in taking action now?
Where a matter happened some time ago then the authority may decide that any
further action would be unwarranted. For example, an investigation may be difficult as
people’s recollections may have faded. The authority may therefore wish to set a time
limit for receiving complaints of say six months under normal circumstances. However,
it should also be borne in mind that there may be a good reason why a complaint is
‘late’ – for example, victims of bullying or harassment may have needed time and
courage before coming forward or been made aware of other incidents which has
prompted them to make a complaint about things in the past.

Does the complaint appear to be trivial, malicious, politically motivated or tit-
for-tat?
Where a complaint is rejected on these grounds the authority should be very clear
about the reasons why and discourage politically motivated or tit-for-tat complaints in
particular. It will, however, need to satisfy itself that, regardless of any alleged motive
of the complainant, the complaint itself is not sufficiently serious to warrant any further
action regardless of the motive. A complaint may appear on the face of it to be
politically motivated, for example, because of the timing of its submission, but if it
raises sufficiently serious matters it would nevertheless need to be considered fully.

The assessment criteria that the authority adopts should be made publicly available
on its website.

Decision

Initial assessment decisions

Page 41



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 12/60

Where the decision has been delegated to an officer, the authority should aim to
complete their initial assessment of an allegation within 15 working days of receiving a
complaint. Where they have asked the subject member for comment, they should
allow them up to 10 working days to comment and then make the assessment
normally within five working days of any comments being received.

Where the subject member has not commented, and the ten working days has
elapsed (and they have not provided a reasonable excuse for the delay) the
assessment should nevertheless be made within five working days after that.

Where an Independent Person is invited to give their views prior to assessment these
should be done at least a day before the final deadline. Where the Independent
Person meets in person with the officer to discuss the case, they should nevertheless
record their views in writing for the record after the meeting.

Where the assessment is sent to a committee, the committee should be set up along
similar timescales. Any inordinate delay in assessing cases can have a damaging
effect on trust in the system and is unfair for both the complainant and subject
member.

The authority may reach one of the three following decisions on an allegation:

no further action should be taken on the allegation;
the matter should be dealt with through a process of informal resolution in the first
instance (see section on informal resolution) or;
the matter should be referred for a formal investigation (see section on
investigations).

Decision to take no action

The authority may decide that no further action is required in respect of a complaint
based on its agreed criteria.

Where the authority reaches this decision it should be clear that, where an allegation
may have disclosed a potential breach of the Code it has nevertheless made no
finding of fact as it does not believe it is in the public interest to pursue the matter any
further, Where it has been concluded that no potential breach of the Code of Conduct
is disclosed by the complaint (for example because it is outside of jurisdiction), no
further formal action can be taken by the authority in respect of it.

There should be no right of appeal against a decision not to take any further action if
the system is to be efficient and proportionate.Page 42



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 13/60

Where the decision was taken by an officer, the monitoring officer may wish to report
to the relevant committee periodically on cases in which there has been no further
action taken. These cases should be reported confidentially with the aim of giving the
committee a picture of issues within the authority and enabling it to assure itself that
decisions made have been broadly reasonable in the whole. They are not there to re-
open issues.

Referral for informal resolution

When the authority decides that they should seek to resolve the matter informally in
the first instance they should refer to the separate guidance on informal resolution.

Referral for investigation

When the authority decides a matter should be referred for investigation it should refer
to the separate guidance on investigations.

Notification of assessment decisions

If the authority decides to take no action over a complaint, then as soon as possible
after making the decision they should notify the complainant and subject member of
the decision and set out clearly the reasons for that decision, including the views of
the independent person.

If the authority decides that the complaint should be referred for formal investigation or
informal resolution, they should notify the complainant and subject member, stating
what the allegation was and what further action is being taken.

In such cases the authority will need to decide whether or not to give the subject
member a copy of the full complaint and whether the complainant, where they had
been granted confidentiality, should remain confidential for the time being. In doing so
they would need to decide whether doing so would be against the public interest or
would prejudice any future investigation. This could happen where it is considered
likely that the subject member may intimidate the complainant, or any witnesses
involved. It could also happen where early disclosure of the complaint may lead to
evidence being compromised or destroyed. If only one part of a complaint has been
referred for action or the complaint is against more than one councillor then the
authority may wish only to disclose the relevant parts of the complaint. Any decision to
withhold information should be kept under review as circumstances change.Page 43



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 14/60

If the subject member is a parish or town councillor and the authority has decided to
take some action with regard to the complaint, their parish or town council should also
be notified via the clerk. In doing so the authority will need to consider whether any of
the information is confidential.

A decision notice should be issued within one working day of the decision being
made.

Independent Person

If the views of the Independent Person were sought, this should be made clear in the
decision letter and state whether the Independent Person agreed with the decision or
not. Where the Independent Person did not agree with the decision, the notification
should explain how the authority took account of those views in reaching a different
decision – for example in concluding that the matter was not in fact within the scope of
the Code but was a private matter.

Other issues to consider

Assessments Committee

Where a committee is convened to assess an allegation, it is an ordinary committee of
the authority if it is making the decision. This means it must reflect political
proportionality unless that has been waived and it is subject to the notice and publicity
requirements under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

However, while there should be a presumption that a hearing following an
investigation would normally be held in public (see guidance on hearings) there will be
a strong presumption towards an assessment being treated as exempt information.
The meeting may have to consider unfounded and potentially damaging complaints
about councillors, which it would not be appropriate to make public because of the risk
of unfounded reputational damage or the potential risk of prejudicing any future
investigation.

Nevertheless, as for any meeting dealing with exempt or confidential information a
summary of the outcome would need to be published setting out the main points
considered such as:

the conclusions on the complaint; Page 44



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 15/60

the reasons for the conclusion.

Assessments delegated to officers

Where an assessment decision has been delegated to an officer there is no legislative
requirement for a decision notice to be published. Nevertheless, the authority should
consider whether an assessment notice should be published in the public interest or
not in the same way as they would if it were a committee decision.

What if the subject member is member of more than one authority?

There may be times when the same complaint is made against a member of more
than one authority. For example, an allegation may allege that a councillor has failed
to register an interest at both district and county level.

In such a case the two authorities should have an agreement about who would carry
out the initial assessment (if necessary, under an agreed delegation) and any
subsequent action. This avoids the risk of two different actions or conclusions being
reached.

The matter would not arise where the councillor was on a town or parish council and
also on the ‘principal’ district, unitary or metropolitan council as the principal authority
is responsible for handling both complaints. It could however arise if the parish or
town councillor were also on the county council in a two-tier area.

3. Informal resolution

When dealing with allegations, an authority can decide that some form of action other
than investigation or ‘informal resolution’ is needed at a local level. The authority may
also decide that informal resolution may be more appropriate than referring a matter
to a hearing following completion of an investigation. Where the authority has
delegated such a decision to the monitoring officer, we would expect the monitoring
officer to seek the views of an Independent Person before taking such a course of
action. Where the delegation is held by a committee, we would expect the committee
to consult its monitoring officer and an Independent Person before reaching that
decision. You may also consider seeking an informal resolution part way through an
investigation rather than completing an investigation if it becomes clear the matter
could be resolved amicably. Where informal resolution relates to a formal investigation
you must seek the views of an Independent Person before halting or pausing the
formal investigation. Page 45



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 16/60

Why seek an informal resolution?

An informal resolution is a more proportionate way of dealing with relatively minor
allegations, one-off incidents or underlying disagreements between individuals. It
should be borne in mind however that dealing with a matter by alternative resolution at
the initial assessment stage is making no finding of fact as there has been no formal
investigation, so you would need to balance the interest in resolving a matter quickly
and satisfactorily against the interest in the complainant having their complaint upheld
or the member’s desire to clear their name.

Matters which you might consider appropriate for informal resolution may include:

the same particular breach of the Code by many members, indicating poor
understanding of the Code and the authority’s procedures;
a general breakdown of relationships, including those between members and
officers, as evidenced by a pattern of allegations of minor disrespect, harassment or
bullying to such an extent that it becomes difficult to conduct the business of the
authority;
misunderstanding of procedures or protocols;
misleading, unclear or misunderstood advice from officers;
lack of experience or training;
interpersonal conflict;
allegations and retaliatory allegations from the same members;
allegations about how formal meetings are conducted;
allegations that may be symptomatic of governance problems within the authority,
which are more significant than the allegations in themselves.

When would informal resolution not be appropriate?

Complaints should not be referred for informal resolution when you believe an
investigation is in the public interest, for example because of the seriousness of the
allegations or because it demonstrates a pattern of behaviour. In addition, an
allegation which challenges the councillor’s honesty or integrity may be better dealt
with as a formal investigation because of the potential reputational issues.

Similarly, an informal resolution is not intended to be a quick and easy means of
dealing with matters which you consider to be too trivial or time-consuming to
investigate. Genuinely trivial cases are better dealt with by a decision to take no action
(see guidance on initial assessments). While an alternative resolution can be a cost-
effective way of getting a matter resolved for individual cases, it is not a quick fixPage 46



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 17/60

particularly where there are more systemic issues. It should not be seen as a routine
or cheap way of disposing of an allegation, as it can sometimes be a drawn out, costly
and time- consuming process.

You should also take care to avoid it appearing to the complainant that deciding to
seek an alternative resolution is sweeping matters under the carpet. The decision
should demonstrate to the complainant that their complaint is being addressed and
being taken seriously, although perhaps as part of a wider issue.

Importantly, if a complaint merits being investigated, then it should be referred for
investigation.

Who can be the subject of informal resolution?

Informal resolution could either be directed at the councillor who is the subject of the
complaint, both the subject member and the complainant, or at the authority more
generally.

For example, it may be a request that a councillor apologise for remarks made in the
heat of the moment. Or you may decide that the authority’s resources are better used
trying to ensure that the subject member and complainant attempt some form of
mediation or reconciliation, or it may be about wider issues for your authority that are
raised by the case. For example, a relatively minor alleged infringement of the Code,
by a councillor who is accused of misusing their authority’s IT equipment, might
identify shortcomings in the authority’s policy about councillors using that equipment.
In such a case you might decide that the best way to deal with the allegation is to ask
the authority to review the policy and make recommendations for improvement.

If you decide to seek an informal resolution when assessing a complaint, you should
be clear that an investigation into that complaint will not take place provided you are
satisfied that the party at whom the resolution is directed has acted in good faith in
seeking to comply with it.

Who should you inform if seeking informal resolution?

If you believe a complaint can be dealt with through informal resolution you should
consult with the Independent Person and you should inform the subject member and
the complainant of your intention and give them the opportunity to comment before
you make your final decision. However, you should simply be trying to assess how
successful the resolution might be rather than giving them a veto. For example, aPage 47



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 18/60

complainant may not be happy at receiving an apology as they may expect the matter
to be fully investigated but you may nevertheless decide that an apology is reasonable
and best use of resources in the circumstances.

When informal resolution has been completed you should notify:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person;  
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish
councillor.

In addition, you should report back to the standards committee or similar where you
have one at the next available opportunity on the outcome of your actions. This would
allow the committee to take a holistic view of whether informal resolution is being used
appropriately and effectively in the round but should not be seen as an opportunity to
re-open the case.

What sort of actions might form an alternative resolution?

Alternative resolution can take a wide range of forms. When considering an alternative
resolution, you need to think if the complaint highlights specific issues. For example, if
it is against a relatively new councillor, a councillor who has taken on a new role or to
do with relatively new procedures is there an issue about lack of understanding or
training?

Training may be in anything you consider appropriate, such as:

the Code of Conduct
authority procedures and protocols
chairing skills
working with external bodies
wider governance issues
planning and licensing
working with officers
use of authority resources.

Where the issue is more of an inter-personal dispute it may simply be asking the
subject member to apologise or to withdraw a remark. You may need to be clear that
this does not necessarily mean that the councillor has been found to have breached
the Code of Conduct where there has been no formal investigation. It is therefore

Page 48



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 19/60

important where you decide on this course at initial assessment that the action
proposed does not imply this. You cannot require the subject member to apologise
although you may take that into consideration when thinking of the next steps. Of
course, in those cases where the councillor has admitted the breach and offered an
acceptable apology, you may decide that no further action is necessary.

Where the allegation highlights wider procedure or cultural issues within the authority,
you may wish to consider training for all councillors as a whole or mentoring of
particular councillors, or work as an authority on conflict resolution.

You may also decide that the allegation highlights authority procedural failings rather
than the specific fault of an individual so you may want to develop or review particular
authority protocols and procedures.

Where the allegation is one of a series which in your view highlight that relationships
within an authority as a whole have broken down to such an extent that it has become
very difficult to conduct the business of the authority then some wider form of
reconciliation may be needed rather than simply investigating a whole series of
complaints which may of themselves be relatively minor but highlight a pattern of
disruption or dysfunction. In such cases it may be helpful to engage an independent
mediator who is experienced in group community resolution. Mediation is a formal
professional process designed to reach agreed outcomes. Less formal mechanisms
may also be used to work with the authority to draw up an action plan to move matters
forward and again these are often best done by somebody independent.

In such cases it is particularly important that all parties should understand that a
decision to seek an informal resolution without investigating the individual complaints
means that no conclusion has been reached about what happened. Furthermore, no
decision has been made about whether the subject member(s) failed to comply with
the Code. Everyone involved should understand that the purpose of such action is not
to find out whether the councillor breached the Code of Conduct but rather to address
the underlying causes. This is regardless of how simple it may be to establish the
facts.

Where a committee is considering an alternative resolution, it should always consult
the monitoring officer. The monitoring officer may be able to advise the committee how
viable the proposed resolution is, by providing information on the resources available
to them. They may be able to tell the committee how much any proposed resolution
might cost and whether, for example, the authority has access to the facilities or
resources needed to accomplish it, such as qualified mediators.

Page 49



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 20/60

Where the matters involve the town or parish council the principal authority cannot
compel the town or parish council to meet the costs, but it may discuss with them the
implications that other town and parish councils have experienced when they have
failed to take action at an early stage. These have included officer and councillor
resignations, community disharmony, national level publicity and reputational damage,
staff grievances and settlement costs, excessive Freedom of Information Act (FoIA)
and Data Subject Access requests, additional external audit inspections and fees and
legal challenges and costs.

In considering such issues it is incumbent on the town or parish council to recognise
there will be a need to invest in resolutions to the issues and it may be that where they
are unwilling to seek to resolve the issues they face, the principal authority may take
that into account when assessing future complaints.

Role of the monitoring officer

Role of the monitoring officer

When a matter has been referred for alternative resolution, you should inform the
relevant parties (see above). You should take care over how the decision is conveyed.
It is important that the wording does not imply that the councillor is culpable where
there has been no formal investigation. It is also important that councillors do not feel
they have been found guilty without an investigation of the allegation. Above all avoid
the risk that both parties could end up potentially feeling dissatisfied.

You should set a time limit by which the action must be taken and make it clear what
will happen if it is not undertaken, or not undertaken to your satisfaction. If, within that
time limit, you are satisfied with the outcome you should notify the relevant parties.
The matter is then closed.

If you are not satisfied within the timescales, you must then notify the relevant parties
of whether the matter is nevertheless now closed or whether you intend to take further
action. In doing so you should consult with the relevant Independent Person.

You should report any outcomes to your standards committee.

What are the next steps if the informal resolution does not work?

Page 50



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 21/60

In certain cases, you may decide that no further action is required. For example, if the
subject member has made what you consider to be a reasonable apology or has
attended the training, then there is little merit in pursuing the issue even if the
complainant may remain dissatisfied. An investigation should not be viewed as
something that can take place after an alternative resolution has been attempted and
is simply not to the satisfaction of the complainant. There is a risk otherwise that
alternative resolution will not be taken seriously, and the complainant will not
cooperate if it is seen merely as a precursor to an investigation.

On the other hand, where a subject member has categorically refused to comply with
the proposed resolution, has failed to cooperate or has taken action you consider
inadequate then you should consider whether a formal investigation is needed, or
where the resolution has been proposed during or at the end of a formal investigation,
whether the matter should be referred for a hearing. Bear in mind that deliberate and
continued failure to cooperate with a monitoring officer who is trying to deal with a
standards issue may amount to a breach of the Model Code. In deciding on next
steps, you should always bear in mind the public interest and your agreed criteria for
considering whether a matter needs further investigation.

4. Investigations

Introduction and background

This guidance deals with good practice where it has been decided that an allegation
that the Code of Conduct may have been breached merits a formal investigation.

The Localism Act does not specify how an investigation should be carried out or by
whom but simply asks principal authorities to have arrangements in place to handle
allegations that the Code may have been broken. In practice we would expect
authorities to delegate the day-to-day handling of a formal investigation to their
monitoring officer. Monitoring officers are at the heart of the standards framework.
They promote, educate and support councillors in following the highest standards of
conduct and ensuring that those standards are fully owned locally.

Principles of investigation

Page 51



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 22/60

While an investigation under the Localism Act 2011 is not covered by the right to a fair
hearing under Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights as the outcome
of any hearing will not impact upon the rights of the councillor to carry on the role as a
councillor, any investigation must nevertheless abide by the principles of natural
justice (R (Greenslade) v Devon County Council 2019). That means that the
councillor must know what they are accused of and be given the opportunity to
comment on the allegations.

Any investigation should therefore bear in mind some key principles:

Proportionality. That is, the investigation should strive to be proportionate to the
seriousness or complexity of the matter under investigation. Where a matter is
straightforward or relatively simple, for example where the facts are not in dispute,
there may be no need for any formal investigation, but a report can simply be
written up (see attached table). Equally not all of the steps in this guidance need be
followed in every instance of a formal investigation – a judgment must be made in
each case based on its complexity and contentiousness.
Fairness. The investigation should make sure that the subject member knows what
they are accused of and has an opportunity to make comments on the investigation,
including on a draft report. Again, this may depend on the nature of the complaint –
for example, an alleged failure to declare an interest may be largely a factual matter
which needs little or no investigation rather than one that needs to involve evidence
from other parties. A councillor quickly admitting to an error may not need further
detail to be probed.
Transparency. As far as is practical and having regard to an individual’s right to
confidentiality, investigations should be carried out as transparently as possible – all
parties should be kept up to date with progress in the case.
Impartiality. An investigator should not approach an investigation with pre-conceived
ideas and should avoid being involved where they have a conflict of interest.

Managing conflicts of interest

A first consideration when deciding how an investigation is to be handled will be to
see whether any conflicts of interest arise for you. As monitoring officer, you may have
taken the decision that an allegation needs a formal investigation. It would not be a
conflict of interest if you yourself then undertook that investigation. You have simply
decided in the first instance that there is on the face of it a case to answer but have
made no judgment. An investigation is to then establish what exactly did happen and
if it does in fact amount to a breach of the code. So, there is no conflict in deciding
that a matter needs investigating and then carrying out that investigation yourself.

Page 52



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 23/60

However, there may be other areas where a potential conflict of interest could arise.
For example:

If you were asked to investigate an allegation against a councillor and you had
advised them on the same issue previously, regardless of whether or not they had
followed your advice;
If you have been involved in assisting the complainant in formulating their allegation
(Her Majesty's Advocate v Alexander Elliot Anderson Salmond)
If you were the complainant or a potential key witness to the incident. In such
situations, you should delegate the investigation to somebody else (see section on
delegation of investigations);
Where you have tried unsuccessfully to resolve a complaint informally, for example
where one of the parties has refused to cooperate or refused to accept an apology
(see guidance on informal resolution). In such a case there may be a perception
that you have already made some judgment in the matters at hand.
If you find that you have a direct or indirect interest in an investigation, for example
if a family member or friend is involved. Instead, you should notify the subject
member and the complainant so that the conflict is on the record, explaining that
you will not take any part in the investigation, the reason why and who will carry out
the investigation in your place.

Also bear in mind that if you do the investigation personally a conflict may arise later
in the process if the matter goes to a hearing, and you are asked to act as adviser to
the hearing. You may therefore wish to consider at the start of an investigation
whether you would want to ask someone else to carry out the investigation if you think
you would be better supporting any hearing panel (see guidance on holding a
hearing). We believe that you should not conduct an investigation and advise a
hearing about the same case. You therefore need to consider whether it is more
important to investigate the matter and delegate the role of advising a potential
hearing, or to delegate the investigative role.

Delegation of investigations

Monitoring officers can delegate investigations to their deputy or to any other named
individual. However, if they do, monitoring officers should maintain the function of
overseeing the investigation unless they are conflicted out – see section on conflicts
of interest – in which case they should make arrangements for another suitable
person to oversee the investigation.

Page 53



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 24/60

Under Section 5(1)(b) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, local
authorities must provide you with sufficient resources to perform your duties. In many
authorities, monitoring officers will be able to appoint another officer to carry out their
investigation. Smaller authorities may find it useful to make reciprocal arrangements
with neighbouring authorities where they do not already exist formally. This is to make
sure that an experienced officer is available to carry out an investigation or supervise
it, should the need arise.

Authorities may also decide to outsource the investigation to another organisation or
individual. This can be particularly helpful if it is a complex investigation which may
absorb an individual’s time or where it is politically high-profile or contentious or where
there are possible conflicts of interest and it is therefore helpful to have somebody
independent from the authority carrying out the investigation. You may wish to agree a
decision to outsource an investigation with an Independent Person.

Where you delegate the investigation, you should record the scope of the delegation
in writing and keep this on the investigation file. This is to ensure that there is no
confusion concerning the role and authority of the person delegated to conduct the
investigation. You should be particularly clear about who is responsible for writing the
draft and final reports. You should also have agreed timelines for delivery of the
report. Where it is likely that this initial timeline cannot be met, for example because of
unavailability of people for interviews or because further issues emerge, you should
have a mechanism to agree and record any extension and again you may wish to
consult with the Independent Person.

If you intend to advise a hearing panel should the matter go for a hearing, you should
avoid being involved in the preparation of the investigation report. However, you may
want to be able to reserve the right to decide when the report is of an acceptable
quality to be put to the hearing and, if the recommendation from the investigator is that
there is no breach of the Code you should be clear about who signs off that report and
decides on no further action. We recommend that the views of the Independent
Person are also sought where no further action is being taken.

You should inform the relevant parties when you delegate an investigation or make
sure that the investigator has done this, so that they know who is dealing with the
case and in case they need to provide the investigator with more information.

Disclosure of information

Page 54



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 25/60

You must treat any information you receive during the course of an investigation as
confidential to the investigative process until the investigation is completed unless
there is a statutory requirement to disclose it, for example when there are parallel
criminal investigations being undertaken. Similarly, all parties involved in the
conducting of the investigation should be advised of the confidential nature of the
proceedings.

Starting an investigation

When you decide to start a formal investigation or receive instructions to carry out an
investigation, be clear what it is you are investigating. If the initial complaint had made
several different allegations be clear whether you are investigating them all or only
part of the allegations. You should also be clear which parts of the Code you are
investigating against although you may decide to include other or different provisions
during the investigation as it develops.

Having established the scope of the investigation you should inform:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person and
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish
councillor.

We would suggest that the notice sent to the town or parish council is sent to the
parish clerk, unless sending it to the chair of the council is more appropriate because
of the parish clerk’s involvement in the complaint (or deputy chair if the chair is the
subject member). You may wish to set out what action you consider the town or parish
council should take (if any) with regards the complaint and requirements related to
confidentiality given that town or parish council standing orders may require the clerk
to report the complaint to the council.

You should explain to all parties what it is you are investigating and what will happen
next. You should also inform the subject member that they have the right to seek the
views of the Independent Person and be represented at any interviews with the
investigator.

Conducting the investigation

Page 55



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 26/60

You must always be aware of your obligations under the Data Protection Act 2018, UK
General Data Protection Regulations the Human Rights Act 1998 and other relevant
legislation, when carrying out an investigation.

When conducting an investigation, you should be able to make inquiries of any person
you think necessary. However, there is no obligation for them to respond. If you have
difficulties obtaining a response, or a person refuses to cooperate with the
investigation you should not let this delay the investigation but make sure that is clear
in any report you write.

By law, a monitoring officer can require their authority to provide them with any advice
or assistance they need to help them with their duties. However, you cannot require a
parish or town council to meet the costs of any investigation into a parish or town
councillor or any costs incurred by the parish or town council in providing advice and
assistance with the investigation.

Evidence of new breaches

During the course of an investigation, you may uncover evidence of conduct by
councillors that breaches the Code of Conduct but extends beyond the scope of the
investigation referred to you. Your powers as an investigator relate only to the
allegation that you have been given. While that means you may consider other parts
of the Code than those initially considered if they are relevant to the matter in hand,
you may also uncover evidence of a possible breach that does not directly relate to
the allegation you are investigating. If this happens, you should tell the person you
obtained the information from that you cannot investigate the possible breach as part
of your existing investigation. You should tell them that they may wish to make a
separate complaint to the authority and if the authority considers it needs further
action it could be subsequently added to your investigation or dealt with as a separate
matter.

Alternatively, if the matters are serious issues in your view, you may wish to refer the
matters to the authority yourself as a new complaint for them to make an initial
assessment on through their scheme of delegation. If you hold that delegation (for
example as monitoring officer) you may wish to ask someone else to take a view on
whether the investigation should be extended.

Referring cases back to the authority

Page 56



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 27/60

During the course of an investigation, it may be necessary to reappraise if an
investigation remains the right course of action, for example, if:

You believe that evidence is uncovered suggesting a case is less serious than may
have seemed apparent to the authority originally and that a different decision might
therefore have been made about whether to investigate it or not;
You conclude after examining the matter in detail that in fact the matters under
investigation were not done by the subject member in their role as a councillor or as
a representative of the authority but rather in a private capacity;
You have uncovered something which is potentially more serious and the authority
may want to consider referring it to the police, for example;
The subject member has died, is seriously ill or has resigned from the authority and
you are of the opinion that it is no longer appropriate to continue with the
investigation;
The subject member has indicated that they wish to make a formal apology which
you consider should draw a line under the matter.

In this context ‘seriously ill’ means that the councillor has a medical condition which
would prevent them from engaging with the process of an investigation or a hearing
for the foreseeable future. This might be a terminal illness or a degenerative condition.
You would be expected to establish this from a reliable independent and authoritative
source other than the subject member. This would include where a councillor claims
they are suffering from stress brought on by the investigation.

Ultimately it will be for the monitoring officer (or as otherwise defined in the authority’s
procedures for handling complaints) to conclude whether the investigation should
continue. In reaching that decision, the authority should consult with the Independent
Person before deciding to defer or end the investigation.

If the matter has been deferred or ended you should notify the subject member and
the complainant of the decision and provide timescales within which the matter will be
dealt with if it has been deferred. This would not always be appropriate, however,
particularly if the matter has been referred to the police.

Deferring an investigation

An investigation should be deferred when any of the following conditions are met:

There are ongoing criminal proceedings or a police investigation into the councillor’s
conduct;

Page 57



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 28/60

You cannot proceed with your investigation without investigating similar alleged
conduct or needing to come to conclusions of fact about events which are also the
subject of some other investigation or court proceeding;
Your investigation might prejudice another investigation or court proceeding.

An investigation may also need to be deferred:

when there is an ongoing investigation by another regulatory body;
because of the serious illness of a key party;
due to the genuine unavailability of a key party.

When it is clear that there is an ongoing police, or other investigation, or related court
proceedings, you should make enquiries about the nature of the police, or other
investigation, or the nature of any court proceedings. It may be helpful to have an
agreed Protocol with the local police about handling overlapping cases as the police
may want you to carry on your investigation in the first instance.

If at any time during the investigation you become aware of any circumstances that
might require the investigation to be deferred, you should normally notify the subject
member of this but again you would need to be careful where there are other
proceedings ongoing. If you are not the monitoring officer, you should notify the
monitoring officer and seek their consent to the deferral. You or the monitoring officer
may also wish to consult with the Independent Person.

The decision to defer an investigation should be taken by the monitoring officer. If you
have asked someone else to carry out the investigation, they will need to gather
sufficient information from the complainant, subject member, and from the police or
other organisation involved, to enable you, as the monitoring officer, to come to a
decision. You may wish to seek legal advice at this stage. The reason for the decision
to defer should be specifically set out in the investigation file with supporting
documentation attached.

In some cases, it will be possible to investigate some of the alleged conduct, where
there is no overlap with another investigation or court proceedings. The investigator
should highlight those areas where investigation may be possible in the investigation
plan.

In some cases, it will be possible to investigate the alleged conduct in parallel with
another investigation, for example where the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman is investigating an authority’s decisions and you are investigating the
conduct of an individual councillor involved in making the decision. You may need to
work closely with the other organisation and agree the steps that each party will take.

Page 58



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 29/60

You should ask the police, other relevant organisation or individual in writing to keep
you informed of the outcome of any police or other investigation, court proceedings or
other relevant matter. You should note any important dates, for example of committal
hearings, in the investigation plan review. In addition, you may wish to make further
contact with the police, other body or individual to ask for an update on the matter.

A deferred investigation should be kept under regular review, in the interests of natural
justice. You may wish to seek legal advice at regular intervals, for example every three
months, from the date of the deferral decision about the reasonableness of continued
deferral.

Once a decision is taken to begin the investigation again you should notify in writing:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person; and
the relevant town or parish council if the subject member is a town or parish
councillor.

You should also review the investigation plan in light of the outcome of any police
investigation or court proceedings.

Confidentiality

You should treat the information that you gather during your investigation as
confidential. This will help ensure that your investigation is seen as fair. Maintaining
confidentiality reduces the risk of evidence being viewed as biased and preserves the
integrity of the investigation.

We recommend that you also ask the people you interview, and anyone else aware of
the investigation, to maintain confidentiality. You should remind councillors of their
obligations under the Code of Conduct regarding the disclosure of information that
they receive in confidence.

Members of the public are not covered by the Code of Conduct. A person making an
allegation about a councillor is under no responsibility to the subject member to keep
that complaint confidential, but if they do decide to publish the complaint and it is
untrue then the complainant may well expose themselves to an action for defamation.

When the complaint has been received by the authority, the authority is then a data
controller in respect of the personal data contained within the complaint and also a
body subject to the FoIA. Page 59



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 30/60

Were the authority to receive a subject access request (SAR) from the subject
member, then the response is likely to be that the complaint will be disclosed to the
subject member anyway for comment. Schedule 2 s.7 of the Data Protection Act
2018(DPA) includes an exemption from DPA rights where the function is designed to
protect members of the public against dishonesty, malpractice or seriously improper
conduct and the function is of a public nature. Local authority investigations are likely
to fall under this scope and therefore relevant articles of the UK GDPR including
subject access (article 15) do not apply.

There is of course an exemption against disclosure of third-party personal data, but
the complainant can be assumed to have agreed to the processing of their own
personal data. Some thought needs to be given as to whether other third-party data
needs to be redacted, but sufficient information does need to be provided to the
subject member to allow them to comment on the complaint.

If a request for information about the complaint was received under the FoIA from a
third party, then there would be clear grounds for refusing that request during an
ongoing investigation. 

If you receive a request from a journalist for example, who is asking if a councillor is
under investigation for a specific issue, it would be reasonable to confirm or deny the
fact but explain that no further comment can be made until the investigative process is
complete.

Any draft report that you issue on the outcome of the investigation should be marked
as confidential. This is to preserve the integrity of any further investigation that you
may need to undertake.

Timescales for an investigation

There are many factors that can affect the time it takes to complete an investigation.
Nevertheless, it is important that there are realistic targets from the outset for the
completion of an investigation. This allows the monitoring officer to monitor the
progress of investigations and explore reasons for any delays where they have
delegated the investigation. We recommend that most investigations are carried out,
and a report on the investigation completed, within a maximum of six months of the
original complaint being referred for an investigation.

This will not always be possible, particularly where there is overlapping jurisdiction or
you are waiting for a key piece of evidence from an external body but if it is to take
longer than that, specific permission should be discussed between the monitoringPage 60



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 31/60

officer and the Independent Person, and a note made as to the reasons why.

Refusal by the subject member or other relevant party to cooperate, for example by
not making themselves available for an interview without good reason, should not be
a reason for delay but should be reflected in the report. If the subject member refuses
to cooperate that of itself is a potential breach of the Model Code and may be
something that any decision maker in a case may want to take account of.

Draft reports

The investigator should produce a draft report. If they are not the monitoring officer,
they should share the draft initially with the monitoring officer and the independent
person so that they can satisfy themselves that the investigation is of an acceptable
standard and met the scope of the complaint. Once the monitoring officer is satisfied,
the draft report should then be sent to the relevant parties with a deadline for
commenting.

Where criticism is made of a third party (for example a witness) who will not otherwise
have an opportunity to comment on a draft report then a Maxwellisation process
(Maxwellisation is the process by which people who may be subject to criticism in
public reports can comment on those proposed criticisms before the report is
published) should be followed before a draft report is completed.

You are under no obligations to accept any comments made but where you do not
accept comments you should make a note explaining why. Exceptionally you may
need to issue a second draft if there have been significant changes.

Completion of an investigation

On completion of an investigation, the monitoring officer may decide:

to take no further action;
to seek to resolve the matter informally; or
to refer the matter to a hearing if it is part of the authority’s procedures to refer the
matter to a separate hearing by a panel or standards committee (see guidance on
hearings).

In doing so the monitoring officer must consult with the relevant Independent Person.

Page 61



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 32/60

In general, the investigation should be regarded as completed when the monitoring
officer receives the final report and accepts that no further investigation is necessary.

Purpose of the report

The report should be treated as an explanation of all the essential elements of the
case and a justification for why you have concluded there has been a breach or not.
The report should cover:

agreed facts;
any disputed facts together with your view, if appropriate, as to which version is
more likely;
whether those facts amount to a breach of the code or not; and
your reasons for reaching that conclusion.

Final reports

The final report should be issued by the monitoring officer and must be sent to:

the subject member;
the complainant;
the relevant Independent Person;
the relevant parish or town council of which the subject member is a councillor.

The report must make one of the following findings on the balance of probabilities:

that there have been one or more failures to comply with the Code of Conduct;
that there has not been a failure to comply with the Code.

If the monitoring officer considers that there has been no breach of the Code, that
should usually be the end of the matter though they may want to send the report or a
summary to the standards committee where you have one for information purposes
only or to consider wider lessons.

If the monitoring officer considers that there has been a breach of the Code, the
monitoring officer will decide what action, if any, to take and notify the relevant parties.
For example, they may decide to seek an informal resolution at this stage or decide
that the matter is merely a technical breach which will not lead to any sanction. In
doing so the monitoring officer should consult with the independent person.

Page 62



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 33/60

If the monitoring officer decides the matter should be referred for a hearing, the report
should be accompanied by information explaining that a hearing will be held and the
procedure to be followed. (see guidance on holding a hearing)

Publishing a report

Where a matter has been referred to a hearing you do not need to publish the report
as that will be dealt with at the Hearings Stage.

Where you have concluded that there has been no breach, that no further action is
needed, or the matter has been resolved in some other way you do not need to
publish the investigation report but you should report the matter to your standards
committee. If the matter has generated local interest you may consider putting out a
brief statement explaining the outcome and your reasoning. The report may also be
disclosable under a Freedom of Information request but that would need to be
considered depending on the content of each report, the need to redact personal
information and careful consideration given to the public interest test as to whether it
should be disclosed or not.

Report checklist

Your report should contain the information listed below.

a ‘confidential’ marking
a ‘draft’ or ‘final’ marking
the date
the legislation under which the investigation is being carried out
a summary of the complaint
the relevant sections of the Code
evidence
your findings of fact
your reasoning
your finding as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the Code.

The level of detail required will vary for each report, depending on the complexity of
information to be considered and presented. The report should, however, contain
documents that you have relied on in reaching your conclusions. These may include:

a chronology of events
Page 63



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 34/60

summaries of conversations, correspondence and notes of interviews with
witnesses.

In addition, the covering letter you send with the draft report should explain that the
report does not necessarily represent your final finding. You should also explain that
you will produce a final report once you have considered any comments received on
the draft report.

When you send the final report, you should also explain that the report represents
your final findings and, if it is to be subject to a hearing, it will be for the panel to
decide if they agree with your view or not. It is important that the report has the date of
its completion on the front page. This provides clear evidence of when the time within
which a hearing should be held begins.

The date of the hearing should be within three months from the date the monitoring
officer, or delegated officer, completes the final report (see guidance on hearings).

There should be no appeal allowed either for the subject member or the complainant.
Where a breach has been found and the matter is going to a hearing the parties will
have their chance to have their say on the investigation at that stage. Where no
breach has been found, no action taken or the matter otherwise resolved, that will be
the end of the matter.

5. Investigation practicalities

Outsourced investigations

There are a number of reasons why you might outsource an investigation. This may
be because of the complexity of the matters means that you want an experienced
investigator to carry out the investigation. High-profile or politically contentious cases
may require a greater degree of independence from the authority to be demonstrated.
It may also be because the authority’s investigatory resources internally are limited or
at capacity due to other workloads.

In addition, most successful investigation report writers have experience of writing
reports for lay people or councillors. They understand that their reports need to be
clear enough for someone with no legal background to understand how they reached
their decision. They also need to be clear enough to show what factors were taken
into account when reaching that decision. You would need to consider if you have that
capacity in your organisation. Page 64



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 35/60

Objectivity is also important. It may be difficult for an officer to consider whether a
colleague was bullied or treated disrespectfully for example. There will be cases when
an officer can investigate a complaint where a colleague is the complainant. However,
this can only be done if you are sure that they have the necessary impartiality to
conduct the investigation, with no perception of bias.

It is important, however, to stay in control of outsourced investigations. To do so you
will need to do the following:

1. Agree the scope of any delegation. In particular be clear who has responsibility
for preparing the investigation report and if necessary, presenting it to a hearing
panel;
2. Agree the scope of the investigation. In particular be clear what allegations are
being investigated and what should happen if the investigator discovers evidence of
further potential breaches of the Code of Conduct;
3. Agree a firm deadline. You need to agree when the case will be completed and
consider whether there will be any financial implications if the case is not completed
on time;
4. Agree interim deadlines. You should agree when you will receive key pieces of
work including the investigation plan, the draft report and the final report. If the
investigating officer is new, then you may wish to programme in regular
investigation updates;

Agree the payment structure. You may want to consider how you structure the
payment for investigations. It is not unreasonable to pay per stage of work completed,
and for any additional investigative stages to be agreed as and when they occur.

Start of an investigation

Draw up an investigation plan. This will help focus you on making the investigation as
effective as possible. The plan should include:

The complaint made against the subject member. You may find it necessary to seek
clarification from the complainant;
The paragraphs of the Code of Conduct that may have been breached. Please note
that you do not need to accept the complainant’s interpretation of what paragraphs
may have been breached. It is helpful to breakdown each potential failure to comply
into the component parts of each provision. For example, in considering whether a
councillor has misused their position improperly to gain an advantage you may
need evidence to demonstrate that:

Page 65



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 36/60

1) the councillor used their position;

2) the councillor used their position improperly;

3) the councillor conferred or attempted to confer an advantage or disadvantage.

The facts which need to be determined to establish if the councillor breached the
Code and to decide what the appropriate finding might be. They need to include:

               1) facts which would establish if the conduct happened as alleged;

       2) facts that would need to be proven to show that the conduct constituted a  

     breach of the Code;

    3) facts which might aggravate or mitigate the alleged breach, for example,
provocation or an apology.

 

The evidence that you would need to determine the issues outlined in your plan.
This includes who you will need to interview and why;
The evidence that has already been supplied by the complainant;
How you plan to gather any further evidence you are likely to need;
Any documents you are likely to need to see such as minutes of meetings or
register of interest forms and you can get them from;
If you are not the monitoring officer and are doing the investigation under
delegation, make sure you have confirmation on the extent and scope of the
investigation and build in check-in points with the monitoring officer on progress;
How long you think it is likely to take you.

If at any stage in the investigative process there are significant changes to any of the
above areas, an investigation plan review may need to be completed.

Contact the complainant and subject member to advise them of your contact details
and provide them with a preliminary timescale for the investigation. You should also
remind the subject member of their right to seek the views of an Independent Person.

At the end of your investigation, you should have documents which chart the
approach you took to the investigation, the reasons for this approach, and when you
changed your approach if appropriate. You do not need to share these documents
with the parties involved in the investigation – they are for you to use as you wish.
Their main function is as a planning tool, but they also provide an audit trail should
your investigation be the subject of a complaint or review.Page 66



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 37/60

The investigation

Information requests
Documentary evidence should be sought before you conduct any interviews and at
the earliest opportunity. The list in your investigation plan should form the basis of the
first contact you make with the parties and other witnesses.

You may invite the subject member to provide an initial response to the allegation in
writing when first making written contact with them. This gives councillors the
opportunity to admit to the breach if they would like to do so, and could then save time
and effort for all involved. A written response may also provide you with additional
useful information before the interview stage.

Where you make a specific request for information this should be made in writing,
even if the initial contact is made by phone. Explain the authority you have for asking
for the documents and the broad purpose for which you need the document, for
example ‘an investigation into the conduct of Councillor X’. You do not need to provide
the detail of the complaint against the councillor at this stage. You should also outline
the confidentiality requirements that relate to the information request and set a
deadline for response.

In certain cases, you may wish for a subject member or other party not to be made
aware of a request for evidence. For example, if you consider that this might lead to
destruction of evidence by one of the parties or to the improper collaboration of
witnesses. In such circumstances it may be appropriate to arrange to meet with the
witness, having given them a brief outline of your role. You can then make your
request for the relevant documents during the meeting. It is important here that you
explain what powers you have to obtain information. If in doubt, it may be prudent to
seek legal advice on how to proceed.

If the request for information is refused it is likely to prove time consuming and legally
complex to try to pursue the matter. It may be easier to see if there is another route to
obtaining the same information.

Interviewing

Your goal in interviewing is to obtain the most informed, reliable evidence possible. It
is not to ambush or catch out interviewees.

Page 67



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 38/60

Order of interviews

You may have spoken the subject member initially for their initial reaction, but you will
normally interview the subject member again formally at the end of the investigation,
when you have gathered all your evidence, if they have not admitted to the breach at
first contact. This will give you the opportunity to put that evidence to the subject
member and obtain their responses to it.

Where practicable it may be best to carry out consecutive interviews on the same day
if you are concerned that witnesses may collude or use information provided to them.

You may also wish to re-interview the complainant near the end of the investigation on
the same timescale as you are interviewing the subject member. This may allow you
to get them to agree facts. It also gives them an opportunity to comment on issues
that have been raised during the course of the investigation and provides an
opportunity to present potential inconsistencies to the relevant parties for comment.

The format of the interview

It might be more appropriate to conduct face-to-face or virtual interviews than
telephone interviews if:

1. the matters involved are sensitive;
2. the interviewee is vulnerable;
3. you or they will need to refer to multiple documents during the interview;
4. the interviewee wishes to have a representative or colleague present;
5. the interview is with the subject member.

It may be more appropriate to conduct a telephone interview if:

1. there are significant resource implications, either in terms of cost or time in
conducting a face-to-face interview;
2. the interview does not fall into one of the categories outlined above.

If a subject member or witness insists on a face-to-face interview, then serious
consideration should be given to their request. You should specifically check that there
is no medical or disability-related reason for their request. If there is, then you should
conduct a face-to-face interview. If there is no medical or disability-related reason,

Page 68



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 39/60

then the decision is at your discretion. If you still wish to proceed with a telephone
interview despite their request, then you should outline your decision in writing on the
file. This is to show that it was both proportionate and reasonable.

Do not conduct joint interviews. It is important that each witness gives their own
account without having their recollection influenced by hearing another person’s
account. An interviewee may, however, have a friend or adviser present. If so that
person should not be someone who is a witness, and they should be asked to keep
the matters confidential. If an interviewee is a vulnerable person or a minor, you may
wish to ensure that you are accompanied by another person.

The venue

If you are conducting a face-to-face interview, try to ensure that the venue is:

1. mutually convenient on neutral territory – this would generally include local
authority offices but this may not always be appropriate;
2. in a private room where you cannot be overheard;
3. a place where the interviewee will feel comfortable and is unlikely to be seen by
people whose presence may intimidate or upset them, for example, the complainant
or subject member;
4. is safe for you, the investigating officer - please refer to any authority policy on
lone working.

Occasionally it may be appropriate to conduct an interview at the home of the
interviewee. This should generally be at the request of the interviewee, but you should
only do this if you feel safe and there is no suitable alternative.

Information you should provide interviewees

You should provide the following information in writing to the interviewee:

1. Confirmation of the agreed time, date and venue or that it is a telephone or virtual
interview.
2. Confirmation that the interview will be recorded, if appropriate.
3. Confirmation that the interviewee can have a legal or other representative with
them, but that the representative must not be a potential witness in the
investigation. Ask that they provide you with the name and status of their
representative before the interview.
4. Why you are conducting the interview.Page 69



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 40/60

5. How the information they give you in the interview may be used.
6. The circumstances in which the information that they give you during the
interview may be made public.
7. The confidentiality requirements that they are under as an interviewee.
8. Details and copies of any documents you may refer to during the interview.
9. In the case of the subject member, details and copies of any evidence you have
gathered and which you may refer to in your report.

You do not have to disclose witness testimony prior to the interview, depending on the
nature of that testimony and whether you want the interviewee’s account prior to
putting the witness’s testimony to them. However, you may wish to disclose a
witness’s testimony during an interview once you have obtained the interviewee’s own
account.

You could also consider providing an outline of the areas you intend to cover at
interview.

Note: if you only need to confirm one or two factual details with a local authority officer
you may contact them by phone and do not need to forewarn them. However, when
obtaining this information, you should:

1. orally outline all of the information you would otherwise have provided in writing
as set out above;
2. check that they are happy to give it to you then, rather than at an agreed date in
the future;
3. confirm the detail of information they do provide, in writing.

Special circumstances

If an interviewee has additional needs, for example a disability (seen or unseen) or
language barrier you should make reasonable provisions to cater for their specific
needs. If an interviewee is vulnerable or a minor, then they should always be
accompanied by a third party at the interview.

Structuring an interview

Interviews should be planned in advance. You can plan your questions using the
following suggested format:

Page 70



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 41/60

1. Divide the information you require into discrete issues. For example, Issue 1:
The planning meeting on date x; Issue 2: The planning meeting on date y.
2. Make a note of the evidence you have already obtained about each issue.
3. Note how you would briefly summarise the evidence to the interviewee.

Conducting the interview

All important interviews should be recorded where possible or else detailed notes
taken which are agreed afterwards with the interviewee. The only exception is when
the interview is likely to cover only a small number of factual matters. In this case, it
may be more appropriate to resolve these factual matters in writing. Before recording
an interview, you should:

1. obtain the consent of the interviewee before you start recording the interview;
2. ask them to record their consent on the record once you have started and; offer
to send the interviewee a copy of the transcript or draft interview statement,
whichever is applicable.

If they ask, you can send them a copy of the recording too. If you are concerned that
the interviewee may share the transcript with other witnesses, you can delay sending
the transcript or recording until you have completed all of your interviews.

The interviewee should not normally be allowed to make a recording of the interview.
This is to prevent collusion between interviewees and any possibility of record
tampering.

Interview recordings should be destroyed as soon as a transcript of the interview has
been produced and agreed as accurate.

At the start of the interview

When the interviewee arrives, try and put them at ease;

1. Before you start the formal interview, inform the interviewee that there is
a standard interview preamble that you must take them through. This ensures that
any rapport you have established is unlikely to be lost when you take them through
the legal framework of the interview;
2.  Confirm that the interview will be recorded and put the recording device in a
visible place on the desk;
3. With their permission start recording;Page 71



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 42/60

4. Ask them to confirm for the record that they consent to the recording;
5. Confirm for the record who you are, and why you are conducting the Interview;
6. State the date and time for the record;
7. Confirm that they received your letter outlining the arrangements for
the interview;
8. Confirm that they read and understood your letter and ask if they have
any questions about any of the information within it;
9. If the interview is with the subject member, repeat orally all of the   information
contained in your letter;
10. If the interviewee is at all unclear about anything, then repeat orally all of the
information contained in your letter;
11. Explain that they can take a break whenever they choose; 
12. Explain that you will offer them a break if the interview goes over an hour,  even
if they have not said that they want one;
13. Tell them how long the interview is likely to take and ask them if they have a
time by which it needs to end; 
14.  Explain that they can ask you to rephrase a question if they don’t understand it.

During the interview

1. Start the interview with the subject member with some background questions.
These could include ‘how long have you been a councillor, or ‘what training have
you had on the Code of Conduct?’.
2. Do not ask multiple questions. Ask one question at a time, and do not ask
another question until the interviewee has answered your first question;
3. Do not dart back and forth between different issues as you are liable to confuse
yourself and the interviewee;
4. Tackle one subject issue at a time;
5. Ask open questions about information the interviewee or other witnesses have
provided about the issue;
6. Drill down. In other words, ask open questions about one specific issue until you
have all the information you need on it;
7. Where relevant ask the interviewee to reconcile differing accounts;
8. Ask closed questions to confirm the information you have obtained about the
specific issue;
9. Move onto the next issue using the same method. Start with a broad open
question about the subject, drill down for information with specific open questions.
Conclude the area by asking closed questions to confirm what you have been told;
10. Do not ask leading questions, for example, ‘You said this to the clerk, didn’t
you?’; Page 72



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 43/60

11. Do not ask the interviewee to speculate;
12. Accurately put the evidence of other interviewees to the interviewee and ask for
their response;
13. When asked, explain the relevance of your question;
14. Do not allow the interviewee’s lawyer or representative to answer a question;
15. You must allow the interviewee to stop and obtain advice whenever they
choose;
16. If the interviewee becomes upset or unwell you must offer them a break;
17. Never raise your voice. Only interrupt if the interviewee is being unreasonable
or is not providing relevant information;
18. You should be mindful of avoiding oppressive or repetitive questioning. If an
interviewee will not properly answer a question, despite significant attempts to
obtain a satisfactory response, then you should move on to another point or issue;
19. Do not question the subject member about matters which fall outside the scope
of the complaint;
20. If the interviewee wants a break, record the time of the break on the record and
the time you resume the interview. Ask the interviewee to confirm for the record that
you did not discuss anything about the case with them during the break.

Closing the interview

1. State the time the interview finished;
2. Thank the interviewee for their time and outline what will happen next;

After the interview

1. Send the interviewee a copy of the transcript;
2. State in the letter that if you do not hear from them by a specified date, you will
assume the transcript is agreed;
3. If the content of the transcript is disputed, check the discrepancies against the
recording;
4. If the transcript is confirmed by the recording, write to the interviewee to inform
them of this. In these circumstances, if the matter is referred to a hearing, submit
the transcript, the recording, the interviewee’s letter outlining the dispute, and your
response.

Evaluating the information after an interview
Page 73



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 44/60

1. Review your investigation plan in light of the information gathered during the
interview;
2. Review all the evidence you have gathered to determine if there are any gaps in
it;
3. Take a view on all disputed relevant matters. Your own opinion on the evidence is
sufficient. However, if you are unable to come to a decision, you may need to seek
further information or decide that you are unable to reach a conclusion;
4. Weigh up all the evidence and decide if the alleged conduct occurred;
5. If you decide that the subject member acted as alleged, you will need to consider
whether their conduct involved a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct;
6. If you decide the subject member breached the Code, consider whether you have
evidence of any mitigating or aggravating circumstances. If not, you may need to
seek further information.

Drafting the report

When you have concluded your investigation, you will need to write up your findings in
a report which should contain the following information:

1. who the report is for;
2. who the report is by;
3. the date of the report.

Executive summary

This should include:

1. the full allegation and who it was made by;
2. the provisions of the Code of Conduct that were considered;
3. a conclusion as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the Code the
finding;
4. any relevant extracts from the Code and any other legislation or protocols
considered in the report.

Evidence gathered and the investigator’s consideration

1. Set out all the relevant evidence you have gathered even if it does not support
the conclusions you have reached;

Page 74



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 45/60

2. State what you consider has taken place based upon your evaluation of this
evidence;
3. Set out undisputed facts as facts. Do not summarise them or preface them ‘he
said’ or ‘the minutes state’. If they are undisputed just state them as fact.
4. Where there is a disputed fact, outline the different views and your conclusion on
them. You need to form a conclusion based on the balance of probabilities. Also
state why you have reached this conclusion. For example:

The clerk, Councillor Jones and Councillor Smith met at Councillor Jones’s house
on y date at x time;
At interview the clerk stated that Councillor Jones said…..
At interview Councillor Smith stated that Councillor Jones told the clerk…
At interview Councillor Jones stated that he told the clerk…
I have considered the following issues when deciding what Councillor Jones said to
the clerk… I consider at on the balance of probabilities Councillor Jones told the
clerk…because…

  5. Include any mitigating or aggravating factors, such as the state of mind of those
involved. 
  6. When you refer in the report to material in the evidence bundle, identify the
document referred to.

Summary of the material facts

Summarise the facts needed to confirm the conclusions you have reached. Where
there was a disputed fact, you will only need to include the conclusion you came to.

If the subject member has made additional submissions which you do not consider
relevant to the case outline why you do not deem information or opinions submitted by
the subject member to be relevant.

Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to comply with the
Code of Conduct

1. Make each alleged breach in turn.
2. Outline which part of the Code of Conduct you are considering. Explain the test
you are applying when determining if there has been a failure to comply with the
Code.
3. Explain in detail, giving reasons, why you do or do not consider that the conduct
constitutes a breach of the Code. Page 75



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 46/60

4. Do not introduce any new facts or opinions. You must only refer to evidence or
opinions that have been outlined earlier in the report.

Make sure your explanation of the test you are applying, and the reasons for your
conclusions, are detailed and clear enough to understand for a lay person with no
legal background.

Finding

You should make a finding about each alleged breach of the Code:

1. Outline in detail the reason for your decision
2. Refer to aggravating or mitigating facts, which must be outlined in the facts
section earlier in the report.

Schedule

Your report should include any documents taken into account:

1. Exhibit all the evidence upon which you have relied when reaching your
conclusion;
2. In complex cases it may be appropriate to provide a chronology;
3. Provide a list of unused material if appropriate.

Issuing a draft report

You should send a draft report, sending a copy to the subject member and the
complainant and inviting their comments by a specified date. If you have carried out
an investigation on behalf of the monitoring officer, you should first of all make sure
they are happy that the draft is to an acceptable standard.

The draft should not be sent to other witnesses or parties interviewed, but you should
seek confirmation of their evidence from them before issuing the report.

Ensure that the draft report is clearly marked as ‘Draft’ and ‘Confidential’ (though it
can be discussed with a legal representative) and make clear that the report may be
subject to change and does not represent your final conclusion.

Page 76



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 47/60

If you have found the subject member in breach, make sure that the evidence that you
have relied upon when reaching this conclusion is clearly marked in the report.

You must consider whether any of the information in the draft report is sensitive
personal information that should not go into the public domain, for example, medical
reports details or personal contact details. Information of this nature should be edited
from the draft and final report unless it is essential to the reasoning.

Comments on the draft

Responses to your draft may reveal the need for further investigation, or they may add
nothing of relevance. Occasionally changes may be significant enough for you to
consider issuing a second draft.

Once you have considered whether the responses add anything of substance to the
investigation, you will be able to make your final conclusions and recommendations.

Where comments on the draft are critical of the investigation or the investigator, you
may need to consider how to respond to the complaints made. You should not let such
criticisms prevent a draft report being finalised, however, unless this is unavoidable. In
particular, the investigation process, including writing the report, should not be
suspended while a complaint about the investigation is dealt with. Complaints about
the conduct of investigators should be dealt with in the same way as other service
complaints.

You should keep a written record of your consideration of any comments received on
the draft. It is best practice to provide a written response to the party explaining your
position or referring them to the relevant paragraph of the report. This can be done
when they are sent the final report. You should avoid getting drawn into lengthy
correspondence with the subject member or other interested parties where they
disagree with the draft. You should confine comments to matters of fact rather than
personal opinions as to how the investigation was done or the opinion you have
reached. However, you will need to show that you took all reasonable steps to
address concerns.

If you receive further comments after the final report has been issued you should
explain that the investigation is now closed and refer them to the person who is
dealing with any hearing if appropriate.

The final report Page 77



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 48/60

You must state that the report represents your final finding. If you have found the
subject member in breach you should make sure the reasoning for that conclusion
and any supporting evidence is clear. You must consider whether any of the
information in the report or evidence bundle is confidential information that should not
go into the public domain, for example, medical details, personal contact details or
signatures. All information of this nature should be edited from the final report unless it
is essential to the reasoning.

You should send the final report to the monitoring officer if you are not the monitoring
officer who will then issue the report. If you are the monitoring officer, you must send
your report to:

1. The subject member
2. The Independent Person

A copy may also be made available to the complainant and others as you think
appropriate.

The monitoring officer must decide whether:

1. There has been no breach and therefore no further action will be taken;
2. There have been one or more breaches, but no further action is needed;
3. There have been one or more breaches, but the matters should be resolved in a
way other than by a hearing; or
4. That the matters be referred to a hearing.

This should be made clear in the letter accompanying the report and if the monitoring
officer decides that the matter should be referred to a hearing panel, they should
arrange for that to happen as soon as possible (see separate section on hearings).
The letter should also make clear what if any aspects of the report are confidential but
that it can be discussed with a legal representative. If the matter is being referred to a
hearing it should be made clear that the whole report remains confidential until the
time of the Hearing to avoid prejudicing any considerations.

Confidentiality during the investigation

While it is important during the course of an investigation to preserve confidentiality so
as not to compromise the integrity of the investigation, in practice in some
circumstances, maintaining the confidentiality of an investigation can be difficult.

Page 78



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 49/60

However, it is important that you take all reasonable steps to maintain the
confidentiality of your investigation, as failure to do so may compromise the
investigation. To help maintain confidentiality:

1. Mark all of your letters, transcripts and reports as confidential;
2. Outline why you have marked it confidential but clearly inform subject members
in writing that they can appoint a solicitor, or other person, to act as their
representative. You must also clearly inform them that they can disclose any
relevant document to this representative.
3. You should state that their representative should not be someone who may be
involved in the investigation;
4. It is important that you make it clear to all parties that they should make any
approach to witnesses in writing. This is to avoid confusion that might arise about
the investigative process;
5. When arranging interviews ask interviewees to identify the name of any person
who is accompanying them to the interview. Also ask them to state what their
relationship is to the interviewee. You should explicitly state, in writing, that they
should not be accompanied by anyone who may be called as a witness in the
investigation;
6. If you think it is possible that witnesses may discuss their testimonies with each
other, you should not send the transcripts of any interviews until all of the interviews
have been concluded. This may mean that you send interview transcripts out with
the draft report;
7. Where you are interviewing a number of people who have close relationships
with one another, it may be prudent to interview them immediately after each other.
This reduces any opportunity for collaboration.

If confidentiality is breached you should write to the party reminding them of the
confidentiality requirements and, if they are a councillor, of their duties under the
Model Code of Conduct. If you have evidence that information was disclosed to a
party prior to their interview, you can take this into account when evaluating the
reliability of the witness’s evidence. If the disclosure was made by a councillor, you
can consider making a formal complaint about their conduct.

6. The hearings process

Once a formal investigation has taken place, the monitoring officer may refer the
matter to a hearing.

Page 79



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 50/60

There is no prescription in the legislation that says a matter has to go to a hearing or
how that hearing may be conducted. Whatever approach you decide to take it must
follow the rules of natural justice and comply with the obligations to ensure a fair
hearing under Article 6 of the Human Rights Act. In line with the principle of
proportionality the approach you take may depend upon the seriousness of the issue.
For example, if you are satisfied that the investigation has allowed all sides to have
their say the panel may simply review the report without further reference to the
parties.

This guidance is written however on the presumption that a hearings panel of some
form, consisting of elected councillors, will be convened.

The legislation stipulates that, where it is a town or parish council case, the matter is
dealt with by the principal authority.

Throughout this guidance we will refer to panel, but by that we mean a committee or a
sub-committee which the local authority (or a committee, such as an Audit or
Standards Committee) has delegated responsibility to determine the outcome of
certain complaints that individual councillors have breached the Code of Conduct.

Convening a hearing

At the end of the investigation, a hearing may be called where the investigator has
concluded that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct and the monitoring
officer has concluded that the matter cannot otherwise be resolved informally (see
guidance on informal resolution).

For reasons of fairness and proportionality a hearing should wherever possible take
place within three months of the date on which the investigator’s report was
completed. Where that is not possible, for example because the matter is awaiting the
outcome of other matters being dealt with by outside bodies or other investigations
into the subject member, the monitoring officer should notify the relevant parties of the
reason for the delay and provide an estimated timescale.

However, the hearing should not take place sooner than 14 days after the
investigation report has been issued unless the subject member agrees. This is to
allow them sufficient time to prepare their defence and consider any witnesses they
may wish to call for example (see section on the pre-hearing process below)

Once a date has been set for a Hearing the monitoring officer should notify:

the subject member; Page 80



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 51/60

the investigator;
the relevant Independent Person;
the complainant if appropriate;
the clerk of any relevant town or parish council.

They should also outline the hearing procedure; the subject member’s rights and they
should additionally ask for a written response from the subject member within a set
time. This is to find out whether the subject member:

wants to be represented at the hearing
disagrees with any of the findings of fact in the investigation report, including
reasons for any of these disagreements
wants to give evidence to the hearing, either verbally or in writing
wants to call relevant witnesses to give evidence to the standards committee
wants to request any part of the hearing to be held in private
wants to request any part of the investigation report or other relevant documents to
be withheld from the public.

The investigator should also be asked if they wish to call any witnesses.

If the subject member is unable to make the specified date the panel may arrange for
the hearing to be held on a different date, provided that they are satisfied that the
subject member has given an acceptable reason. Where the subject member does
not give an acceptable reason or does not reply within a specified time, the panel
should proceed with the date and may consider the report in the subject member’s
absence if the subject member does not go to the hearing. The subject member
should not be able to evade having the case heard simply by refusing to cooperate
and the Model Code makes failure to cooperate a potential breach. However, the
panel should make clear at the start of the hearing that they have considered whether
they can proceed in the absence of the subject member and should record their
reasons.

If one or more witnesses are unavailable on the given date the monitoring officer, in
consultation with the chair of the panel, should decide how material they would be to
the hearing and whether another date needs to be looked for. Witnesses, especially
members of the public, often play an important part in the process and should be
treated with courtesy and respect although it may be that their views were already
sought as part of the investigation so the panel would need to evaluate how they
could proceed without them. Witnesses should be kept promptly informed of the
relevant dates, times and location of the hearing.

Page 81



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 52/60

Except in the most complicated cases, the panel should aim to complete a hearing in
one sitting or in consecutive sittings of no more than one working day in total. When
scheduling hearings, you should bear in mind that late- night and very lengthy
hearings are not ideal for effective decision-making. Equally, having long gaps
between sittings can lead to repetition or important matters being forgotten.

Role of the monitoring officer

It is important that the panel receives high quality, independent advice. For this
reason, a monitoring officer should be the main adviser to the standards committee,
unless they have an interest in the matter that would prevent them from performing
this role independently. This may be because they have carried out the investigation
or have another conflict (see guide on investigations). If this situation arises, a
monitoring officer should arrange for another appropriately qualified officer to advise
the standards committee.

The monitoring officer or other legal adviser’s role in advising the panel is to:

make sure that members of the standards committee understand their powers and
procedures
make sure that the procedure is fair and will allow the complaint to be dealt with as
efficiently and effectively as possible
make sure that the subject member understands the procedures the panel will
follow
provide advice to the panel during the hearing and their deliberations.
help the panel produce a written decision and a summary of that decision.

Monitoring officers play an important role in advising their councillors on a day-to-day
basis. When performing this role, monitoring officers need to be aware of the potential
conflicts of interest that can arise, as these conflicts could prevent them from advising
the panel at a later stage.

Monitoring officers will need to be aware of the potential conflicts involved in
investigating a matter, advising the panel and advising councillors (see also guidance
on investigations).

However, conflicts of interest are not likely to arise simply from informal discussions
between councillors and monitoring officers.

You may wish to consider options for reducing the likelihood of such conflicts,
including:

Page 82



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 53/60

arranging for another officer to advise councillors
continuing to advise councillors, while identifying possible scenarios that may lead
to future conflicts.

You should also ensure that if your advice could be relevant to an investigation, you
have another appropriately experienced officer who is prepared to support the panel
in its hearings and deliberations.

Smaller authorities in particular may find it useful to make arrangements with
neighbouring authorities to make sure that when a conflict arises, an appropriately
experienced officer is available to advise the panel.

Composition of the panel

The panel should be drawn from the main body of the standards committee. If the
panel includes independent representatives or parish representatives, they do not
have voting rights by law.

You will need to be clear whether political proportionality applies to the panel or
whether it has been waived by the local authority.

All panel members should have undergone suitable training.

Holding a pre-hearing

As soon as a date has been set for a hearing the panel should hold a private pre-
hearing. This could be done in writing or just between the monitoring officer and the
Committee chair for expediency. The purpose of the pre-hearing process is to allow
matters at the hearing to be dealt with more fairly and economically. This is because it
quickly alerts parties to possible areas of difficulty and, if possible, allows them to be
resolved before the hearing itself. The pre-hearing should also decide who will chair
the panel.

At the pre-hearing the panel should:

Decide whether any of the findings of fact in the investigation report are in dispute
and, if so, how relevant they are likely to be at the hearing. For example, if the
dispute is about the time of a particular conversation but that time is not relevant to
whether the Code has been breached or not, there would be little point focussing on

Page 83



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 54/60

that. On the other hand, if that alleged discrepancy were material the panel needs
to satisfy itself how it would resolve that difference at the hearing.
Consider any additional evidence it considers is required at the hearing.
Identify any witnesses it thinks it would want to hear from.
Decide if witnesses which the subject member or investigator may want to call are
relevant bearing in mind the nature of the issue and the need for proportionality. For
example, if an incident has occurred at full council there would be no need to call
every member as a witness but equally the panel may feel it needs to hear from a
couple of witnesses representing different sides. Similarly, if the subject member
decides to call a number of character witnesses the panel should take a view as to
how relevant that is and how many would suffice.
Consider whether there are any parts of the hearing that are likely to be held in
private or whether any parts of the investigation report or other documents should
be withheld from the public prior to the hearing, on the grounds that they contain
‘exempt’ material (see section on confidentiality below) though the final decision will
rest with the panel on the day. The presumption should be to hold a public hearing
unless there is specific exempt or confidential information as defined by Part VA of
the Local Government Act 1972 so identifying that at the pre-hearing will have some
bearing on publication of any relevant papers.
Identify any potential conflicts of interest, for example any close associations with
the people involved or potential witnesses. The monitoring officer will advise if any
conflicts mean that a councillor should stand down from the panel.

It is important that at the pre-hearing panel members do not debate the merits of the
case.

Note that this pre-hearing would not of itself be a formal meeting so would not be
open and often these matters can be dealt with through correspondence. Once the
pre-hearing has been held the monitoring officer should write to everyone involved in
the complaint at least two weeks before the hearing. This should confirm the date,
time and place for the hearing, note whether the subject member or investigator will
be represented at the hearing. It should also list those witnesses, if any, who will be
asked to give evidence and outline the proposed procedure for the hearing.

The hearing

A hearing is like any other committee or sub-committee of the authority and as such
must follow the rules that apply to committees. This means that it must reflect the
political proportionality of the local authority as a whole unless the authority has
waived proportionality and that only elected members of the authority are entitled to

Page 84



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 55/60

vote at the Hearing. The rules around access to information also apply as they do to
other committees – that is the hearing will be in public unless there are lawful reasons
for all or part of it to be heard as exempt or confidential matters.

Panel members should bear in mind that it is not a court of law. It does not hear
evidence under oath, but it does decide factual evidence on the balance of
probabilities.

The panel should work at all times in a demonstrably fair, independent and politically
impartial way. This helps to ensure that members of the public, and councillors, have
confidence in its procedures and findings. Decisions should be seen as open,
unprejudiced and unbiased. All concerned should treat the hearing process with
respect and with regard to the potential seriousness of the outcome, for the subject
member, the local authority and the public. For the subject member, an adverse
decision by the committee can result in significant reputational damage.

Representatives

The subject member may choose to be represented by counsel, a solicitor, or by any
other person they wish. This should have been agreed at the pre-hearing and if the
panel has any concern about the person chosen to represent the subject member,
they should have made that clear beforehand. The panel does, however, have the
right to withdraw its permission to allow a representative if that representative disrupts
the hearing. However, an appropriate warning will usually be enough to prevent more
disruptions and should normally be given before permission is withdrawn.

Evidence

The panel, through its chair, controls the procedure and evidence presented at a
hearing, including the number of witnesses and the way witnesses are questioned.

In many cases, the panel may not need to consider any evidence other than the
investigation report and any other supporting documents. However, the panel may
need to hear from witnesses if more evidence is needed, or if people do not agree
with certain findings of fact in the report.

The panel can allow witnesses to be questioned and cross-examined by the subject
member, the investigator or their representatives. Alternatively, the panel can ask that
these questions be directed through the chair. The panel can also question witnesses
directly and the Independent Person should also be asked if they wish to ask anyPage 85



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 56/60

questions. It is not a legal requirement that the Independent Person attend the
hearing, but it is best practice and the authority must have regard to their views when
reaching a decision. If the Independent Person does not attend therefore, there must
be an agreed mechanism for receiving their views.

If the panel believes, however, that questions are irrelevant or oppressive then the
chair should stop that particular line of questioning.

Generally, the subject member is entitled to present their case as they see fit, which
includes calling the witnesses they may want and which are relevant to the matters to
be heard. However, the panel has the right to govern its own procedures as long as it
acts fairly. For this reason, the panel may limit the number of witnesses if the number
is unreasonable. This should have been agreed at the pre-hearing.

Making a finding

Once the panel has heard all the relevant evidence it should suspend the hearing and
retire in private to consider its finding.

Before retiring the chair should invite the Independent Person to give their views to
the panel which the local authority must have regard to. These views should be given
in the open session so that all sides can have a chance to challenge them as
necessary. If the Independent Person retires with the panel, they should not take part
in any decision making as they are not part of the formal decision-making process. In
addition, they should ensure that any views they give to the panel are also made
publicly to the meeting.

Any officer who retires with the panel is there to advise on matters of procedure and
law. Any advice given, however, must then be conveyed back publicly to the meeting.

If the panel, after retiring, decides that it needs to reconsider certain matters it is able
of reconvening to ask further questions.

Once the panel has reached its decision it should reconvene to inform the subject
member. Where a breach has been found, it should then invite representations as to
any aggravating or mitigating factors (see below) before retiring again to consider an
appropriate sanction.

It is good practice to make a short written decision available on the day of the hearing,
and to prepare the full written decision in draft on that day, before people’s memories
fade. The officer providing administrative support to the panel will normally also draft
minutes of the meeting. Page 86



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 57/60

The panel should give its full written decision to the relevant parties as soon as
possible after the hearing. In most cases this should be within one week of the
hearing.

The relevant parties are:

the subject member
the complainant
the relevant Independent Person
any parish or town councils concerned.

Where appropriate the subject member’s political group may also be informed of the
decision if the sanction requires group action (see below) and should also be sent to
the next full council meeting.

Sanctions 

There is no definitive list of possible sanctions (The Government's response to the
Committee on Standard in public life 2019 is awaited). If the panel finds that a subject
member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct and that they should be sanctioned,
it needs to be clear which sanctions it has the power to impose and which matters are
reserved to council or need to be referred to a relevant political group.

Typical sanctions may include one or a combination of the following:

report its findings in respect of the subject member’s conduct to council (or the
relevant parish council)
issue (or recommend to the parish council to issue) a formal censure
recommend to the subject member’s group leader (or in the case of un-grouped
councillors, recommend to council) that they be removed from any or all committees
or sub-committees of the authority (or recommend such action to the parish council)
recommend to the leader of the authority that the subject member be removed from
positions of responsibility
instruct the monitoring officer to (or recommend that the parish council) arrange
training for the subject member
recommend to council (or recommend to the parish council) that the subject
member be removed from all outside appointments to which they have been
appointed or nominated by the authority (or by the parish council);
recommend to council (or recommend to the parish council) that it withdraws
facilities provided to the subject member by the authority for a specified period,
such as a computer, website and/or email and internet access; orPage 87



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 58/60

recommend to council (or recommend that the parish council) that it excludes the
subject member from the authority’s offices or other premises for a specified period,
with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary for attending council, committee
and sub-committee meetings and/or restricts contact with officers to named officers
only
if relevant recommend to council that the subject member be removed from their
role as leader of the authority
if relevant recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a political group that
the councillor be removed as group leader or other position of responsibility.

Note that where the subject member is a parish or town councillor, the matter is
referred back to their council to say that a breach of the Code has been found and
with a recommended sanction. The town or parish council must then meet to consider
whether to impose that sanction or to replace it with another relevant sanction. They
cannot overturn the finding that there has been a breach of the Code and if they wish
to impose a different sanction they should seek advice from the clerk and/or the
monitoring officer. The panel should also ask the parish or town council to report back
to the monitoring officer within three months to confirm that they have met to discuss
the sanction, and if necessary, to write again once the sanction has been fulfilled.

Note that under the Model Code of Conduct failure to comply with a sanction may of
itself be a breach of the Code.

When deciding on a sanction, the panel should ensure that it is reasonable,
proportionate and relevant to the subject member’s behaviour. Before deciding what
sanction to issue, the panel should consider the following questions, along with any
other relevant circumstances:

What was the subject member’s intention?
Did the subject member know that they were failing to follow the Code of Conduct?
Did the subject member get advice from officers before the incident? Was that
advice acted on or ignored?
Has there been a breach of trust?
Has there been financial impropriety, for example improper expense claims or
procedural irregularities?
What was the result or potential result of failing to follow the Code of Conduct?
How serious was the incident?
Does the subject member accept they were at fault?
Did the subject member apologise to the relevant people?
Has the subject member previously been warned or reprimanded for similar
misconduct or failed to follow the Code of Conduct before?
Is the subject member likely to do the same thing again?Page 88



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 59/60

How will the sanction impact on the subject member’s ability to carry out their role?

Sanctions involving restricting access to an authority’s premises or equipment or
contact with officers should not unnecessarily restrict the subject member’s ability to
carry out their responsibilities as an elected representative or co-opted member.

Mitigating factors may include:

an honestly held, although mistaken, view that the action concerned did not
constitute a failure to follow the provisions of the Code of Conduct, particularly
where such a view has been formed after taking appropriate advice;
a councillor’s previous record of good service;
substantiated evidence that the councillor’s actions have been affected by ill-health;
recognition that there has been a failure to follow the Code; co-operation in
rectifying the effects of that failure; an apology to affected persons where that is
appropriate, self-reporting of the breach by the councillor;
compliance with the Code since the events giving rise to the complaint.

Aggravating factors may include:

dishonesty or breaches of trust;
trying to gain an advantage or disadvantage for themselves or others;

bullying;
continuing to deny the facts despite clear contrary evidence;
seeking unfairly to blame other people;
failing to heed appropriate advice or warnings or previous findings of a failure to
follow the provisions of the Code;
persisting with a pattern of behaviour which involves repeatedly failing to abide by
the provisions of the Code.

Publicising the findings

The panel should arrange for a decision notice to be published on the website of any
authorities concerned, and anywhere else the panel considers appropriate.

If the panel finds that the subject member did not fail to follow the authority’s Code of
Conduct, the public summary must say this and give reasons for this finding.

If the panel finds that the subject member failed to follow the Code but that no action
is needed, the public summary should:

Page 89



05/11/2021, 14:31 Guidance on Member Model Code of Conduct Complaints Handling | Local Government Association

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-member-model-code-conduct-complaints-handling 60/60

say that the councillor failed to follow the Code, but that no action needs to be
taken;
outline what happened;
give reasons for the panel’s decision not to take any action.

If the panel finds that a councillor failed to follow the Code and it imposed a sanction,
the public summary should:

say that the councillor failed to follow the Code;
outline what happened;
explain what sanction has been imposed;
give reasons for the decision made by the panel.

The panel’s reports and minutes should be available for public inspection in the same
way as other local authority committee papers.

Appeals

Given that the framework and sanctions are meant to be light-touch and
proportionate, there should be no right of appeal against a decision on a Code of
Conduct complaint.

Page 90



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Liverpool City Region 

Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  24 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  None 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE  
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Liverpool City Region (LCR) Audit and 

Governance Committee with an overview of the internal audit work completed in 
respect of the Combined Authority in the third quarter of 2021-22, in accordance 
with the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee is recommended to: 
 

a. note the outcomes of the audit work undertaken during the period of the  
  report; and 

 
b. note the progress made in the delivery of the approved Internal Audit Plan in 

respect of the Combined Authority. 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service in 
respect of LCRCA in the third quarter of 2021-22.  The report highlights the 
following key points: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate 
systems, CA-specific systems and Merseytravel-specific systems; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance 
indicators detailed in the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme 
(QAIP); and 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

   

Page 91

Agenda Item 5



4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.   
 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
6.1 It is the responsibility of the Combined Authority to establish effective arrangements 

for the management of risk.  Internal Audit reports highlight weaknesses which pose 
a risk to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives and the according 
recommendations assist in mitigating such risks.  Internal Audit work is one strand 
of assurance regarding the effectiveness of the system of internal control and this 
can be utilised to inform the Combined Authority’s view of organisational risk and its 
management. 

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 

Page 92



 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 Internal Audit has made positive progress in the period of this report to deliver the 

Internal Audit Plan 2021-22.   
 
10.2 This report demonstrates how the provision of available Internal Audit resource has 

been utilised to provide appropriate assurance to the Combined Authority. 
 
 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit    
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Internal Audit Update  
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
                         

 
 

INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 

 

 

Audit and Governance Committee 

24 November 2021 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 95



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 

Page 
 

1. Introduction             2 
 

2. Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery         3 
 

3. Corporate Systems            4 
 
4. Combined Authority: Specific Systems         7 

  
5. Merseytravel: Specific Systems          9 

 
6. Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme      11 

 
7. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards        14 
 
Appendices 
 
A- Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 Status Update        16     
  
B - Internal Audit Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority Levels  18          
            

   
       

P
age 96



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 2 
 

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Internal Audit work completed in the third quarter of 2021-22, in respect 

of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22.   
 
1.2 The report is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee to facilitate the discharge of obligations as defined in its 

Terms of Reference to highlight the outcomes of Internal Audit work as a source of assurance on the effectiveness of the 
Combined Authority’s governance, risk and internal control environment.   

 
1.3 Internal Audit is defined as: “an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve 

an organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.” (Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2017) 

 
1.4 The mission of Internal Audit is: “To enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-based and objective 

assurance, advice and insight”. 
 
1.5 This report includes: 
 

 A summary of Internal Audit Plan delivery for the period; 

 Details of work undertaken, and key items of note in respect of corporate systems, Combined Authority-specific systems 
and Merseytravel-specific systems; 

 An update on internal audit performance with reference to the key performance indicators detailed in the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP); and 

 An update on the service’s compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the outcome of the 
recent external assessment. 

  

P
age 97



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 3 
 

2.  Summary of Internal Audit Plan Delivery 
 
2.1 Audits Completed  

  
2.1.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, seven audits were completed. These are shown in Table 1: 
  

Audit Name 
Organisational 
Risk Opinion 

Corporate 
System 

Combined 
Authority 

Merseytravel 

Rolling Stock - IPEMU Proof of Concept Negligible   Y 

Investment Models Minor  Y  

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review Moderate Y   

Absence Management tbc  
Submitted for Audit 
Management review  

Y   

Application Control - Commuter Club Minor   Y 

Asset Management - Service/Maintenance Contracts tbc 
Management review 
completed but Draft 

being held 

 Y  

Financial Sustainability of Transport Operators  Minor   Y 
                                                           Table 1 

 
2.1.2 Appendix A gives a detailed breakdown of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22, showing the status of each item of audit work that 

was contained within the Plan approved by the Committee at its March 2021 meeting.      
          

                                                                                                                                                                  

P
age 98



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 4 
 

3.  Corporate Systems 
 
3.1 Background 
  
3.1.1 Two of the audits completed in the period were of a corporate system that is provided by Merseytravel to both Merseytravel 

and the Combined Authority.  Reporting of the outcomes from the audit work in this area formally falls within the remit of the 
Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board, but as the Combined Authority is a “recipient” of these services, the audit 
findings are also reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.  This is to provide assurance that the risks associated 
with the area are being managed effectively.  

 
3.2 Organisational Risk Opinion  
 
3.2.1 Of the audits completed one is currently under review and the risk opinion is not yet confirmed. The audit of Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing (Corporate Review)  received an organisational risk opinion of  “moderate”, and this indicates that the audit 
identified weaknesses that present a moderate risk to the organisation, and that the risks identified should be considered for 
inclusion within service risk registers (if these have not already been included).  

 
3.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
3.3.1 The audits finalised within the period identified no recommendations classed as “high priority”. 

3.3.2 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 
and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
3.3.3 Table 2 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 

corporate systems:  
 

P
age 99



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 5 
 

 
         Table 2 

  
3.3.4 Significant work has been undertaken with members of SLT to encourage completion of outstanding recommendations, 

particularly those that are long-standing.  This has generated engagement and has prompted fresh focus and action on 
progressing the issues, and consequently a number of recommendations have been closed during the period. 

  
3.3.5 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column 

in table 2 above.  These movements have been the subject of discussions with Internal Audit, and the explanations provided 

P
age 100



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 6 
 

were deemed to be reasonable.  However, there will be ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure that 
timely implementation occurs. 

 
 

                                                                                                                                                                   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 101



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 7 
 

4.  Combined Authority: Specific Systems 
 
4.1 Background 
 
4.1.1 Two of the audits completed in the period were of systems that are specific to Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. 

From a governance perspective, these fall entirely within the remit of the Audit and Governance Committee and would not be 
routinely reported to the Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board.  

 
4.2 Organisational Risk Opinion 
 
4.2.1 Of the audits completed one has been reviewed but the draft report is being held and the risk opinion is not yet confirmed. 

The Investment Models audit received an organisational risk opinion of “Minor”, which means that a satisfactory level of 
assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the 
organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level.  

 
4.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
4.3.1 The audits finalised within the period identified no recommendations classed as “high priority”. 

4.3.2 Table 4 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 
Combined Authority - specific systems:  

 

  
        Table 4 

Year Department Auditable Area High Medium Completed In Progress Overdue High Overdue

Extension 

Requested and 

Agreed

Notes

2021-22 Programme Delivery Race Equality 0 7 0 7 1 n/a No Reminder Sent

2021-22 Tidal QS Procurement 0 10 7 3 3 n/a Yes

2020-21 Investment Pre Payment Assurance 0 3 0 3 0 n/a n/a

2020-21 Policy Coordination Housing First (VFM) 1 14 5 10 4 n/a Yes

2020-21 LEP LEP Governance Annual Review 0 2 1 1 1 n/a Yes

2020-21 Mayoral Programme Delivery Mayoral Programme - Digital 0 8 7 1 1 n/a Yes

2019-20 Investment / PMO / Finance SIF2 Assurance Framework 0 1 0 1 1 n/a No Reminder Sent

Recommendations

P
age 102



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 8 
 

 

4.3.4 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 
and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
4.4 Grant Certification 
 
4.4.1 In the period since the last Internal Audit Update, the following grant claims shown in Table 5, were reviewed, so as to 

confirm compliance with grant conditions: 
  

Grant Name Number of Claims Audited 
 

Value Audited 
(£) 

Careers and Enterprise 5 84,499 

Growth Hub 1 190,013 

Peer Networks 2 45,286 

SIF 12 2,871,949 

SIF Pre-Development Funding 5 107,364 

SIF Skills 3 537,995 

TOTAL 28 3,837,106 
                                                                                      Table 5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 103



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 9 
 

5.  Merseytravel: Specific Systems 
 
5.1 Background 
 
5.1.1 Three of the audits completed in the period were of systems that are specific to Merseytravel. From a governance 

perspective, these fall entirely within the remit of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board, but are also reported to the Audit 
and Governance Committee for information and in the interests of transparency.  

 
5.2 Organisational Risk Opinion 
 
5.1.1 Of the three audits completed, one received an organisational risk opinion of “negligible” which means no risks were 

identified within the review while two received an organisational risk opinion of “minor” which means that a satisfactory level 
of assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls reviewed can be derived, and that the risk presented to the 
organisation by the recommendations made is at a low level.   

   
5.3 Recommendations of Note 
 
5.3.1 The audits finalised within the period identified two recommendations classed as “high priority”. 

5.3.2 This recommendation is detailed in Table 6: 
  

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

Financial Sustainability of Transport 
Operators 

In order to ensure the annual accounts 
and business plan from MEL are 
subject to appropriate review, when 
they are received Rail management 
should discuss and agree with Finance 
any specific issues they are aware of 
that should be considered or any 
specific areas Rail management want 

Agreed in principle 
Report in draft - awaiting formal response 

P
age 104



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 10 
 

Audit Title Recommendation Action Planned by Management 

to be reviewed. As part of this 
discussion, the requirements of the 
Concession Handbook should be 
referred to, to ensure the required 
processes and outputs it sets out are 
complied with. 
The Concession Handbook should be 
updated for any required changes 
identified as part of this discussion. 
 

Financial Sustainability of Transport 
Operators 

In order to ensure the liquidity 
statements from MEL are subject to 
appropriate review, Rail management 
should discuss and agree with Finance 
the process requirements, 
accountability and responsibility for 
their review under clause 14.2 and 
Schedule 10 of the Concession 
Agreement, incorporating this into the 
Concession Handbook, including any 
specific output and assurances 
required. 

Agreed in principle 
Report in draft - awaiting formal response 

                                 Table 6 
 
5.3.3 The implementation of recommendations is subject to ongoing monitoring and where dates of agreed action have passed 

and confirmation of implementation has not been received, Internal Audit contacts managers to establish progress, confirm 
actions completed or agree revised implementation dates, if appropriate.  

 
5.3.4 Table 7 provides a summary of progress in respect of the implementation of previous recommendations made in respect of 

Merseytravel specific systems: 

P
age 105



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 11 
 

  
                                    Table 7 

5.3.5 Significant work has been undertaken with members of SLT to encourage completion of outstanding recommendations, 
particularly those that are long-standing.  This has generated engagement and has prompted fresh focus and action on 
progressing the issues. 

 
5.3.6 A number of recommendations have had their implementation dates revised, and these are shown in the Comments column 

in table 9 above.  These movements have been the subject of discussions with internal audit, and the explanations provided 
were deemed to be reasonable.  However, there will be ongoing attention paid to these recommendations to ensure that 
timely implementation occurs. 

 
  

P
age 106



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 12 
 

6.  Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme  
 
6.1 Performance Update 
 
6.1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require that the service maintains a Quality Assurance and Improvement 

Programme (QAIP) which includes a series of performance measures and associated targets.  
 
6.1.2 Performance measures defined in the QAIP are also included within the Internal Audit Service Plan and are thus reported to 

senior management in accordance with the corporate quarterly performance reporting process.  This provides senior 
management oversight and scrutiny of performance and of any remedial actions required to meet identified targets.  

  
6.1.3 Table 8 below details the performance measures and the results for the period: 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 
This measures the extent to which the Internal Audit 
Service complies with the requirements set out in the 
Standards and the Local Government Application Note. 

100% 100% No variance 
The result of the external assessment details that the service 
fully complies with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. 

Percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 
completed 
This measures extent to which the Audit Plan is being 
delivered. The delivery of the Plan is vital in ensuring 
that an appropriate level of assurance is being provided 
across the organisation’s systems. 

70% 
See Chart 

1 

23% 
See Chart 

1 

Negative Variance 
Sickness absence impacted on completion of 2020-21 
planned work with knock-on effect in respect of 2021-22 
work. 
Two pieces of unplanned reactive work have been requested 
so far in 2021-22.  
The service is on target to have 60% of plan completed / 
underway by end of Q3. 
 

Percentage of recommendations made in 2021-22 
and implemented within a reasonable timescale  
This measures the extent to which managers feel that 
the recommendations made are appropriate and 
valuable in strengthening the control environment and 
also provides the Committee with a view on how 

100% n/a No variance 
No concerns in respect of recommendations made in 2021-
22. 

P
age 107



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 13 
 

Description and Purpose Target Actual Variance and Explanation 

effective management action is in responding to 
recommendations. 

Percentage of client survey responses indicating a 
"very good" or "good" opinion 
This measures the feedback received on the service 
provided and seeks to provide assurance that Internal 
Auditors conduct their duties in a professional manner. 

100% 100% No variance 
Feedback is positive although response levels are low. 

Percentage of annual senior management survey 
responses indicating satisfaction with the Internal 
Audit service provided 
This measures the feedback received from Directors and 
Heads of Service on the service provided and seeks to 
provide assurance that Internal Audit is adding value at 
a strategic level. 

100% N/A Survey will be carried out in Quarter 4. 

     Table 8 
 

Chart 1 below gives a more detailed breakdown of the performance indicator “percentage of the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 
completed”.  These have been profiled to show the percentage of the Plan that is the target for completion each quarter. 
 

P
age 108



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 14 
 

 
Chart 1 

 
6.2 Resources 
 
6.2.1 The Internal Audit service is at full complement.  The team’s resources have not been diverted into any areas of non-audit 

activity during the period.   
 
  

15% 30% 

70% 

100% 

4% 11% 23% 0% 

QUARTER 1 QUARTER 2 QUARTER 3 QUARTER 4 

Completion of the Internal Audit Plan      
2021-22 

(profiled) 

Target Actual

P
age 109



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 15 
 

7. Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 

 
7.1 External Assessment 

 
7.1.1 It is a requirement of the PSIAS that the service must be subject to an external assessment of its compliance with the 

Standards every five years.  The service was subject to such an external assessment (peer review validation of self-
assessment) against the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) in August 2021.  

 
7.1.2 The final report has now been received and this confirms that the outcome of this assessment was that the service fully 

conforms to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.   
 

7.1.3 The recommendations arising from the review, and the associated progress being made to address these, are: 

Recommendation Due Date Comments/Progress 

1. Internal audit should be removed from the grant 
awarding process  
 
Medium priority 
 
At the time of the review, Internal Audit were required to 
audit every grant the CA intends to make to external 
organisations prior to the grant payment being made. This 
effectively makes Internal Audit part of the grant awarding 
process and is therefore a potential impairment to their 
independence and objectivity. The CA’s management 
should review this arrangement and find a solution that 
removes Internal Audit from the grant awarding process, 
ideally by relocating this activity to another part of the 
Authority. 

March 
2022 

Recommendation agreed.  This is a priority for the service and 
discussions are ongoing with a view to removing these 
responsibilities and relocating these elsewhere in the organisation. 

2. Prepare formal service level agreements for the two 
external companies  
 
Low priority 

April 2022 Recommendation agreed.  Service Level Agreements have been 
drafted and will be implemented from 1 April 2022. 

P
age 110



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 16 
 

Recommendation Due Date Comments/Progress 

 
The Service should enter into formal service level 
agreements with the Beatles Story and the Local Enterprise 
Partnership for the internal audit services provided to them. 
 

3. Consider reporting to the senior leadership teams on 
a regular basis  
 
Advisory 
 
It is good practice to report regularly to the Executive 
Leadership Team, not only to discuss progress on 
delivering the audit plan, but to also have a regular dialogue 
on other matters such as corporate issues and emerging 
risks where input from Internal Audit would benefit the 
organisations in achieving their objectives and identifying 
organisation wide issues and risks that could be considered 
for inclusion in the audit plan. 
 

November 
2021  

Completed  
 
Recommendation agreed.  Quarterly attendances at Executive 
Leadership Team to discuss delivery of the audit plan and related 
issues commenced in November 2021 and will continue on a 
quarterly basis. 

4. Consider introducing an annual conformation 
statement to supplement the declarations of interest 
returns 
 
Advisory 
 
It is becoming good practice in local authority internal audit 
services to enhance their annual declarations of interest 
returns by introducing or including a statement for internal 
audit staff to sign to confirm that they have read and 
understood the PSIAS, the core principles for the 
professional practice of internal auditing, the code of ethics, 
and the seven principles of public life (the Nolan Principles). 
The HoIA may wish to consider introducing such a 
statement. 

Q4 2021-
22 and 

annually 
thereafter 

Recommendation agreed.  A statement for the acceptance of the 
various ethical standards will be drafted and all audit staff will be 
required to complete this on an annual basis.  This will follow a 
refresher session with the team on ethics. 

  

P
age 111



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 17 
 

Appendix A: Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 Status Update 
 

 

Auditable Area Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Rating

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

Rolling Stock - Power Supply Project Y MODERATE Commenced

Rolling Stock - Covid-19 Impact Y MODERATE

Rolling Stock - IPEMU Proof of Concept Y MODERATE Negligible Final Report Issued

Rolling Stock - Asset Ownership Y MODERATE

Tidal Power - Procurement Review Y MAJOR Moderate Final Report Issued

Investment Models Y MAJOR Minor Draft Report issued

Investment Schemes - FIF Y MAJOR Commenced

Investment Schemes - tbc Y MAJOR

Investment Schemes - tbc Y MAJOR

SIF2 Assurance Framework Y MAJOR Planned Q3

Learning and Development Y MODERATE Commenced

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Corporate Review Y MODERATE Moderate Draft Report issued

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Office Based Services Y MODERATE Planned Q3

Payroll Y MODERATE

Absence Management Y MODERATE Moderate Mgmt Review Completed

Ethics / Standards of Conduct Y MODERATE

Application Control - Haven System Y MODERATE Moderate Final Report Issued

Application Control - Commuter Club Y MODERATE Minor Draft Report issued

Application Control - SCADA Y MODERATE Commenced

Capital Programme Y MODERATE Commenced

Credit Cards Y MODERATE Planned Q3

Creditors and Cheque Control Y MODERATE

Debtors Y MODERATE Minor Final Report Issued

Governance Assurance Statement 2021-22 Y MODERATE

LCRCA/MT Annual Governance Statement Review 2020-21 Y MODERATE n/a Final Report Issued

Risk Management Y MODERATE Planned Q3

Insurance Claims Y MODERATE

Procurement Y MODERATE

Entity

P
age 112



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 18 
 

 

  

Auditable Area Corporate LCRCA Merseytravel
Organisational Risk 

Rating

Organisational Risk 

Opinion
Status

LEP Governance Annual Review Y MODERATE

LEP Creditors Y MODERATE Commenced

ESIF Y MODERATE Planned Q3

Grant Auditing Arrangements at Local Authorities - Accountable Body 

Status

Y MODERATE Planned Q3

Asset Management - Service/Maintenance Contracts Y MODERATE Mgmt Review Completed

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Asset Management Y MINOR Planned Q3

Financial Sustainability of Operators and Contractors COVID Y MAJOR Minor Final Report Issued

Alternative Delivery Models Y MODERATE Planned Q3

Recovery Partnerships Y MODERATE

Business Continuity Management Y MODERATE

Fast Tag Account Management Y MINOR

Health, Safety and Wellbeing - Operational Transport Y MINOR Planned Q3

Mersey Ferries - New Vessel Y MODERATE

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions Y MINOR

Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation Y MINOR Commenced

Tunnel Tolls Income Recording Y MINOR Minor Final Report Issued

The Beatles Story Y MINOR

Covid-19 Govt Funding Y MODERATE Commenced

Operator of Last Resort Y MODERATE

Rail Operators - Stock Control Y MODERATE Planned Q3

Brexit Impacts Y MAJOR

Freeport Y MODERATE

Adult Education Budget Y MAJOR Commenced

Digital Infrastructure Y MAJOR Planned Q3

Race Equality Y MINOR Moderate Final Report Issued

Back Up Management Y n/a Planned Q3

Proactive BAU Management Y n/a Commenced

Asset Management Y n/a Planned Q3

Cyber Security - Response (NIST) Y n/a

LEP - IT Overview Y n/a Planned Q3

Entity

P
age 113



  
 

Internal Audit Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 19 
 

Appendix B: Organisational Risk Opinions and Recommendation Priority 
Levels 

 

Organisational Risk Opinions 
 

Recommendation Priority Levels 

 

Major 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a major impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Moderate 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a moderate impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Minor 
The risks identified in the review could, if they materialised, 
have a minor impact on the organisation as a whole. 
 

 

Negligible 
No risks were identified within the review. 
  

 

 

High 
The recommendation is essential to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Medium  
The recommendation is important to the management of risk 
within the area under review.   
 

 

Advisory  
The recommendation is a suggestion intended to enhance 
the existing management of risk within the area under 
review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 114



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chair and Members of the Liverpool City Region 

Audit and Governance Committee 
  
Meeting:  24 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  None 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

FRAUD UPDATE 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of managing the risk of 

fraud, bribery and corruption in the organisation.  It details the activity that has been 
undertaken developing the organisation’s approach to managing this risk, and the 
activities planned and in progress by Internal Audit to support this. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee is recommended to: 
 

a. note the report; and 
 

b.  note that the following counter-fraud protocols have been reviewed but no 
significant changes requiring the approval of the Committee have been 
made: 

 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol;  

 Anti-Bribery Protocol;  

 Money Laundering Protocol;  

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol; 

 Surveillance Protocol; and 

 Investigation Protocol. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken in relation to managing 
the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption.  The report highlights the following key 
points: 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



 Background detailing relevant offences and the role of Internal Audit in fraud 

matters; 

 Detail on the recently updated self-assessment exercise on CIPFA’s Code of 

Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local Government 

(2014); 

 Update on the proactive counter-fraud work undertaken by Internal Audit; 

 Update on reactive counter-fraud work undertaken by Internal Audit; and 

 Details on how an anti-fraud culture is being embedded into the organisation. 

The report concludes by confirming that the suite of counter-fraud protocols has 

been reviewed and no significant changes requiring the approval of the Committee 

have been made. 

 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 The report details the criminal offences covered within the fraud, bribery and 

corruption protocol framework.  
 
 

6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  
6.1 The risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is present in any organisation, and it is 

important that the organisation is clear about the level of this risk, and that a range 
of actions is put in place to reduce this risk to a tolerable level.  This report outlines 
these issues and how the organisation, supported by Internal Audit, can ensure the 
continued development of an anti-fraud culture. 

  

Page 116



 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding an anti-fraud 

culture and a robust and effective system for the management of the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption.   

 
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

Contact Officer(s): 

Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   tel: 0151 330 1764 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix 1 - Fraud Update  
Appendix 2 - Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol 
Appendix 3 - Bribery Protocol 
Appendix 4 - Money Laundering Protocol  
Appendix 5 - Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol 
Appendix 6 - Surveillance Protocol 
Appendix 7 - Investigation Protocol. 
 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

FRAUD UPDATE 
 

 

 
Audit and Governance Committee 

24 November 2021 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 
 

P
age 119



 
 

Contents 
 

    
Page 

  
1. Introduction       2    
 
2. Background       3   
    
3. Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption  6 
 
4. Proactive Fraud Work     8 
                
5. Reactive Fraud Work      10 
 
6. Embedding an Anti-Fraud Culture    11 
 
 
      
 
 
 

   

  

P
age 120



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 1 
 
 

1.   Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a detailed update on activity and plans in place to manage the risk of fraud, bribery 
and corruption in the organisation. It supplements the details provided in the Internal Audit Updates presented to each 
meeting of this Committee. 

 
1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference.  It is intended to assist in continuing the progress made to date in 

embedding an anti-fraud culture into the organisation. 

 

1.3 The report covers: 

 

 Background detailing relevant offences and the role of Internal Audit in fraud matters; 

 Detail on the recently updated self-assessment exercise on CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption in Local Government (2014); 

 Update on the proactive counter-fraud work undertaken by Internal Audit; 

 Update on reactive counter-fraud work undertaken by Internal Audit; and 

 Details on how an anti-fraud culture is being embedded into the organisation. 

 

1.4 The report concludes by presenting the suite of counter-fraud protocols to the Committee for information.  These have been 

reviewed and no significant changes requiring the approval of the Committee have been made. 

  

P
age 121



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 2 
 
 

2. Background  
 

2.1 Defining Fraud and Corruption Offences 

2.1.1 Section 1 of the Fraud Act 2006 defined a general offence of fraud and three ways in which it may be committed: 
 

 Fraud by false representation; 

 Fraud by failing to disclose information; and 

 Fraud by abuse of position.  
 
Fraud by false representation requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 The person makes the representation knowing that it is or might be false or misleading.  
 
Fraud by failing to disclose information requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and 

 Failure to disclose information where there is a legal duty to disclose.  
 
Fraud by abuse of position requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 Abuse of a position where one is expected to safeguard another person’s financial interests. 
 

P
age 122



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 3 
 
 

2.1.2 The Bribery Act 2010 has defined the following offences that collectively may be termed “corruption”: 
 

 Offering, promising or giving a bribe; 

 Requesting or agreeing to receive a bribe; 

 Bribery of a foreign public official; and  

 The corporate offense of failing to prevent a bribe. 
 

It is worthy of note that the legislation states that it will be a defence against the corporate offence if an organisation has 
“adequate procedures” in place to prevent bribery.  
 

2.2 Public Sector Statistics 

2.2.1 According to the Government Functional Standard on Fraud, “The government estimates that fraud costs the public sector 
between £31 billion and £53 billion per year and much of this goes undetected”. 

 

2.2.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Counter Fraud Centre (CFC) identifies the main areas 
of fraud within the sector.  Within those areas, the following are of relevance to the Combined Authority: 

 Procurement; 

 Debt; 

 Insurance claims; 

 Economic and voluntary sector (grant fraud); 

 Recruitment; 

 Insider fraud – payroll / expenses/ abuse of work time or position. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 123



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 4 
 
 

2.3 Role of Internal Audit 
 
2.3.1 The role of Internal Audit in respect of counter-fraud is to: 
 

 Prepare and maintain a suite of relevant counter-fraud protocols for the organisation; 

 Promote an anti-fraud culture by raising awareness of fraud issues amongst officers and members, including through the 
provision of counter-fraud training; 

 Facilitate the identification of fraud risks and the subsequent management of these through service delivery areas; 

 Undertake proactive audit work to prevent and detect fraud, including the review of fraud controls (where relevant) in each 
audit review; and 

 Undertake the investigation of frauds perpetrated against the organisation or emanating from within the organisation, 
where this is deemed appropriate, including the subsequent reporting of findings, conclusions and recommendations to 
senior management. 

 
The Head of Internal Audit is also the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO), which entails acting as the 
main contact for receiving reports of suspected money laundering and carrying out the associated reporting.  In respect of 
the Confidential Reporting (“Whistleblowing”) Protocol, the Head of Internal Audit is also designated as one of the recipients 
of such reports, along with Legal and HR officers, but also has the role of monitoring the effectiveness of the Protocol. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
   
  

P
age 124



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 5 
 
 

3. Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption  
 
3.1 CIPFA published the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local Government in 2014. The 

Code is not mandatory, but it represents best practice, and compliance with the principles set out in the Code enables the 
organisation to demonstrate effective financial stewardship of public funds. 

 
3.2 The Code has established a common set of principles for managing the risk of fraud and corruption in local authorities.  
 
3.3 The principles are: 
 

 Acknowledge the responsibility for countering fraud and corruption; 

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

 Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
3.4 Beneath each of these principles, there is a number of performance statements that are used to evaluate the effectiveness 

of the organisation in managing the risk of fraud and corruption.  The document takes the form of a self-assessment that 
examines all aspects of the organisation’s strategic focus on and response to, the risk of fraud and corruption. 

 
3.5 The self-assessment indicated 52% compliance overall with its requirements – which equates to a “basic” level of 

compliance.  However, the most significant element of the self-assessment is the need to establish a Counter-Fraud 
Strategy, and the absence of this has skewed the outcome significantly. However, it is worthy of note that much of the 
activity expected to be included within such a strategy is being undertaken but has not been codified into a single document. 
Robust counter-fraud, bribery and corruption protocols exist (please see section 6.4 of this report) and a plan is in place to 
develop a strategy. The outcomes against each of the principles are detailed in the table below: 

  
 

P
age 125



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 6 
 
 

 
 
 

Principle Compliance Level Key Areas for Development 

Acknowledge Responsibility 63% - Good level of performance  Leadership team to promote fraud awareness 
more explicitly 

 Reference to this self-assessment and the 
effectiveness of the counter-fraud framework to be 
included in the Annual Governance Statement 

 Leadership team to actively explore opportunities 
for fraud prevention/detection  

Identify Risks 41% - Basic level of performance  Risk Management Policy to make explicit mention 
of fraud risk 

 Escalation of significant fraud concerns to happen 
as a matter of course 

 Fraud loss estimates are to be used to inform 
fraud risk assessment 

 Corporate awareness of significant fraud risks to 
be increased 

 Provide fraud awareness and deterrent messaging 
to stakeholders and customers 

Develop a Strategy 1% - Not meeting requirements  A Counter Fraud Strategy needs to be compiled 
and implemented by the organisation (there is a 
range of associated actions that then follow this 
once the Strategy is established).  This should 
encompass the significant counter-fraud actions 
already being undertaken. 

Provide Resources 85% - Meeting the standard  No significant actions arising at this stage 

Take Action 72% - Good level of performance  Reviews of effectiveness of the counter-fraud 
framework (strategy) are not undertaken and 
reported 

P
age 126



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 7 
 
 

 
 
3.6 The actions arising from the self-assessment, including the actions ongoing from the 2020-21 self-assessment, are detailed 

in the following table.  It is worthy of note that whilst Internal Audit will facilitate and support the organisation to implement the 
necessary actions, engagement and input across the organisation, and particularly the support of the Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams, will be necessary so as to ensure success.  

 
Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 

Due Date 
Progress Update 

1 Encourage the Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams to raise awareness of 
counter-fraud issues with their teams, 
including promoting take-up of counter-fraud 
training, discussion of fraud risks and 
controls and exploring opportunities for fraud 
detection and prevention. 
 

Internal Audit to 
facilitate 
 
ELT/SLT to action 

31 March 2022 In Progress 
Head of Internal Audit has discussed with 
ELT and SLT during November 2021. 

2 Risk Management Policy to be updated to 
make explicit mention of fraud risk and its 
treatment, including the escalation of 
significant fraud risks. 
 

Risk Manager 30 September 2022 To be included in the 2022-23 refresh of the 
Policy. 

3 Support the development of fraud risk 
assessment by facilitating fraud risk 
workshops with areas of the business where 
fraud risks are highest and ensuring that the 
results of the workshops are used to inform 
Service Risk Registers.  
Establish regime of regular reminders to 
update fraud risks in Service Risk Registers, 
including consideration of any new/emerging 
fraud/corruption risks. 
Consider the use of fraud loss estimates to 

Risk Manager/Audit 
Manager 

31 March 2022 In progress 
Joint audit and risk workshops are being 
planned to explore fraud risk and ensure this 
is adequately reflected within Service Risk 
Registers.   

P
age 127



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 8 
 
 

Ref Action Responsibility Implementation 
Due Date 

Progress Update 

inform the risk assessment. 

4 Utilising the data gathered from the fraud risk 
assessment, compile and implement a 
Counter- Fraud Strategy for the organisation.  
Once compiled, the effectiveness of the 
Strategy should be evaluated and reported, 
including within the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input from 
ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022  

5 As well as providing internal communications 
on fraud awareness (particularly during 
International Fraud Awareness Week), 
consideration should be given to providing 
fraud awareness and prevention/detection 
messaging to external customer and other 
stakeholders. 

Head of Internal 
Audit with input from 
ELT/SLT 

30 September 2022  

6 Monitor the take-up levels of the Fraud 
Awareness e-learning and follow up to 
completion with Executive and Senior 
Leadership Teams as necessary. 

Head of Internal 
Audit 

31 March 2022 In progress 
Monitoring of take-up levels continues.  487 
members of staff have completed the 
awareness e-learning – this represents 49% 
of the workforce, a small increase on the last 
review. 

7 Monitor the quality and completeness of how 
fraud risks are dealt with in Committee 
reports and provide input to report authors to 
support the written guidance. 

Risk Manager Ongoing In progress 
Risk Manager reviews all Committee reports 
but there will be a particular emphasis on 
fraud, bribery and corruption risks going 
forward.  

Table 1 

 
3.8 This Committee will continue to be kept appraised of the implementation of the actions identified as a result of the self-

assessment through the regular Internal Audit Updates. 
  

P
age 128



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 9 
 
 

4.   Proactive Fraud Work 
 
4.1 Internal Audit Plan 
 
4.1.1 The Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 includes 198 days for proactive counter-fraud work.  It is also of note that key anti-fraud 

controls are also evaluated as part of a significant number of other audits within the Plan.   
 
4.1.2 The Plan includes the following areas of focus: 
  

Audit Title Progress 

Absence Management Commenced 

Credit Cards Commenced 

Creditors and Cheque Control  

Debtors Final report issued 

Insurance Claims  

Fast Tag Account Management  

Mersey Ferries - Ticketing and Admissions  

Travel Centres - Income / Stock Reconciliation Commenced 

Tunnel Tolls Income Recording Final report issued 

Rail Operators - Stock Control Commenced 
Table 2 

 
4.2 National Fraud Initiative 

 
4.2.1 Internal Audit oversees and co-ordinates the organisation’s involvement in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI). This is a 

national exercise, and it is a requirement that the organisation participates. The main NFI data matching is undertaken every 
two years, the results of these matches are fed into a national report at the end of each cycle.  

 

P
age 129



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 10 
 
 

4.2.2 Data from the Payroll, Creditors and concessionary travel systems are uploaded to the dedicated Cabinet Office website and 
are matched with data within and between participating bodies so as to identify potential frauds and errors. On receipt of the 
results, the organisation has responsibility to follow up and investigate the matches.  

 
4.2.3 Matches in respect of the NFI exercise for 2020 were released in January 2021 and the review work is now completed. 
 
4.2.4 A total of 19,023 matches was received in sixteen NFI reports. Investigation into the matches is undertaken with the 

assistance of Payroll, Creditors and IT. It should be noted that the matches are only potential indicators of error or fraud and 
in the majority of cases investigation confirms that no error or fraud has occurred, and it is pleasing to note that this was the 
case in the results of this exercise.  

 
4.2.5 The payroll results along with a piece of audit work on Tidal Procurement has led to the improvement of the system for 

declaring conflicts of interest. All conflicts identified by NFI (where appropriate) have now been declared. 
 

4.2.6 In the case of Concessionary Travel the matches provide the opportunity to update the concessionary pass database with 
details of deceased persons which allows passes to be “hotlisted”.  

 
4.2.7 Duplicate records by creditor name, supplier invoice number and invoice amount report – lead to two repayments by a 

creditor – of a total amount of £3,840.59. 
 

 
 

  

P
age 130



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 11 
 
 

5. Reactive Fraud Work 
 

5.1 There is a provision of 12 audit days in the Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 for the investigation of allegations of fraud, bribery or 
corruption. 

 
5.2 Internal Audit will become involved in the investigation of such allegations where the allegation requires the specialist skills 

possessed by the service.  Such work can entail examination of key records, interviewing staff to obtain information, and 
evaluation of evidence, culminating in the production of a report for management giving recommendations that detail actions 
to address issues identified.  Such reports will conclude on whether, on the basis of the work undertaken, the allegation is 
believed to be founded or not.  The report will often also include details of improvements to the system of internal control 
more widely, so as to strengthen the anti-fraud controls in place.   

 
5.3 During 2021-22 to date, there has not been any significant referrals made to Internal Audit.   
 

5.4 It is also a requirement of the Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol that Internal Audit is notified of any frauds detected 
within the organisation, and so far, this year, no such reports have been received. 

 
 
  

 
 
 
  

P
age 131



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 12 
 
 

6. Embedding an Anti-Fraud Culture 
 
6.1 Fraud Risk 
 
6.1.1 A Fraud Risk Register was prepared in the past for Merseytravel, and this contained specific transport-related fraud risks.  

However, the risks identified had not been placed under the “ownership” of members of Senior Leadership Team (SLT), so 
the Risk Register did not highlight the specific actions to be taken in respect of each risk, and so there was no reflection of 
how the risks were being managed.  In addition, by being held by Internal Audit, the Register gave the false impression that 
it is the responsibility of Internal Audit to manage fraud risks. 

 
6.1.2 So as to make the identification and management of fraud risk more effective, by bringing this under the direct attention of 

members of Senior Leadership Team, an exercise is underway to review and update the identified fraud risks.  Rather than a 
single set of fraud risks being held centrally, each SLT member has relevant fraud risks contained within their Service Risk 
Register.  This is so that they can evaluate the risk for their service, look at how the risk is being managed within the context 
of their service, and propose actions for the continued management of the impact and/or likelihood of each risk.  The Internal 
Audit service is offering workshops to support managers in highlighting and managing fraud risks. 

 
6.1.3 The risks under consideration are: 
  

Generic risks – which would apply to most organisations: 
 

 Cyber and information; 

 Tangible assets; 

 Bribery; 

 Procurement; 

 Creditors; 

 Debtors; 

 Treasury Management; 

P
age 132



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 13 
 
 

 Insurance; 

 False Accounting; 

 Money Laundering; 

 Payroll; and 

 Recruitment.  

 

Specific risks – which relate to the activities of this organisation: 

 

 Misuse of grant funding; 

 Improper use of powers; 

 Falsification of records; 

 Concessionary travel; and 

 Ticketing. 

 
6.2 Engagement with Fraud Groups 
 
6.2.1 Internal Audit participates in the Mersey Region Fraud Group, which is comprised of the constituent local authorities within 

the Combined Authority area.  The group is developing a regional approach to counter fraud, including the production of 
generic policies and procedures and undertaking collaborative working in targeted areas, such as data matching and other 
counter fraud exercises. 

 
6.2.2 Internal Audit also contributes to the North West Chief Audit Executives Counter-Fraud Sub-Group, which develops practical 

solutions to mitigate current and emerging fraud risks and responds to sector-related change and challenges.  For both of 
these groups, however, meetings have stalled as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. 

 
6.2.3 As both of these Groups comprise local authorities, which have a different range of services and associated fraud risks, 

there can be limited applicability to the Combined Authority of some of the activities being undertaken.  The Head of Internal 

P
age 133



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 14 
 
 

Audit engages frequently with her counterparts in other Mayoral Combined Authorities so as to share experiences and 
knowledge, and a comparison of fraud risks has been undertaken so as to ensure that relevant fraud risks have been 
encompassed. 

 
6.3 Training and Awareness 
 
6.3.1 In June 2019, an e-learning package on Fraud Awareness was developed and launched to all staff.  The package is a basic 

introduction, and covers fraud, bribery, corruption and money laundering, and the key actions employees should take to 
prevent and detect fraud in their areas of responsibility. To date, 50% of employees have undertaken the training, and direct 
follow up work with Departments to boost the take-up rates continues.  

 
6.3.2 A fraud awareness campaign is being undertaken in November 2021, to coincide with International Fraud Awareness Week.  

The aim of the week is to heighten the awareness of the scale of fraud in the public sector, to direct all employees to 
complete the Fraud Awareness e-learning course (as highlighted in 6.3.1 above), to read the organisation’s suite of counter-
fraud policies and to encourage them to report any suspicions of fraud that they may have.  

 
6.4 Protocol Framework 
 
6.4.1 Internal Audit has responsibility for maintaining the organisation’s counter-fraud protocols.  These form an important part of 

the management of fraud risk by setting the tone, culture and expectations of the organisation. 
 
6.4.2 The protocols in place comprise the following, which have all received their annual review and are presented for information.  

No significant changes have been made to the protocols: 
 

 Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol;  

 Anti-Bribery Protocol;  

 Money Laundering Protocol;  

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol; 

 Surveillance Protocol; and 

P
age 134



  
 

Fraud Update – Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 15 
 
 

 Investigations Protocol. 
 

6.4.3 Once each protocol receives approval, it is disseminated to staff, like all policies across the organisation, via the 
Insight4Policies (“I4P”) system, which requires staff to read and acknowledge understanding of the policy.  
Acknowledgement levels of the protocols issued previously is at 75%, which is a very positive level.  Follow up work is 
ongoing with Departments to remind all staff to read and acknowledge the protocols. 

 
6.4.4 During the year to date, there have been no reports made to Internal Audit under any of these protocols. It is important that 

the profile of such protocols is raised so that staff feel confident and comfortable in making any reports they deem 
necessary, and that they are aware of their responsibilities in doing so.  An absence of reports under the protocols could 
indicate a lack of awareness or confidence in these matters.  Ongoing work to promote the policies and ensure staff 
awareness and basic training in fraud matters should secure a more positive culture where staff feel able to report any 
issues concerning them. In addition, a range of actions has been agreed with the Executive Leadership Team to foster 
greater awareness and confidence amongst staff.   

 

P
age 135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version V4.2 

Approved By LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee: 20 January 2021 

Merseytravel: 10 February 2021 

Created Date May 2016  

Reviewed Date November 2021 

Date of Next Review November2022 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 
 
 

Page 137



   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 

2. Definition 2 
 
3. Statement 2 
 
4. Scope 3 

 
5. Evaluation 4 
 
6. Responsibilities 4 

 
 
  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 2 
 

1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of this protocol is to demonstrate how the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the 
organisations”) are committed to taking a proactive approach to managing the risks 
associated with bribery.  Having such a protocol is a key element of demonstrating the 
organisations’ compliance with the Bribery Act 2010. 
 
 

2. Definition 
 
Bribery is the provision of a financial or other advantage to someone to encourage that 
person to perform their functions or activities improperly or to reward that person for 
having already done so. 
 
 

3. Statement 
 
The organisations are committed to combating bribery and determined to identify 
employees who abuse their positions of trust or consultants, contractors or suppliers 
who abuse their relationship with the organisations. The organisations have a zero-
tolerance attitude to acts of bribery by anyone associated with the organisations or 
acting on their behalf. 
 
In order to limit its exposure to bribery the organisations will: 
  

 Inform employees how to recognise and prevent the use of bribery by themselves 
and others. 

 

 Encourage the reporting of any suspicion of bribery and treat such reports 
appropriately in accordance with the organisations’ Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Protocol. 

 

 Investigate allegations of bribery and assist the Police or other external agencies in 
any prosecution. 

 

 Take disciplinary action against any employee(s) involved in bribery.  
 
The organisations prohibit the activities detailed in the Bribery Act 2010, and the main 
offences are summarised below (please refer to the legislation at 
www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the provisions of the Bribery Act 2010). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 3 
 

 
1. Bribing another person 
 
This can occur where a person:  
 

 offers, promises or gives a financial or other advantage to another person, and 
intends the advantage: 
 to induce a person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity, or 
 to reward a person for the improper performance of such a function or activity. 

  

 offers, promises or gives a financial or other advantage to another person, and 
knows or believes that the acceptance of the advantage would itself constitute the 
improper performance of a relevant function or activity. 

 
2.  Being bribed 
 
This can occur where a person: 
 

 requests, agrees to receive or accepts a financial or other advantage intending that, 
in consequence, a relevant function or activity should be performed improperly  

 

 requests, agrees to receive or accepts a financial or other advantage, and the 
request, agreement or acceptance itself constitutes the improper performance by 
the person of a relevant function or activity. 

 

 requests, agrees to receive or accepts a financial or other advantage as a reward 
for the improper performance of a relevant function or activity. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
This protocol applies to all employees. It is expected that agents, consultants, 
contractors, suppliers and any other people or bodies associated with the 
organisations will act in a manner consistent with this policy. 
 
This protocol is not meant to prohibit the following activities, providing these are 
proportionate, compliant with the guidance detailed in the Gifts and Hospitality Policy 
and properly recorded in accordance with that Policy: 
  

 the giving or receiving of appropriate gifts; 
 

 the provision or acceptance of appropriate hospitality;  
 

 the use of any recognised fast-track process which is available to all on payment of 
a fee.  

 
Inevitably, decisions as to what is acceptable may not always be easy.  If there is 
doubt as to whether a potential act constitutes bribery, the matter should be referred to 

Page 140



   
 

Anti-Bribery Protocol Page | 4 
 

the relevant Head of Service or if necessary, the Head of Internal Audit. However, 
where doubt exists, a prudent approach is advisable. 
 
 

5. Evaluation 
 
This protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of Internal 
Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the protocol will be presented for approval to 
the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a 
minimum, the protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
 
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for deploying this protocol across the 
organisations. 
  
Heads of Service are responsible for maintaining effective systems of internal control 
to protect against bribery and report any suspicions where these exist. 
 
 
 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version V5.2 

Approved By LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee: 20 January 2021 

Merseytravel: 10 February 2021 

Created Date August 2015 

Reviewed Date November 2021 

Date of Next Review November 2022 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

Page 143



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 
2. Statement 2 
 
3. Scope 2 
 
4. Evaluation 2 
 
5. Responsibilities 2 

 
6. Anti-Money Laundering Procedures 3 

 
 Introduction         3 
 
 What is Money Laundering?       3 
 
 What laws exist to control Money Laundering?    4 
 
 What are the obligations on the Organisations?    4 
 
 What are the implications for the Organisations or the individual?  5 
 
 How can money laundering be spotted?     6 
 
 What is the Client Identification procedure?     6 
 
 What should I do or not do if I suspect a case of Money Laundering? 7 

 
What will the Money Laundering Reporting Officer do with a  
disclosure?         8 
 

7. Appendices 10 
 

 Appendix A: Money Laundering Reporting Form 10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 2 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This protocol aims to ensure the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 
and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) have a planned 
approach should concerns in respect of money laundering arise. 
 
 

2. Statement 
 
The organisations have adopted the underlying principles of the Terrorism Act 2000 
and 2006, Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, the Criminal Finances Act 2017 and the 
Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing (Amendment) Regulations 2019. This is in 
order to mitigate the risk of the organisations, or any employee of the organisations, 
being implicated in money laundering and related criminal offences. 
 
The organisations will also ensure that where Executive Directors and employees may 
become exposed to money laundering, they are made fully aware of this guidance and 
are suitably trained. 
 
The organisations encourage Executive Directors and employees to report any 
concerns about money laundering in the organisations. 
 
The organisations will fully support the Police and other external agencies in any 
investigations regarding money laundering. 
 
 

3. Scope 

 
This protocol will be implemented through the Anti-Money Laundering Procedures, 
which can be found at section 6 of this protocol.  This protocol applies to all 
employees. 
 
 

4. Evaluation 
 
This protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of Internal 
Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the protocol will be presented for approval to 
the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a 
minimum, the protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
 
 

5. Responsibilities 
 
The Head of Internal Audit will act as the organisations‟ Money Laundering Reporting 
Officer (MLRO) and is responsible for deploying this protocol across the organisations,  
monitoring its implementation and dealing with any suspicions of money laundering. 

Page 145



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 3 
 

 
Heads of Service are responsible for maintaining effective systems of internal control 
that will ensure the Anti-Money Laundering Procedures are followed. 
 
 

6. Anti-Money Laundering Procedures 
 
Introduction  
 
The organisations are committed to the highest legal, ethical and moral standards in 
the conduct of their business. The consequences of the organisations or any of their 
Directors or employees facing prosecution under the money laundering legislation 
would be very serious and reflect poorly not only on the individual(s) involved, but on 
the organisations as a whole. 
 
As public bodies, the organisations are unlikely to be a prime target for money 
laundering, however, the size and scope of services provided is such that it is not 
possible to be wholly immune from the risks surrounding money laundering. 
 
In order to mitigate this risk, the organisations have embraced the underlying 
principles behind the money laundering legislation and regulations.  
 
This Anti-Money Laundering Protocol and the Procedures are part of the 
organisations‟ commitment to creating an anti-fraud and corruption culture. The 
procedures are designed to help Directors and employees familiarise themselves with 
the legal and regulatory requirements relating to money laundering and detail the 
reporting arrangements that have been put in place.  
 
It should be noted that the professional bodies of some employees (e.g. accountants 
and solicitors, who are more likely to be exposed to money laundering practices) have 
issued guidance on personal obligations and responsibilities relating to money 
laundering, and those employees who are members of such bodies should familiarise 
themselves with that guidance. 
 
What is Money Laundering? 
 
Money laundering is the term used for several offences involving the proceeds of 
crime or terrorism. These include possessing, or in any way dealing with, or 
concealing, or converting the proceeds of any crime, as well as funds likely to be used 
for terrorism, or the proceeds of terrorism.  
 
Money laundering is generally used to describe the activities of organised criminals 
converting the proceeds of crime into legitimate activities, thus hiding their true 
sources. The original legislation and regulations were designed to combat the scale of 
this criminal activity. However, current legislation covers all proceeds of crime, both 
money and property, regardless of how small the value.  
 
To most people who are likely to come across it, money laundering involves a 
suspicion that someone they are dealing with is benefiting financially from dishonest 

Page 146



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 4 
 

activities. Hence, for employees this could be the attempt to transact legitimate 
business with the organisations using assets and monies derived from the proceeds of 
crime or terrorism. 
 
What laws exist to control Money Laundering? 
 
The principal legislation and regulations relating to money laundering are the 
Terrorism Act 2000 and 2006, Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, the Criminal Finances Act 
2017 and the Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing (Amendment) Regulations 
2019. A notable aspect of this legislation is that the burden for identifying acts of 
money laundering was significantly shifted from Police and Government agencies to 
organisations and their employees.  Whilst the main offences are summarised below, 
please refer to the legislation at www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the 
provisions of the relevant Acts of Parliament. 
 
There are three primary offences of: concealing, arranging and acquisition, use or 
possession: 
 

 „concealing‟ is where someone knows or suspects a case of money laundering, but 
conceals or disguises its existence; 

 „arranging‟ is where someone involves himself or herself in an arrangement to assist 
money laundering;  

 „acquisition‟, „use‟, or „possession‟ is where someone seeks to benefit from money 
laundering by acquiring, using, or possessing the property concerned; and 

 making a disclosure which is likely to prejudice the investigation. 

 
There are also two third party offences of failing to disclose a primary offence, and 
tipping off: 
 

 „failing to disclose a primary offence‟ is where someone becomes aware or suspects 
money laundering, but fails to take action in reporting it; and 

 „tipping off‟ is where someone informs a person who is, or is suspected of being, 
involved in money laundering, in such a way as to reduce the likelihood of being 
investigated, or prejudicing an investigation. 

 
Money laundering offences may be committed by an organisation itself, as well as by 
the Directors and employees working within it. 
 
What are the obligations on the Organisations? 
 

The Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the 
Payer) Regulations 2017 require the identification and monitoring of clients on a risk-
sensitive basis. Where “relevant business” is undertaken clients need to be subject to 
some form of risk-based due diligence.  
 
Organisations conducting “relevant business” must: 

 Appoint a Money Laundering Reporting Officer (“MLRO”) to receive disclosures 
from employees of money laundering activity; 

 Maintain client identification procedures in certain circumstances; 

Page 147

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 5 
 

 Maintain record keeping procedures; and 

 Implement a disclosure procedure to enable the reporting of suspicions of money 
laundering. 

 
Most of the organisations‟ business is not defined in the regulations as being relevant, 
however some activities are undertaken that may be considered to be regulated for 
example, treasury services, financial and accounting services, audit services, estate 
functions, assisting the formation, operation or arrangement of a company. 
 
These activities are not undertaken by way of business in providing a service to 
external clients and therefore there would not normally be an expectation to undertake 
due diligence.  However, it is good practice that wherever the organisations do enter 
into such activities with a third party then due diligence checks are actioned before the 
establishment of a relationship/transaction with the third party and enhanced customer 
due diligence should apply to any cases with a high risk of money laundering (e.g. 
transaction is unusually large or transaction has no apparent economic reason) 
 

In those cases where the client is another public or statutory body the risk assessment 
indicates that no further due diligence about the status of the client is needed. 
However, for other third-party clients or politically exposed persons (1) there needs to 
be formal and recorded due diligence checks. 
 
(1)  A politically exposed person is defined in the regulations as a person “who is or has, 

at any time in the preceding year been entrusted with a prominent public function by 
a state other than the United Kingdom, a European Community institution or an 
international body”, in addition family members or known close associates of such a 
person should be included.  

 
What are the implications for the Organisations or the individual? 
 
While the risk of the organisations contravening legislation is low, nonetheless it is the 
responsibility of every Director and employee to be vigilant, and to be aware of the 
requirement to report actual or suspected cases of money laundering. 
 
A failure to disclose a suspicion of money laundering is a serious offence in itself and 
could result in serious criminal charges and/or sanctions being imposed on the 
organisations and/or the individual concerned.  
 
There is no financial threshold below which the obligation to recognise and report 
suspicion does not apply and there are only very limited grounds in law for not 
reporting a suspicion.  
 
Depending on the severity of such an offence, the Magistrates‟ Court can issue fines 
of up to £5,000 or sentences of up to 6 months in prison (or both). Where such an 
offence is tried in the Crown Court fines are unlimited and sentences of up to 14 years 
may be handed out. 
 
Civil penalties for non-compliance with the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and 
Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 also apply, including 

Page 148



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 6 
 

fines, prohibition on individual to hold a certain office. Such penalties are imposed by 
HM Revenue and Customs. 
 
How can money laundering be spotted? 
 
It is not possible to provide an exhaustive list of the ways to spot money laundering or 
state every scenario in which you should be suspicious. 
  
However, the following are examples of possible „indicators of suspicion‟ for money 
laundering activity: 
 

 transactions which have no apparent purpose, and which make no obvious 
economic sense; 

 where the transaction being requested by the client, without reasonable 
explanation, is out of the ordinary range of services normally requested or is outside 
the experience of the organisation in relation to the particular client; 

 where, without reasonable explanation, the size or pattern of transactions is out of 
line with any pattern that has previously emerged; 

 where the client refuses to provide the information requested without reasonable 
explanation; 

 where cash been tendered which significantly exceeds the amount of the debt; 

 where a debt has been paid twice or more and a refund of the balance been 
requested; 

 where a client who has entered into a business relationship uses the relationship for 
a single transaction or for a very short period of time; 

 the extensive use of offshore accounts, companies or structures in circumstances 
where the client‟s needs do not support such economic requirements; 

 unnecessary routing of funds through third-party accounts; and 

 unusual investment transactions without an apparently discernible profitable motive. 
 
What is the Client Identification procedure? 

 
Where activities are undertaken that may be considered to be regulated then Client 
Identification should be carried out before any business is undertaken for that client.  
 
In the case of non-regulated activities, there may be situations where funds are 
received from an unfamiliar source. For instance, if a new business relationship is 
formed or consideration is given to undertaking a significant one-off transaction. In 
such cases it would be prudent to identify fully the parties involved.  

 
Cashiers may be asked in the normal course of their work to accept payment in large 
amounts of cash for the settlement of debts. Amounts exceeding £2,500 cannot be 
accepted without establishing the identity of the individual/company involved to seek to 
ensure that the risk of receiving the proceeds of crime can be minimised. 

 
If more than £2,500 is offered, the person offering it should be advised that it is not the 
organisations‟ policy to accept large amounts of cash of more than £2,500 and that the 
transaction will have to be referred to a senior member of staff. 
 

Page 149



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 7 
 

 
To establish the identities of individuals, their passport or photo driving licence should 
be provided, together with one of the following: 

 

 Utility bills i.e. electricity, water etc. however mobile phone bills are not acceptable; 

 Mortgage/building society/bank statements; 

 Credit card statements; and 

 Pension or benefit books. 
 

If passport or photo driving licence is not available, then two of the other items listed 
above will need to be produced. 
 

 For companies, a Companies House search should be undertaken to confirm 
the existence of the company and identify the directors. Personal identification 
should then be obtained for the representatives of the company together with 
proof of their authority to act on behalf of the company. Care should be taken if 
it becomes clear that the individual has only recently become a director of the 
company or if there has been a recent change in the registered office. Any 
discrepancies between the information held on customers compared with the 
information held in the Companies House Register should be reported to 
Companies House. The organisation also needs to understand the ownership 
and control structure of its corporate customers, and record any difficulties 
encountered in identifying beneficial ownership.  Beneficial ownership is the 
ownership or control of at least 25% of a company‟s share capital or voting 
rights, or who otherwise influence a company‟s operations. 

 
 For any other type of organisation, for example a sole trader or partnership, 

personal identification should be obtained for the individuals together with 
documents indicating their relationship to the organisation. 

 
 In certain circumstances, such as when there are relevant transactions between 

parties based in high-risk third countries, an assessment of the need for 
enhanced due diligence (EDD) and seeking additional information and 
monitoring may be required. 

  
Should client identification be necessary, guidance on performing the due diligence 
checks can be obtained from the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO). 

 
Legislation requires that records of any evidence obtained in support of the 
identification of a client along with details of all relevant business transactions with the 
client must be kept on file for five years after the end of the business relationship. This 
is so that they can be referred to later if a money laundering investigation was ever to 
be conducted. 

 
In practice client identification evidence must be sent to the MLRO while the 
organisations‟ departments will be routinely making records of work carried out for 
clients in the course of normal business and these should suffice. 
 
 

Page 150



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 8 
 

 
What should I do or not do if I suspect a case of Money Laundering? 

 

You should report any suspicious transactions or concerns as soon as practicable to 
the MLRO using the Money Laundering Reporting Form (see Appendix A). This should 
be done within “hours” of the concern arising and not weeks or months later, and 
wherever possible, the form should be delivered in person. 

 
A report can be made to the MLRO in the form of a request for consent to undertake a 
transaction if the Director or employee making the disclosure is concerned that he/she 
may commit a prohibited act in processing a transaction.  
 
You should also report any complaints you receive from a member of the public in 
relation to possible criminal activity being carried out by someone who may be a 
customer of the organisations. 
 
Once you have reported the matter to the MLRO you must follow any directions given 
to you by the MLRO. You must NOT make any further enquiries into the matter 
yourself. The MLRO will consider the report and any necessary investigation will be 
undertaken by the National Crime Agency (NCA). All members of staff will be required 
to co-operate during any subsequent money laundering investigation. 
 
Similarly, at no time and under no circumstances should you voice any suspicions to 
the person(s) whom you suspect of money laundering, even if the NCA has given 
consent to a particular transaction proceeding. If you do, you may commit a criminal 
offence of “tipping off” which may render you liable to prosecution personally. 
 
Do not, therefore, make any reference on a client file to an anti-money laundering 
report having been made to the NCA. Should the client exercise their right to see the 
file, then such a note will obviously tip them off to the report having been made and 
may render you liable to prosecution. The MLRO will keep the appropriate records in a 
confidential manner.  
 
What will the Money Laundering Reporting Officer do with a disclosure? 
  
Upon receipt of a disclosure report the MLRO must note the date of receipt on the 
relevant section and acknowledge receipt of it. The MLRO will advise the Director or 
employee making the disclosure of the timescale for receiving a response. 
 
The MLRO will consider the report and any other relevant information in order to 
ensure that all available information is taken into account in deciding whether a report 
to the NCA is required (such enquiries being made in such a way as to avoid any 
appearance of tipping off those involved). Other relevant internal information may 
include: 
 

 Reviewing other transaction patterns and volumes;  

 The length of any business relationship involved;  

 The number of any one-off transactions and linked one-off transactions; and  

 Any identification evidence held;  

Page 151



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 9 
 

 
The MLRO may also need to discuss the report with the Director or employee making 
the disclosure. 
 
Once the MLRO has evaluated the disclosure report and any other relevant 
information a decision will be made as to whether:  
 

 There is actual or suspected money laundering taking place; or  

 There are reasonable grounds to know or suspect that is the case; and  

 Whether they needs to seek consent from the NCA for a particular transaction to 
proceed. 

Where the MLRO does so conclude, then the matter must be disclosed as soon as 
practicable to the NCA unless there is reasonable excuse for non-disclosure to the 
NCA (for example, a lawyer wishing to claim legal professional privilege for not 
disclosing the information). Disclosure is by means of a Suspicious Activity Report 
(SAR). NCA‟s preferred method of reporting is electronic using “SAR Online”.  
 
Where the MLRO suspects money laundering but has a reasonable excuse for non-
disclosure, then this must be noted on the report accordingly; consent can then be 
given for any on-going or imminent transactions to proceed.  
 
In cases where legal professional privilege may apply, the MLRO must liaise with the 
Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer to decide whether there is a reasonable 
excuse for not reporting the matter to the NCA.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 10 
 

 
 

7. Appendices 
 

APPENDIX A 

CONFIDENTIAL 
MONEY LAUNDERING REPORTING FORM 

 
DATE OF REPORT  

 
EMPLOYEE DETAILS 
 

Name  
Directorate / Department  
Telephone number  

 
DETAILS OF SUSPECTED OFFENCE 

 

Name and address of person(s) involved:  
[if a company/public body please include details of nature of business]  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Nature, value and timing of activity involved:  
[Please include full details e.g. what, when, where, how. Continue on a separate sheet if necessary]  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Nature of suspicions regarding such activity:  
[Please continue on a separate sheet if necessary]  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 153



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 11 
 

 
 

Has any investigation been undertaken (as far as you are aware)?  
[Please tick the relevant box below]  

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Have you discussed your suspicions with anyone else?  
[Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details explaining why such discussion was necessary: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Have you consulted any supervisory body guidance re money laundering? (e.g. the Law 
Society) [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 154



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 12 
 

 

Do you feel you have a reasonable excuse for not disclosing the matter to the NCA? (e.g. are 
you a lawyer and wish to claim legal professional privilege) [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Are you involved in a transaction which might be a prohibited act under sections 327- 329 of 
the Act and which requires appropriate consent from the NCA? [Please tick the relevant box 
below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please provide details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Please set out any other information you feel is relevant: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Signed: ....................................................................  Dated: .....................................................................   

 
Please do not discuss the content of this report with anyone you believe to be involved in the 
suspected money laundering activity described. To do so may constitute a tipping off offence, 
which carries a maximum penalty of 5 years‟ imprisonment. 
 

 

Page 155



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 13 
 

THE FOLLOWING PART OF THIS FORM IS FOR COMPLETION BY THE MLRO 

 

Date Report Received  
Date Receipt of Report Acknowledged  
 

Consideration of disclosure 
 

Action Plan:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Outcome of consideration of disclosure 
 

Are there reasonable grounds for suspecting money laundering activity? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

If there are reasonable grounds for suspicion, will a report be made to the NCA? [Please tick the 
relevant box below] 

 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please confirm date of report to NCA: 
 
 
 
Details of liaison with the NCA regarding the report: 
 
Notice Period: …………………….. to ……………………….. 
  
Moratorium Period: …………………….. to …………………… 
 
   

 
 
 

Is consent required from the NCA to any ongoing or imminent transactions which would 
otherwise be prohibited acts?  [Please tick the relevant box below] 

 

Page 156



 
 

Anti-Money Laundering Protocol Page | 14 
 

Yes   No  

 

If yes, please confirm full details: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date consent received from NCA: 
 
 
Date consent given by you to employee: 
 
 
 

 
 

If there are reasonable grounds to suspect money laundering, but you do not intend to report 
the matter to the NCA, please set out below the reason(s) for non-disclosure: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date consent given by you to employee: 
 
  

 
 

Please set out any other information you feel is relevant: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Signed: ....................................................................  Dated: .....................................................................   
 
 
 

THIS REPORT TO BE RETAINED FOR AT LEAST FIVE YEARS FROM 
THE DATE OF THE REPORT 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Protocol 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version V5.1 

Approved By LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee: 20 January 2021 

Merseytravel: 10 February 2021 

Created Date May 2016 

Reviewed Date November 2021 

Date of Next Review November 2022 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 

Page 159



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 

2. Definitions 2 
 

3. Statement 3 
 
4. Scope 3 
 
5. Evaluation 4 
 
6. Responsibilities 4 

 

7. Guidance 5
  
 How to Raise a Concern 5 
 
 Anonymous Allegations 5 
 
 Untrue Allegations 6 

 
 How a Concern will be responded to      6 
 
 How the Matter can be taken further      7 

 
8. Appendices 

 
Appendix A: Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 8 
 
Appendix B: Contact List 9 
 
Appendix C: Confidential Reporting Form 10 

  
 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 2 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This protocol establishes the arrangements for the reporting of concerns 
(“whistleblowing”) by an employee and others, including agency / temporary workers, 
contractors and trainees of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority or 
Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the organisations”). It outlines how a concern 
can be raised internally, rather than overlooking the matter or “blowing the whistle” 
externally. 
 
The organisations have adopted this Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol 
and associated guidance to advise those to whom the protocol applies how to raise 
concerns confidentially and without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination or 
disadvantage. 
 
This protocol and guidance aim to:  
 

 Encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns; 

 Reassure you that the organisations take Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) 
seriously; 

 Provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback on any 
action taken; 

 Ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are aware of how 
to pursue them if you are not satisfied; and  

 Reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or victimisation if 
you have a reasonable belief that you have made any disclosure in the public 
interest and in accordance with the Protected Disclosure Provisions. 

 
This Protocol does not replace the Corporate Complaints Procedure, Disciplinary 
Policy, Grievance Policy or the Health and Safety Incident Reporting Procedure, and 
reference should be made to these policies in determining the appropriate route for 
raising the concern. 
 

2. Definitions 
 
Confidential Reporting or “Whistleblowing” is the term used when an employee raises 
a concern about wrongdoing or malpractice in the workplace that has a public interest 
aspect to it. Officially, this is called “„making a disclosure in the public interest”. 
Whistleblowing is important to protect and reassure the workforce, and to maintain a 
healthy working culture and an efficient organisation. 
 
A grievance or private complaint is a dispute about an employee‟s own employment 
position and has no public interest dimension. The Grievance Policy exists to enable 
an employee or group of employees to raise a “grievance” or complaint relating to their 
own employment. 
 
 
 
 

Page 161



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 3 
 

3. Statement 
 
The organisations will: 
 

 Investigate all concerns which fall within the scope of this Protocol; 

 Respond quickly when concerns are raised; 

 Inform persons bringing concerns forward of the outcome of any investigation 
subject to legal constraints; 

 Implement appropriate actions to remediate any wrongdoing proven as a result 
of the whistleblowing concern, and learn appropriate lessons; 

 Treat all concerns in confidence and make every effort not to reveal the identity 
of the whistleblower without consent, unless required by law; 

 Not tolerate harassment of employees or any other person who brings forward 
a concern;  

 Endeavour to ensure that employees are not discriminated against or suffer 
detriment as a result of raising a concern; and 

 Take appropriate action in the event of an individual suffering detriment as a 
result of raising a concern. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
This Protocol covers employees and others, including agency / temporary workers, 
contractors and trainees. There is no minimum period of service and no age limits. 

 
The organisations‟ Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol is intended to 
cover any concerns that fall within the scope of a “protected disclosure” under the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998.  This relates to “any disclosure of information 
which, in the reasonable belief of the worker making the disclosure, tends to show one 
or more of the following — 
 
a. that a criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely to be 
committed, 
 
b. that a person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any legal 
obligation to which he is subject, 
 
c. that a miscarriage of justice has occurred, is occurring or is likely to occur, 
 
d. that the health or safety of any individual has been, is being or is likely to be 
endangered, 
 
e. that the environment has been, is being or is likely to be damaged, or 
 
f. that information tending to show any matter falling within any one of the preceding 
paragraphs has been, is being or is likely to be deliberately concealed.” 
 

Page 162



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 4 
 

Protection for employees who “whistleblow” is documented in the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998.  A summary of the main provisions of the PIDA is 
attached at Appendix A of this protocol (please refer to the legislation at 
www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the provisions of the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 1998). 
 
 

5. Evaluation 
 
This Protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of Internal 
Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the Protocol will be presented for approval to 
the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a 
minimum, the Protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
 
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation of 
the procedures detailed in this Protocol. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for the implementation and day-to-day 
monitoring of this Protocol and making staff aware of this Protocol. 
 
The organisations are committed to the highest legal, ethical and moral standards in 
the conduct of their business.  In line with that commitment it is expected that 
employees who are either aware of malpractice, or suspect it, to report it in 
accordance with this Protocol. 
 
When bringing forward a concern it is the responsibility of individual employees to 
have a reasonable belief that the concern raised is substantially true and is made in 
the public interest. An employee doing so in the public interest will be protected 
against recriminations, victimisation or harassment. This applies even if, after 
investigation, the disclosure is found to be incorrect or unfounded. 
 
All concerns will be treated in confidence and every effort will be made not to reveal 
the identity of the Whistleblower without consent, unless required by law. However, a 
Whistleblower may be asked to make a statement or come forward as a witness, for 
example, during disciplinary proceedings. 
 
If an allegation is found to have been made when known to be false, this will not be 
protected as the disclosure cannot be in the public interest. Such allegations will be 
treated as serious misconduct and may result in disciplinary action against the 
employee who made the disclosure. 
 
The organisations will uphold the principles of employment and criminal law and 
protect as far as it is reasonable to do so, the rights of any person accused of 
wrongdoing.   
 

Page 163

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 5 
 

Any investigation into allegations of potential malpractice will be conducted with 
confidentiality and will not influence or be influenced by any disciplinary or redundancy 
procedures that already affect you. 
 
All employees should familiarise themselves with this Protocol and if necessary, seek 
clarification from their Line Manager, or any of the officers detailed in the contact list at 
Appendix B. 
 
 

7. Guidance 
 
How to Raise a Concern 
 
Where you have a concern that falls under the scope of the Protocol, the organisations 
encourage you to raise your concerns internally, rather than overlooking the matter or 
“blowing the whistle” externally. You should normally raise your concerns initially with 
your immediate supervisor or manager. However, depending on the seriousness and 
sensitivity of matter you may choose to raise your concerns outside of your direct line 
management. A list of contact officers with whom concerns can be confidentially raised 
or further advice and guidance can be sought is attached at Appendix B.   
 
Concerns may be raised verbally or in writing.  The earlier you express the concern 
the easier it is for the organisations to take appropriate action.  There is a reporting 
form at Appendix C, which will assist you in reporting the relevant details of the 
concern. All confidential reports received are also reported to the Head of Internal 
Audit for monitoring purposes. 
 
 
Although you are not expected to prove beyond doubt the truth of an allegation, you 
will need to demonstrate to the person contacted that there are reasonable grounds for 
your concern. 
 
You may wish to consider discussing your concern with a colleague first and you may 
find it easier to raise the matter if there are two (or more) of you who have the same 
concerns.  
 
You may invite your trade union, professional association representative, a friend or 
legal advisor to be present during any meetings or interviews in connection with the 
concerns you have raised.  
 
Anonymous Allegations 
  
You are encouraged to put your name to your allegation whenever possible. Concerns 
expressed anonymously can be more difficult to investigate / substantiate but will be 
considered at the organisations‟ discretion. 
 
In exercising this discretion, the factors to be considered would include: 
 

 The seriousness of the issues raised; 

Page 164



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 6 
 

 The credibility of the concern; and 

 Available evidence / sources from which to substantiate the concern. 
 

Untrue Allegations 
 
In accordance with the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013, there is no 
requirement for disclosures to be true in order for whistleblowers to receive statutory 
protection. Therefore, if you report a suspicion of malpractice that is found not to be 
substantiated following an investigation, you will be protected under the Confidential 
Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol. 
 
However, any allegation that you make which you know to be false is not protected, as 
the disclosure would not be in the public interest. This could result in formal 
disciplinary action being taken against you. 
 
How a Concern will be responded to 
 
The organisations will respond to your concerns. However, investigating your concerns 
is not the same as either accepting or rejecting them. 
 
There may be a range of issues raised under this Protocol and, depending upon the 
nature of the concern, the most appropriate officer to investigate will be determined.  
 
Concerns or allegations which fall within the scope of specific policies and procedures 
(for example, discrimination issues) will normally be referred for consideration under 
those procedures. 
 
In order to protect individuals and those that are the subject of a concern, initial 
enquiries will be made to decide whether an investigation is appropriate and, if so, 
what form it should take, in accordance with the Investigation Protocol.  If appropriate, 
an issue may be referred to the Police or to the organisations‟ appointed External 
Auditor. 
 
Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for investigation.  
If urgent action is required, this will be taken before any investigation is conducted. 
 
Within ten working days of a concern being raised, the person to whom you made the 
complaint in the first instance will write to you: 
 

 Acknowledging that the concern has been received; 

 Indicating how the organisations propose to deal with the matter; 

 Estimating how long it will take to provide a final response; 

 Telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made; 

 Supplying you with information on staff support mechanisms and; 

 Telling you if no further investigations will take place and the reason/s for this. 
 
Officers investigating your concerns may need to contact you to obtain further 
information or clarify points raised. Where any meeting is arranged, you can be 

Page 165



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 7 
 

accompanied by a union or professional association representative or a workplace 
colleague. 
 
The organisations will take steps to minimise any difficulties that you may experience 
as a result of raising a concern.  For instance, if you are required to give evidence in 
criminal or disciplinary proceedings, arrangements will be made for you to receive 
advice about the procedure, if you require it. 
 
In the event that a colleague makes a protected disclosure and suffers any detriment, 
the organisations can be vicariously liable for the actions of the perpetrator, unless 
they can demonstrate they took all reasonable steps to prevent this happening.  
Employees can also be personally liable if they subject a colleague to a detriment in 
such regard. 
 
The organisations accept that you need to be assured that the matter has been 
properly addressed. Thus, subject to legal constraints, you will be informed of the 
outcome of any investigation. 
 
How the Matter can be taken further 
 
The Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol documents how concerns can be 
raised internally and how the organisations will deal with these.  If you are not satisfied 
with the organisations‟ response you may wish to contact the following: 
 

 The External Auditor; 

 Your Trade Union; 

 Your local Citizens Advice Bureau or Solicitor; 

 Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations; 

 The Police; 

 Your Member of Parliament. 
 
If you do report the matter externally, you should ensure that you do not disclose 
confidential information acquired during your employment unless it falls within the 
qualifying criteria for protected disclosures. Premature or inaccurate media exposure 
or adverse publicity may cause needless reputational damage, impede a proper 
investigation or cause unnecessary distress to individuals. 

  

Page 166



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 8 
 

APPENDIX A 
 
Public Interest Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998 
 
PIDA builds on existing employment protection legislation in the Employment Rights 
Act 1996. It makes it unlawful to subject a worker to any detriment for making what is 
known as a “Protected Disclosure”. Further provisions on whistleblowing are also 
included in the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013. 
 
The “Protected Disclosure” provisions have two aims: 
 
1. To ensure concerns about malpractice is brought to the attention of the appropriate 

person who can deal with the issue quickly and effectively - and who can be held 
accountable if the concerns are not dealt with properly; 
 

2. To encourage whistle-blowers to behave responsibly (for example to avoid leaking a 
story to the media). 

 
There are three legal definitions of what constitutes a „protected disclosure‟: 
 
1. Nature of the Disclosure 
 

To be a protected disclosure, the disclosure must be about the commission of a 
criminal offence, a breach of any legal obligation, a miscarriage of justice, a risk to 
health and safety or damage to the environment. 

 
2. Disclosure to Whom? 
 
 A protected disclosure may be made: 
 

(a) To the worker‟s employer; 
(b) To the person having legal responsibility for the matter that is subject to the 

disclosure; 
(c)  In accordance with the employer‟s whistle-blowing procedure; 
(d) To the worker‟s legal advisor. 

 
3. Worker‟s State of Mind 
 

The person making the disclosure must reasonably believe that the information 
disclosed tends to show one of the matters outlined above so the disclosure can 
constitute the subject matter of a protected disclosure. 
 
The Act places responsibilities on the actions of whistle-blowers.  To be protected 
by the Act, the disclosure must not be made for personal gain and must be made in 
the reasonable belief that the allegation is substantially true and is made in the 
public interest. Furthermore, the disclosure will only be protected if a number of 
additional pre-conditions are satisfied.  These include raising the matter internally or 
with a prescribed person, or if this has not been done it is because the person must 
reasonably believe that they will be subject to detriment by their employee. 

Page 167



 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 9 
 

 
APPENDIX B 

January 2021 
 

Financial Probity and Malpractice Issues: 
Internal Audit (7th Floor, Mann Island) 
Director of Corporate Services     330 1959 
Head of Internal Audit   330 1764 
Audit Manager   330 1122 
  
Human Resource/Staffing Issues: 
People and Customer Development (9th Floor, Mann Island) 

      Head of People and Organisational Development  330 1800 
HRD Operations Manager   330 1213 
HRD Strategy and Systems Manager    330 1204 
Health and Safety Business Partner  330 1210 
  
Legal Issues and Advice: 
Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement (7th Floor, Mann Island) 
Chief Legal Officer   330 1855 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement  330 1700 
Legal, Democratic Services and Procurement Manager  330 1703 
 
External Auditors: 
Mark Dalton, Mazars  0113 394 5316 or  
   07795 506766   

 
Independent Advice: 
 
Protect is a whistleblowing charity that provides independent support and advice: 
Website: www.protect-advice.org.uk  
Protect Confidential Whistleblowing Advice Line: 020 3117 2520 
 

  

Page 168

http://www.protect-advice.org.uk/


 
 

Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol Page | 10 
 

APPENDIX C 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol 

Confidential Reporting Form 
  
1. Please describe the nature of your concern  

 
 
 

2. Please give all background information relevant to your concern including key dates, people and 
organisations involved. 

 
 
 

3. Have you reported the concern to any other person or organisation? 
If you have, please provide the details of this 

 
 
 

4. What are the reasons for the concern?  

 
 
 

5. How do you think the matter should be resolved?  

 
 
 

6. Do you have any personal interest in the matter? 

 
 
 

 

Person raising the concern: Form completed by (if not the person raising 
the concern): 

Name: Name: 

Employee Number: Employee Number: 

Post Title: Post Title: 

Signed: Signed: 

Date: Date: 

  

Form received by:  

Name:  

Employee Number:  

Post Title:  

Signed:  

Date:  

 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version V4.1 

Approved By LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee: 20 January 2021 

Merseytravel: 10 February 2021 

Created Date January 2016 

Reviewed Date November 2021 

Date of Next Review November 2022 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 
 

Page 171



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Introduction 2 
 
2. Objectives 2 
 
3. Statement 2 
 
4. Responsibilities 3 
 
5. Managing the Risk of Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 5 

 
6. Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Defining Fraud Offences 11 

 
 
 
  
  
  

 
 
  

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 2 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Fraud, bribery and corruption are not only damaging to the finances of the 

organisation, but they damage confidence in public services. 
 
1.2 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel 

(hereafter referred to as “the organisations”) are committed to ensuring that the 
risks of fraud, bribery and corruption are managed effectively, and that decisive 
action is taken where these offences are found to have been committed. 

 
1.3 This Protocol sets out the organisations‟ approach to managing the risk of fraud, 

bribery and corruption, and how an anti-fraud culture is established and 
promoted.  This is an over-arching document that complements the suite of 
policies in place relating to specific fraud, bribery and corruption offences, such 
as the Bribery Protocol, Anti-Money Laundering Protocol and the related 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol, Surveillance Protocol and 
Investigation Protocol. 

 
1.4 This Protocol covers all employees including agency and temporary workers, 

but also covers external individuals such as suppliers, contractors and 
customers in their dealings with the organisations. 

 
1.5 This Protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of 

Internal Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the Protocol will be presented 
for approval to the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  
However, as a minimum, the Protocol will be presented for re-approval every 
five years. 

 
 

2. Objectives 
 
2.1 The objectives of the protocol are to: 
 

 Embed an anti-fraud culture into the organisations; 

 Promote an effective framework of control and governance relating to fraud 
risk; 

 Confirm the key responsibilities of officers and members in managing the 
risk of fraud; and 

 Demonstrate how the organisations comply with the CIPFA best practice 
guidance Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local Government 
(2015). 

 
 

3. Statement 
 
3.1 The organisations are committed to combating fraud, bribery and corruption in 

all its activities.  

Page 173



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 3 
 

 
3.2 The organisations are determined to identify any fraud, bribery and corruption 

carried out by employees who abuse their positions of trust, contractors who 
abuse their relationship or customers who try to obtain assets or services to 
which they are not entitled. 

 
3.3 The organisations expect employees to demonstrate the highest standards of 

honesty and integrity at all times. Fraud, bribery and corruption are serious 
offences and employees will face disciplinary action if there is evidence that 
they have been involved in these activities. It is also expected that external 
individuals and organisations, including suppliers, contractors and customers 
will act with honesty and integrity in their dealings with the organisations. 

 
3.4 The organisations encourage employees to raise any concerns about fraud, 

bribery and corruption. Such concerns should be raised with the employee‟s 
manager. This depends, however, on the seriousness and sensitivity of the 
issues involved and who is suspected of the malpractice and if necessary, there 
are other ways for the employee to raise concerns. These are listed in the 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol, which also contains further 
guidance for potential whistleblowers. 

 
3.5 The organisations will investigate consistently any allegations or suspicions of 

fraud, bribery or corruption relating to the organisation irrespective of whether it 
is perpetrated from inside the organisations (employees) or by external parties 
(suppliers, contractors or customers).  

 
3.6 The organisations will refer to the appropriate authorities any person who 

commits fraud, bribery or corruption against them.  In addition, such offences 
will also be considered under the organisations‟ disciplinary policies.  

 
3.7 The organisations fully support the Police and other external agencies in the 

fight against fraud, bribery and corruption within the public sector. 
 
 

4. Responsibilities 
 
Chief Executive   
The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for fraud management arrangements.  
This involves setting the tone of the organisations so that an anti-fraud culture is 
maintained and ensuring that the system of internal controls to manage the risk of 
fraud, bribery and corruption is effective. 
 
Executive Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service 
Executive Directors, Assistant Directors and Heads of Service have responsibility for 
ensuring that there is an effective system of internal control in place so as to manage 
the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption in their services.   
 
 
 

Page 174



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 4 
 

Managers 
Managers have a key role in maintaining effective systems of internal control in 
respect of their areas.  They also have the responsibility of ensuring that their staff 
understand their role in behaving with honesty and integrity.  Managers should also be 
aware that they may be asked to provide advice to staff and to receive reports of 
suspicions of fraud, bribery and corruption.  Managers also need to be aware of the 
risk of fraud, bribery and corruption carried out by staff, and should understand the 
actions to take if they have such suspicions or receive reports of concerns. 
 
All Employees  
All employees have responsibility for being aware of the risks of fraud, bribery and 
corruption, and acting with integrity and honesty in their work.  They have a 
responsibility to report to management any concerns they may have. 
 
Merseytravel Meeting 
This group has overall oversight of the internal control and governance arrangements 
for Merseytravel, and has responsibility for approving its fraud, bribery and corruption 
policies. 
 
Merseytravel Audit, Risk and Governance Board 
LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee  
Both fora have responsibility for the monitoring and review of the effectiveness of 
internal control and governance arrangements and overseeing the continued 
development of these arrangements.  
 
Both fora will monitor progress in addressing any fraud related issues reported to it, 
including those identified through Internal Audit reports. 
The Audit and Governance Committee has responsibility for approving fraud, bribery 
and corruption policies on behalf of the Combined Authority. 
 
Internal Audit  
The Head of Internal Audit has a responsibility, under the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards, to review the organisations‟ arrangements for managing the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption, and evaluate their effectiveness in preventing and detecting 
fraud, bribery and corruption. 
 
The role of Internal Audit in respect of fraud, bribery and corruption is to: 
 

 Prepare and maintain a suite of relevant Counter-Fraud policies for the 
organisations; 

 Promote an anti-fraud culture by raising awareness of fraud issues amongst 
officers and members; 

 Facilitate the identification of fraud risks and the subsequent management of these 
through service delivery areas; 

 Undertake proactive audit work to prevent and detect fraud, including the review of 
anti-fraud controls in each audit review (where relevant); and 

 Undertake the investigation of frauds perpetrated against the organisations or 
emanating from within the organisations, where this is deemed appropriate, 

Page 175



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 5 
 

including the subsequent reporting of findings, conclusions and recommendations 
to senior management. 
 

The Head of Internal Audit is also the designated Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO), which entails acting as the main contact for receiving reports of suspected 
money laundering and carrying out the associated reporting. 
 
External Audit 
The external auditor has a responsibility, as part of their statutory duties, to ensure that 
the organisations have adequate arrangements in place for the prevention and 
detection of fraud, bribery and corruption. 
 
 

5. Managing the Risk of Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption 
 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption in Local 
Government 
 
5.1 CIPFA published the Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption in Local Government in 2015. The Code is not mandatory, but it 
represents best practice, and compliance with the principles set out in the Code 
enables the organisations to demonstrate effective financial stewardship of 
public funds. 

 
5.2 The principles are: 

 Acknowledge the responsibility for countering fraud and corruption; 

 Identify the fraud and corruption risks; 

 Develop an appropriate counter fraud and corruption strategy; 

 Provide resources to implement the strategy; and 

 Take action in response to fraud and corruption. 
 
5.3 The Head of Internal Audit undertakes a periodic self-assessment against the 

requirements of the Code of Practice. The outcomes of these assessments are 
presented to the Audit, Risk and Governance Board and Audit and Governance 
Committee, and any actions arising will be monitored through these fora. This 
process ensures that the implementation of this Protocol is subject to regular 
monitoring, that the success of the Protocol can be measured and that actions 
are clearly defined, with target dates of implementation and clear intended 
outcomes. 

 
5.4 In demonstrating how the organisations meet the requirements of the Code of 

Practice, the key elements of the internal control framework are set out in the 
paragraphs that follow. 

 
 
 
 

Page 176



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 6 
 

Corporate Policy Framework 
   
5.5 There is a comprehensive corporate policy framework in place, which details 

the requirements, considerations and key internal controls to prevent and detect 
fraud, bribery and corruption.  The key policies are: 

 

 Anti-Money Laundering Protocol; 

 Anti-Bribery Protocol; 

 Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol; 

 Surveillance Protocol; 

 Investigations Protocol; 

 Information Management Policy Framework; 

 Constitution which includes Financial Regulations; 

 Guidelines on Cash Handling; 

 Guidance on Travel and Expenses; 

 Gifts and Hospitality Policy for Employees; 

 Code of Conduct for Employees; 

 Employee Ethics Policy; and 

 Risk Management Policy. 
 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Prevention 
 
5.6 One of the key elements of managing the risk of fraud, bribery and corruption is 

ensuring that there are preventative measures in place that make the offences 
more difficult to undertake.  Prevention seeks to establish physical, logical and 
procedural barriers to discourage fraud, bribery and corruption, by implementing 
cost-effective countermeasures to prevent or reduce the identified fraud risk: 

 

 Management at all levels within the organisations have a responsibility for 
the prevention of fraud and corruption. This is achieved by ensuring the 
operation of effective internal control systems. In addition, management is 
responsible for ensuring that their staff are aware of relevant policies and 
procedural documents, and that the requirements within these are being 
followed.  

 

 Officers must follow the requirements set out in the organisations‟ policies 
and any local procedures implemented by management.  This includes the 
requirements contained within the Conditions of Employment issued upon 
appointment to their role.  

 

 Internal Audit plays an important preventative role in reviewing the controls 
in place within systems to prevent fraud, bribery and corruption and making 
recommendations to management where improvements in the design of, or 
compliance with, internal controls are required. Internal Audit develops and 
delivers an annual risk-based Internal Audit Plan that gives consideration to 
fraud and corruption risk and makes provision for the investigation of 
allegations into irregularity. The Internal Audit Plan is informed by the 
organisations‟ risk registers, which include fraud risks. 

 

Page 177



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 7 
 

 The system of internal control is the set of measures established in order to 
provide reasonable assurance of effective and efficient operations, reliability 
of internal financial control and reporting, and compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations.  The effectiveness of the system of internal control in 
preventing and detecting fraud, bribery and corruption is reported upon in 
the Annual Governance Statement.  This Statement is supported by the 
Head of Internal Audit‟s Annual Opinion, expressed in the Annual Report. 

 

 All the organisations‟ systems and processes should be fully documented, 
kept up to date, and made available to the staff operating those systems.  A 
lack of systems documentation reduces control and creates the opportunity 
for unacceptable practices to occur without check, inevitably weakening the 
system‟s operation.  It should be clear to all involved what the processes 
are to achieve the system‟s objectives. Documenting the system ensures 
that everybody involved is aware of the authorised process for undertaking 
the various stages of the system‟s operation. This awareness, together with 
the management authorisation of a documented system, establishes a 
culture of formality that assists the prevention of the introduction of informal 
changes.  Documenting a system provides clarity of purpose and intent, 
both for the operator of a system and any interested third party. 

 

 It is a prerequisite to sound control that duties involved in financial 
transactions are as separated as possible. Financial Regulations 
specifically state that the principle of "separation of duties" should be 
observed in the calculating, checking and recording of sums payable and 
receivable from the duties of collection and disbursing of such sums; and in 
other obvious areas of susceptibility. The separation of duties principle is an 
important preventative control over fraudulent and corrupt practices. 

 

 Authorisation controls are there to ensure that approval has been granted to 
allow a particular course of action.  

 

 The Director of Corporate Services has a statutory duty to ensure the 
proper administration of the organisations‟ financial affairs. Accordingly, 
Financial Regulations have been developed and outline the systems, 
procedures and responsibilities of employees in relation to financial activity.  
These are available to all employees, contractors or agents via the 
organisations‟ intranet and website. 

 

 The Executive Director of Corporate Services may, from time to time, 
supplement the Financial Regulations by other documents, such as 
Financial Instructions relating to detailed procedures.  These are considered 
as part of the Financial Regulations and have the same status and 
authority.  

 

 Recruitment and selection of employees is a key preventative measure in 
the fight against fraud and corruption and it is important to take effective 
steps at the recruitment stage to establish, as far as possible, the previous 

Page 178



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 8 
 

record of potential employees, in terms of propriety and integrity.  The 
recruitment of employees is therefore required to be in accordance with the 
organisations‟ Recruitment and Selection Policy.  In particular, written 
references are sought directly from referees regarding the disciplinary 
record of potential employees before employment offers are made. 

 

 All employees should be aware of the Gifts and Hospitality Policy and 
associated guidance.  

 

 Employees must ensure that they avoid situations where there is a potential 
for a conflict of interest to arise or be perceived to have arisen. Effective 
separation of duties provides assurance that decisions made are based 
upon impartial advice, so as to avoid accusations of the improper disclosure 
of confidential information.  There is a duty on employees to declare 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests by completing a Declaration of 
Interests form on an annual basis or whenever their circumstances change.  

 

 Fraud Awareness training is provided to all employees of the organisations 
in the form of e-learning, but employees should be made aware of all fraud 
risks pertinent to their role as part of on-the-job training.  Staff are also 
required to read and acknowledge understanding of corporate policies, 
including those relating to conduct. 

 
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Deterrence 
 
5.7  There is a range of measures in place to deter employees from engaging in 

fraud, bribery or corruption: 
 

 The organisations have a well-established and fully implemented 
disciplinary process.  It is important in maintaining an anti-fraud culture 
within the organisations, that all offences are dealt with in a consistent 
manner and that minor unethical practices are not overlooked (such as 
petty theft or small-scale expenses fraud) or dealt with in a unduly lenient 
manner.  

 

 Where there is evidence of fraud, bribery or corruption, the matter will be 
referred to the Police (via Action Fraud) for investigation, who in turn may 
refer the matter to the Crown Prosecution Service to consider prosecution. 
It is recognised that it may not always be in the public interest to refer cases 
for criminal proceedings. 

 

 Where fraud and corruption are proved and a financial loss has been 
suffered, the organisations will seek to recover the full value of any loss 
from the perpetrators.  This may involve civil proceedings being instigated 
through the courts. 

 

 Where appropriate, the organisations will publicise successful actions it has 
taken against fraudsters. 

 

Page 179



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 9 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Detection 
 
5.8 The organisations actively seek to detect any incidents of fraud, bribery and 

corruption, to allow it to respond openly, promptly and responsibly to any 
suspected cases.  All officers, suppliers, contractors and customers have an 
important role to play in the detection and reporting of fraud: 

 

 The organisations encourage anyone who knows or suspects any 
inappropriate behaviour to report it.  The Confidential Reporting 
(Whistleblowing) Protocol provides advice and guidance on how specific 
matters of concern may be raised and aims to give employees the 
confidence to raise concerns internally.  The Protocol is regularly reviewed 
to ensure it is compatible with current legislation and to assess its 
effectiveness.  Employees are expected to act responsibly when using the 
whistleblowing process.  If it is proven that an allegation is made frivolously, 
maliciously or for personal gain, this will be regarded as serious or gross 
misconduct. 

 

 Assistant Directors/ Heads of Service must act in accordance with the 
Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol to support any members of 
staff who have „blown the whistle‟.  They must instigate appropriate 
disciplinary procedures should the result of any investigation identify 
evidence of fraud, bribery or corruption. 

 

 Budgetary control is important in identifying fraudulent activity at significant 
levels.  Assistant Directors/Heads of Service, Managers, Budget Holders 
and Business Accountants have a responsibility to be aware of the 
transactions affecting budget lines under their control.  They should ensure 
that all transactions correspond to expectations. 

 

 Whilst it is management's responsibility to prevent and detect fraudulent 
and corrupt activity, Internal Audit conducts a programme of audits 
designed to test for signs of inappropriate activity.  Internal Audit utilises 
fraud detection techniques and data analytics to extend the audit coverage.  
In particular, use is made of Computer Assisted Audit Techniques (CAATs) 
such as IDEA to undertake targeted testing on high-risk areas and 
transactions, such as payroll, creditors and debtors. 

 

 Where appropriate, the organisations engage in data sharing initiatives to 
facilitate fraud detection, such as the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) and 
“Tell Us Once” schemes. Such initiatives are carried out in accordance with 
the Data Protection Act, and other relevant legislation. 

 

 For the purposes of the prevention and detection of fraud and corruption, 
the organisations will work jointly with other agencies and will share 
intelligence data with these agencies as appropriate. These agencies 
include, but are not limited to Merseyside Police, HM Revenue and 
Customs and other Local Authorities. 

 

Page 180



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 10 
 

 
Investigation of Allegations of Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
 
5.9 The aim of any investigation is to establish the facts surrounding the allegation 

that has been made, so as to establish whether there is evidence of fraud, 
bribery or corruption. 

 
5.10 Cases for investigation must be referred to Internal Audit, in accordance with 

the Investigation Protocol. The Head of Internal Audit will liaise with Assistant 
Directors/Heads of Service to determine the investigative action required and to 
establish the best route for the investigation to take, for example Head of 
Service, Internal Audit, or the Police. 

 
5.11 The Head of Internal Audit will ensure that all investigations it carries out comply 

with the Investigation Protocol, other relevant organisational directives and the 
law. 

  
5.12 Following the conclusion of an investigation, Internal Audit will report the 

findings to the relevant Assistant Director/ Head of Service and / or Director(s). 
The report will reflect any matters arising from the investigation and make 
recommendations to improve internal controls and minimise the risk of fraud, 
bribery and corruption. 

 
5.13 Where it appears that a criminal offence may have been committed, the 

organisations will ordinarily inform the Police (the final decision of referral to the 
Police will be a matter for the Director of Corporate Services), so that they can 
carry out a criminal investigation. The Police may refer the matter to the Crown 
Prosecution Service to determine whether a prosecution will be pursued.  

 
  

Page 181



 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 11 
 

Appendices 
 

APPENDIX A 
Defining Fraud Offences 
 
The main offences are summarised below, however, please refer to the legislation at 
www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the relevant Acts of Parliament. 
 
Fraud 
Section 1 of the Fraud Act 2006 defined a general offence of fraud and three ways in 
which it may be committed: 

 

 Fraud by false representation; 

 Fraud by failing to disclose information; and 

 Fraud by abuse of position.  
 

Fraud by false representation requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 The person makes the representation knowing that it is or might be false or 
misleading.  

 
Fraud by failing to disclose information requires: 

  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and 

 Failure to disclose information where there is a legal duty to disclose.  
 

Fraud by abuse of position requires: 
  

 Dishonesty; 

 An intent to make gain or cause loss; and  

 Abuse of a position where one is expected to safeguard another person‟s financial 
interests. 

 
Corruption 
 
The Bribery Act 2010 has defined the following offences: 
 

 Offering, promising or giving a bribe; 

 Requesting or agreeing to receive a bribe; 

 Bribery of a foreign public official; and  

 The corporate offense of failing to prevent a bribe. 
 
It will be a defence against the corporate offence if an organisation has “adequate 
procedures” in place to prevent bribery.  
 

Page 182

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Protocol Page | 12 
 

 
 
Theft 
  
A person is guilty of theft if he/she dishonestly appropriates property belonging to 
another with the intention of permanently depriving the other of it. 
 
It is immaterial whether the appropriation is made with a view to gain, or is made for 
the thief's own benefit. 
 
Criminal Financing 
 
The Criminal Finances Act (2017) defines two corporate offences of failure to prevent 
facilitation of tax evasion as follows: 
 

 Failure to prevent facilitation of UK tax evasion; and 

 Failure to prevent facilitation of overseas tax evasion.  
 
The organisations could be criminally liable if it fails to prevent those who act for, or on 
their behalf, from criminally facilitating tax evasion, whether in the UK or overseas. 
 

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Investigation Protocol 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version V4.2 

Approved By LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee: 20 January 2021 

Merseytravel: 10 February 2021 

Created Date March 2016 

Reviewed Date November 2021 

Date of Next Review November 2022 

 

This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 

Page 185



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 1 
 

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 
2. Scope 2 
 
3. Types of Investigation 3 
 

 Financial Irregularity, Fraud, Dishonesty and Corruption 3 
 
 Employee Conduct 4 
 
 IT Equipment, Systems and Data 5 
 
 Allegations made against third parties 6 

 
4. Conduct of an Investigation 6 

 
5. Reporting 7 
   
6. Actions Following a Completed Investigation 7 

 
7. Deviations 8 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 186



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 2 
 

1. Purpose 
 
This Protocol has been written to ensure that, wherever possible, a consistent process 
is followed whenever Internal Audit undertakes any investigation into any allegations 
or suspicions of fraud, bribery or corruption. It seeks to outline the roles, 
responsibilities, principles and approach that will be adopted by Internal Audit during 
any investigation into allegations or suspicions of fraud or the inappropriate conduct of 
an employee. It outlines the expectations and principles that should be adopted, not 
only by Internal Audit, but also by other parties involved, including, but not limited to, 
Human Resources and Development, IT and relevant Management. 
 
If any allegation or suspicion is found to be substantiated, the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel (hereafter referred to as “the 
organisations”) have a responsibility and commitment to: 
 

 Take necessary action to stop any continuing losses to the public purse or adverse 
impact to the delivery of corporate objectives and activities; 

 Act to minimise the impact to the organisations, both financial and reputational; 

 Recover any lost assets (financial, physical, data or otherwise); 

 Identify those responsible and ensure that appropriate sanctions are applied; 

 Inform relevant external parties or professional bodies where appropriate (e.g. 
Police, Information Commissioner’s Office) and seek to pursue prosecution or civil 
remedy where appropriate; 

 Establish any control issues arising from the investigation and action that should be 
taken to address these; and 

 Provide feedback, if appropriate, to individual(s), in accordance with the Confidential 
Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol. 

 
Where allegations or suspicions are not substantiated, the organisations are 
committed to: 
 

 Identifying any lessons that can be learnt as a result of the investigation, including 
any improvements in internal control that can be made; 

 Demonstrating, where necessary, that a thorough and fair investigation has been 
undertaken; and 

 Providing feedback, if appropriate, to individual(s) who made the allegation, in 
accordance with the Confidential Reporting (Whistleblowing) Protocol. 

 
 

2. Scope 
 
This Protocol does not affect the authority granted to Internal Auditors under the 
organisations’ respective Constitutions to: 

 

 have right of access to any of the organisations’ premises, if requested; 

 have right of access to all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control 
systems, if requested; 

Page 187



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 3 
 

 receive any information and explanation considered necessary concerning any 
matter under consideration; 

 require any employee of the authority to account for cash, stores or any other 
authority assets under his/her control; 

 access records belonging to third parties, such as contractors, when appropriate 
and required; and 

 directly access the LCRCA Chief Executive / Merseytravel Director General, Chair 
of the LCRCA Audit Committee and Chair of the Audit, Risk and Governance Board 
when appropriate. 

 
This Protocol will be reviewed and updated on an annual basis by the Head of Internal 
Audit.  In the case of significant changes, the Protocol will be presented for approval to 
the LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a 
minimum, the Protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
 

3. Types of Investigation 
 
Financial Irregularity, Fraud, Dishonesty and Corruption 
 
Fraud and corruption are illicit and unauthorised activities, undertaken, often covertly, 
by an individual or group for personal gain.  
 
Typically, fraud is an offence resulting from dishonest behaviour that intentionally 
allows the fraudster, or a third party, to gain personally, or to cause loss to another. 
Formal definitions are stated in the Fraud Act 2006. Corruption can take many forms 
but its defining characteristic is the collusion of parties to manipulate a specific 
outcome. This may be fraud, or could be offering, soliciting or acceptance of an 
inducement or reward in order to influence improperly the actions of another or the 
failure to disclose an interest in order to benefit financially or otherwise. 
 
Fraud and corruption are deliberate acts (or deliberate omissions to act), relating to an 
individual, or a third party and include (but are not limited to) the following, however 
please refer to the legislation at www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the 
provisions of the relevant Acts of Parliament: 
 

 Theft and misuse of assets, including cash, physical assets, intellectual assets, data 
and property; 

 Manipulation or misreporting of financial information or data; 

 Deception and misrepresentation; 

 Offering or accepting bribes or inducements from third parties, or offering bribes or 
inducements to third parties; 

 Conspiracy to breach laws or regulations; and 

 Fraudulent completion of official documents. 
 
If an officer receives an allegation of fraud or corruption it must be reported 
immediately to the Head of Internal Audit.  
 

Page 188

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/35/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 4 
 

If this is not possible, it may be reported to the LCRCA Chief Executive or Director of 
Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Director General.  
 
Immediate steps will be taken to protect and preserve evidence, where appropriate. To 
facilitate this, the Head of Internal Audit (or appointed Officer) will liaise with relevant 
officers, as required, including (but not limited to) Human Resources, IT, relevant 
Executive Directors and Managers. All action taken will be in accordance with relevant 
Policies, Procedures and protocols.  
 
The Head of Internal Audit, or a Senior Officer appointed by the LCRCA Chief 
Executive or Executive Director of Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Director 
General for this purpose, will, as a matter of urgency, undertake an initial review of the 
allegation or suspicion to establish whether a detailed investigation is required.  
 
Staff may be informally interviewed at this stage but will be informed that any 
discussions are for fact-finding purposes only. Staff may be accompanied by a Trade 
Union representative or workplace colleague at this interview. Whilst these preliminary 
discussions are not disciplinary hearings, staff should be made aware that any 
statement made or notes retained could be used as evidence in a disciplinary hearing, 
should one be necessary.   
 
Following preliminary enquiries, if a full investigation is considered necessary, then the 
Head of Internal Audit (or appointed officer) will notify the LCRCA Chief Executive or 
Executive Director of Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Director General who 
will appoint a Lead Investigating Officer, as appropriate. 
 
If further Internal Audit work is required, the Head of Internal Audit will appoint suitably 
trained and experienced officers to undertake this. 
 
Anonymous complaints/allegations/incidences will only be investigated if there is 
sufficient information on which to commence initial enquiries. No further action will be 
taken against employees if allegations made against them are found to be malicious, 
vexatious or false. However, if an employee is found to have made an allegation 
against another which is found to be frivolous, malicious or for personal gain, their 
actions may be regarded as serious or gross misconduct, and subject to disciplinary 
procedures. 
 
Employee Conduct 
 
Not all investigations will relate to matters of financial irregularity, fraud or corruption. 
Investigations may arise which relate to employee conduct issues such as: 

 

 General conduct; 

 Performance; 

 Health and safety; 

 Bullying and harassment; and 

 Alcohol and substance misuse. 
 

Page 189



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 5 
 

If suspicions of general misconduct are identified by Internal Audit during the course of 
routine Internal Audit work, the Head of Human Resources will be immediately 
informed, in order that the matter can be addressed by Human Resources in 
accordance with disciplinary procedures. Internal Audit will provide any relevant 
evidence that has been obtained during the course of their work, to facilitate and 
inform this process. 

 
Investigations may arise which are borne from concerns regarding both conduct and 
fraud. These may be identified from a number of sources and may include (but are not 
limited to): 

 

 Falsification of time and attendance; 

 Misuse of equipment; and 

 Manipulation of expenses. 
 

In cases such as these, if concerns have not been identified or reported directly to 
Internal Audit, Management should ensure that the Head of Internal Audit is promptly 
informed in order that an assessment of the general control environment can be 
undertaken and any control issues arising can be identified and resolved. Internal 
Audit can assist in the collation of evidence and statistical analysis to support such 
investigations. 

 
In these circumstances, the matter should be referred to the relevant Executive 
Director who will take into consideration the cross-cutting nature of the investigation 
and determine how the investigation is to be conducted, and by whom. 

 
I.T Equipment, Systems and Data 

 
Investigations may arise as the result of the misuse of the organisations’ IT equipment 
or manipulation of systems or data. Such action is likely to be in breach of the IT 
Acceptable Use Policy or Mobile Devices Acceptable Use Policy, and may be 
identified through a number of sources, including routine internal audit work, general 
monitoring of systems, tip-offs, CCTV footage or management concerns. 

 
Examples of investigations which may arise through misuse of corporate IT equipment 
include (but are not limited to): 

 

 Internet, telephone, mobile device or email misuse; 

 Manipulation or falsification of data held in business systems; 

 Theft or corruption of data; 

 Use of unlicensed and / or unauthorised software; 

 Unauthorised copying of copyrighted material; 

 Virus contamination; 

 Reconfiguration or manipulation of IT security systems / password misuse; and 

 Unauthorised use of removable media. 
 

As part of the investigation process, IT network records along with internet, telephone 
and e-mail usage will be examined as appropriate. 
 

Page 190



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 6 
 

In rare and exceptional circumstances, the Head of Internal Audit and LCRCA Chief 
Executive or Executive Director of Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Director 
General may use their statutory powers to obtain access to records, outside of the 
above Protocol. 

 
Access to CCTV images is controlled by the CCTV Code of Practice and requires a 
written record of access request and approval. 

 
Allegations made against third parties 
 
An allegation may be received by the organisations which relates to a third party, such 
as a contractor or partner organisation. 
 
In this event, the Head of Internal Audit and LCRCA Chief Executive or Executive 
Director of Corporate Services, or the Merseytravel Director General should be 
informed and in discussion with the relevant Head(s) of Service, the matter will be 
considered on a case-by-case basis and a decision will be made on the necessary 
course of action. 
 
 

4. Conduct of an Investigation 
 
Immediate steps will be taken to protect and preserve all evidence. This may include: 
 

 Suspension of staff; guidance on suspension is available in the Discipline and 
Grievance Toolkit; 

 Securing of computer records on systems, desktop PC’s, laptops, mobile devices, 
telephone records, e-mail accounts and records of internet usage; 

 Suspension of IT network access rights; 

 Securing of written records (original documents where possible); 

 Securing of physical assets; and 

 Photographic evidence (including CCTV images). 
 
All records and assets relating to the investigation will be retained in a secure location 
with controlled access. 
 
Every investigation is unique, and the approach will depend upon the specific details of 
the case. However, the following principles will be observed when undertaking an 
investigation: 
  

 The investigation will be undertaken with due urgency, consistent with completing a 
thorough and proportionate review; 

 Full records of the investigation will be maintained; 

 Comprehensive notes will be made of all interviews, observations, monitoring and 
surveillance; 

 The Human Resources Department will lead on all matters where formal disciplinary 
procedures are required, providing support and advice to the Investigating Officers; 

 Confidentiality will be respected and maintained; 

Page 191



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 7 
 

 Effective two-way communication channels will be maintained between all relevant 
parties; 

 Compliance with relevant legislation, including Data Protection, Employment 
legislation (including ACAS Guidelines) and Human Rights legislation will be 
observed; and 

 The Head of Internal Audit and/or Lead Investigating Officer, in consultation with the 
Executive Director of Corporate Services  will consider whether disclosure to 
external organisations should be made, such as the Police, Information 
Commissioner, HMRC or professional bodies etc. 

 
There may be times when it will be necessary for the organisations to carry out 
surveillance as part of the investigation. In such cases this will be undertaken in 
accordance with the Surveillance Protocol and in compliance with the Guidance for 
Officers Undertaking Surveillance. 
  
 

5. Reporting 

 
At the conclusion of an investigation, the Lead Investigating Officer will produce a 
report detailing the findings and conclusions. The Investigation Report may include 
Reports provided by other Investigating Officers, including Internal Audit and IT, 
dependent on the nature of the case. Prior to the distribution of report, advice may be 
sought from the Legal department, if appropriate. 
 
Contributing Investigating Officers, including Internal Audit and IT may be required to 
attend a disciplinary hearing and present evidence, if appropriate and required. 
 
Human Resources should inform Internal Audit of the result of any hearing for which 
there has been Internal Audit involvement. 
 
 

6. Actions Following a Completed Investigation 
 
Following the outcome of an investigation, the Head of Human Resources and / or the 
Head of Internal Audit, in conjunction with the relevant Executive Directors should 
determine any further action necessary to protect the organisations and their 
reputation. These actions may include: 
 

 Attempt to recover assets or losses; 

 Notification to other Agencies or Partner Organisations; 

 Referral to the Police, Action Fraud or other regulatory body; 

 Referral to professional body; 

 Changes to internal control systems or procedures; 

 Internal Audit follow-up to actions agreed from any recommendations made in the 
report; 

 Feedback to the “Whistleblower”/ Complainant, where possible / appropriate; and 

 Publicity or Press Release, in consultation with the Corporate Communications 
team. 

Page 192



 
 

Investigation Protocol Page | 8 
 

 
 

7. Deviations 

 
Any deviations from this protocol must be documented and authorised by the LCRCA 
Chief Executive / Merseytravel Director General as appropriate. 

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Surveillance Protocol 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Document Owner Head of Internal Audit 

Document Version V4.1 

Approved By LCRCA Audit and Governance 
Committee: 20 January 2021 

Merseytravel: 10 February 2021 

Created Date February 2016 

Reviewed Date November 2021 

Date of Next Review November 2022 

 
This document is the property of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

(LCRCA) and Merseytravel. It may not be reproduced or used for any other 
purpose that that for which it is supplied without the written permission of 

LCRCA and Merseytravel. 
 

Uncontrolled when printed – for latest version, please check One Place 
 

Page 195



 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 1 
  

Contents 
 
 
 Page 
 

1. Purpose 2 
 
2. Definitions 2 

 

3. Statement 2 
 
4. Scope 3 
 
5. Evaluation 3 
 
6. Responsibilities 3 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
   
  

 
  

 

Page 196



 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 2 
  

1. Purpose 
 
This Protocol provides a framework for the conduct of covert surveillance by the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and Merseytravel (hereafter 
referred to as “the organisations”) in a manner that will ensure all legal obligations are 
met, particularly in relation to the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). 
 
The legal basis for processing any data gathered via surveillance arises from the 
employee’s contract of employment and surveillance will only be undertaken when the 
organisations believe that it is necessary in the public interest to protect funds and 
assets or in the investigation of possible criminal activity.  
 
 

2. Definitions 
 
Surveillance is defined as including: 
  

 The targeted observation or listening to individual persons, their movements, their 
conversations or their other activities; or  

 The recording of anything observed or listened to in the course of surveillance; and  

 Surveillance by or with the assistance of a surveillance device.  
 
Surveillance should not be confused with routine employee monitoring in the day-to-day 
course of business which the organisations undertake having due regard to the Officer 
Code of Conduct.  
 
Monitoring is a routine and non-targeted management function that can be used for 
reasons such as establishing that quality of work produced meets required standards; 
safe working practices are being followed; and / or policies are being complied with. It 
generally involves the reviewing of pre-existing recorded, captured or reported material. 
 
Surveillance will only be undertaken in response to a specific allegation or concern, 
which would typically relate to a suspicion of fraud, irregularity or non-compliance with 
policy or procedure. Any enquiries of this nature will be undertaken in accordance with 
the Investigation Protocol and in compliance with the Guidance for Officers Undertaking 
Surveillance. 
 
 

3. Statement 
 
The organisations support the objectives of the Human Rights Act (HRA) 1998, the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulations, the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 2000, the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 and the 
Employee Practices Code.  
 

Please refer to the legislation at www.legislation.gov.uk for the full details of the 
provisions of the relevant Acts of Parliament. 

Page 197

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 3 
  

 
 
The following guiding principles shall form the basis of any covert surveillance activity 
undertaken by the organisations: 
 

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken where it is deemed necessary to 
achieve the desired aims; 

 

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken where it is considered proportionate to 
do so; 

 

 Covert surveillance shall only be undertaken in a manner that it is proportionate; 
 

 Adequate regard shall be had to individuals’ rights and freedoms, including those 
who are not the target of the covert surveillance; 

 

 All authorisations to carry out covert surveillance shall be granted by designated 
Authorising Officers specified in section 6 of this protocol; and 

 

 Any member of staff who is subject to disciplinary action as a result of covert 
surveillance has the right to view the original copies of authorisation forms and 
appropriate related documentation. 

 
 

4. Scope 

 
The protocol applies to all employees. 
 
 

5. Evaluation 
 
Evaluation of the protocol will be undertaken as appropriate by the Head of Internal 
Audit, Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer and the Head of People and 
Organisational Development. 
 
In the case of significant changes, the Protocol will be presented for approval to the 
LCRCA Audit and Governance Committee and Merseytravel.  However, as a minimum, 
the Protocol will be presented for re-approval every five years. 
  
 

6. Responsibilities 
 
The Chief Executive (LCRCA) and Director General (Merseytravel) and all Executive 
Directors will fulfil the role of Authorising Officers. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for deploying this Protocol across the 
organisations. 

Page 198



 
 

Surveillance Protocol Page | 4 
  

  
The Chief Legal Officer and Monitoring Officer is responsible for oversight; ensuring that 
the use of surveillance by the organisations is consistent with the Surveillance Protocol. 
 
The Head of People and Organisational Development is responsible for ensuring that 
surveillance undertaken to facilitate disciplinary investigations is carried out in 
accordance with internal policies and procedures. 
 
Officers involved in any part of the surveillance process are responsible for ensuring 
that this Protocol is complied with. 

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 

To:  The Chair and Members of the Liverpool City Region 
Audit and Governance Committee 

 
Meeting:     24 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  None 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 
 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update in respect of the system of 

corporate risk management and the activity that has been undertaken in continuing 
to embed this system during the third quarter of 2021-22.  

  
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance Committee is recommended to: 
 

a.  note the updated Corporate Risk Register; and 
 
b. note the progress made in embedding the system of corporate risk 

management into the organisation. 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 So as to support the Committee in the discharge of its duties according to its Terms 

of Reference, the report details the key activities undertaken to embed the system 
of corporate risk management.  The report highlights the following key points: 
 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made 

since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation.  

 
  

Page 201

Agenda Item 7



4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 

There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.4 Information Technology 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
4.5 Programme Management Office (PMO) 

 
There are no direct issues arising from this report. 

 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. 
 

 
6. RISKS AND MITIGATION 
  
6.1 The implementation of an effective system of corporate and service risk 

management supports the organisation in the delivery of its objectives, by 
identifying threats that may jeopardise their achievement and maximising 
opportunities as these arise.  The contents of this report give a narrative on the 
continued progress being made to embed such a system. 

 
 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
7.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
9.1 There are no direct issues arising from this report. 
  

Page 202



 
 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 The organisation continues to make positive progress in embedding a more robust 

and effective system for the management of risk.   
 
 

LAURA A. WILLIAMS 
Head of Internal Audit 

 

 

 

Contact Officer(s): 

Laura A. Williams, Head of Internal Audit   Tel: 07713 095315 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - Risk Management Update  
Appendix B – Corporate Risk Register Summary 2021-22 
 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE 
 

 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

24 November 2021 

 

Laura A. Williams MA CPFA 
Head of Internal Audit 

P
age 205



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 1 
 
 

Contents 
 

   
            Page 

  
1. Introduction            2    
 
2. Corporate Risk Register          3      
    
3. Embedding Effective Risk Management        5 
 
Appendix A: Corporate Risk Register 2021-22 Summary 
 
     
               
       
 
 
 
   

 
 
           
  

P
age 206



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 2 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the Combined Authority‟s risk management activity for the third quarter 
of 2021-22. 
 

1.2 It is prepared for the Audit and Governance Committee and its purpose is to facilitate the Committee in discharging its 

obligations as defined in its Terms of Reference: “to review the Combined Authority‟s financial affairs, internal control, 

corporate governance arrangements and risk management”.  It is also intended to assist in continuing the progress made to 

date in embedding effective strategic and operational risk management into the organisation. 

1.3 The report covers: 

 an update on the Corporate Risk Register including the key changes made since the last report; and 

 the ongoing activity to embed risk management further into the organisation.   

P
age 207



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 3 
 
 

2. Corporate Risk Register  
 
2.1 So as to facilitate a clearer presentation and understanding of corporate risks, the recent review has led to these being 

shown as five key corporate risk themes.  It is considered that these are broad enough to enable the encapsulation of all 

significant corporate risk issues.  The corporate risk themes, and the associated risks within each, are: 

 

P
age 208



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 4 
 
 

2.2 The Corporate Risk Register has been reviewed by the Executive Leadership Team as a whole and by individual Executive 

Directors, with the objective of ensuring that: 

 

 The risks identified are still pertinent; 

 The control measures are still in place and working, and reflect any new or additional controls that have been 

implemented; 

 The risk scoring identified is still considered an accurate representation; 

 The actions identified are still the right ones, and progress is being made in progressing these; 

 Any new or emerging risks are captured; and 

 Risks that are reducing in score are identified and de-escalated to service risk registers as necessary. 

2.3 The results of this review were: 

 The risks have remained static since the last review and the actions continue to progress in line with timescales; 

 The action associated with the Devolution Deal risk has had its action date extended from October to December 2021, 

although significant progress in achieving the actions is noted; 

 The Environment risk requires further exploration with the need for further controls and actions to be identified 

following attendance at COP 26. 

2.4 A summary of the Corporate Risk Register is included in this report at Appendix A.  At the time of writing, the risk owners are 

still to be confirmed. 

 

 

 

P
age 209



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 5 
 
 

 

3. Embedding Effective Risk Management 
 
3.1 Internal Audit continues to play a vital role in facilitating the system of risk management.  Key strands of activity in the period 

have been: 
  

 Organising and chairing the quarterly Risk Group meeting, which has representatives from all Directorates, to discuss 
emerging risks, progress in managing key risk issues, and promote discussion/awareness of governance issues across 
the organisation.  The refreshed membership and expanded agenda for the Group is proving useful in raising the profile 
of risk management, and the role of members of the group as risk champions is to be further developed so as to provide 
a clear link between group members and their Directorates; 

 Facilitating review and update of risk registers via meetings with individual executive directors and their management 
teams, which is particularly pertinent in terms of ensuring alignment with the Corporate Plan and Directorate Delivery 
Plans; 

 Presenting to the Executive Leadership Team on Risk Management, including discussion of risk scoring and risk 
appetite, and facilitating the Corporate Risk Register review sessions; 

 Ensuring that risk management skills are included within the core training offer for managers as part of the Developing 
our Organisation work; 

 Developing an e-learning package for all staff to provide general awareness of the principles of risks management which 
is to be launched on the Learning Portal; 

 Facilitating the review of service risks by members of the Senior Leadership Team, including facilitating the update of 
fraud risks, risks arising from the continued effects of the pandemic and other emerging risks;  

 Providing corporate support in respect of risk management across the organisation, including facilitating risk workshops 
and supporting colleagues in their risk management activities;  

 Following its approval at the July Audit and Governance Committee meeting, continued roll out of the Risk Management 
Policy and revised risk register template across the organisation; and 

 Established an individual “SharePoint” folder for all Directorates to enable access to risk information in one dedicated 
location.  

P
age 210



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 6 
 
 

 
 

3.2 It is important that the revised Corporate Risk Register is used as a tool, along with performance management, to facilitate 

delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities, and that the very positive progress made so far in embedding the process 

continues.  

For this reason, the service has adopted two corporate performance indicators, which are designed to measure the extent to which 

risk management data is being utilised to drive delivery of the Corporate Plan priorities. The latest figures show the following: 

Description Performance  Progress Rating 

% of service areas 

with a Risk Register 

that complies with the 

Risk Management 

Policy 

68% Amber 

% of corporate risks 

that have a suitable 

action plan in place 

100% Green 

   

3.3  Internal Audit has completed a further review of the system of corporate risk management.  The review resulted in a very 

positive overall opinion rating of Minor organisational risk.  The review resulted in five recommendations, all of which were 

focused on the contribution the Risk Management function makes to the overall corporate system, and all of which were 

graded as “advisory”.  The recommendations, and progress made to date, are detailed in the table below.  It is pleasing to 

note that all actions have now been completed. 

  

P
age 211



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 7 
 
 

 

 Recommendation Agreed Action Due Date Progress Update 
1 Further analysis should be undertaken to ensure each risk 

contained within the Corporate Risk Register is aligned, 
where possible, to a Business Plan/Corporate Plan 
objective; and is therefore genuinely seen as the most 
significant risk(s) to non-achievement of the respective 
objective. 

a) The Risk Manager is a member 
of the Corporate Plan 
development team for the 
2021-2024 plan so that the 
priorities can be linked to the 
Risk Management process. 

 
b) A risk review session is to be 

held on 26 May with CEX and 
Directors to review the current 
Corporate Risk Register 
against the new priorities set 
out in the new Corporate Plan. 

31/8/21 Completed 
The meeting was held on 
26 May 2021 and was well 
attended with very positive 
feedback. A further session 
was held on 18 August to 
agree a draft of the revised 
Corporate Risk Register. 

2 The Risk Manager should continue to challenge and 
support the effective utilisation of the 'Risk and Mitigation' 
section, of the Democratic Services Report Template, for 
linking the subject matter of the report to a relevant 
Corporate and/or Service risk(s). 

a) The Risk Manager continues to 
be assigned reports for sign off 
and will not approve reports 
where there is insufficient 
"Risks and Mitigation" detailed 
within the report. 

 
b) There will be a review of the 

relevant service registers / 
project risk registers to ensure 
links between the relevant 
reports. 

30/9/21 Completed 
Risk Manager continues to 
be a report reviewer for all 
relevant reports and 
continues to challenge 
report contents. 

3 i) A decision should be taken as to whether to adopt a more 
formalised approach to providing feedback on Risk 
Registers and retaining such evidence in a more structured 
format e.g. when providing advice and guidance: it is 
reported in writing; documented; subsequently followed-up; 
and correspondence is saved in a structured format on the 
network.  
 

a) Directorate folders will be 
established for each review 
period to demonstrate 
interaction, guidance and 
advice given in said period.   

 
b) Teams and Sharepoint will be 

utilised to enable access to the 

15/10/21 
 

 

Completed 
Directorate folders are now 
established with 
appropriate access and 
editing permissions.  The 
contain the Service and 
Corporate Risk Registers.   
The Risk Manager is 

P
age 212



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 8 
 
 

 Recommendation Agreed Action Due Date Progress Update 
 ii) As part of monitoring Risk Registers, the Risk Manager 
should establish a central repository (e.g. through 
SharePoint), where the most up to date Service Risk 
Register can be easily identified.  

latest version of each Service 
and the Corporate Risk 
Register. 

 

alerted as changes are 
made so as to allow for an 
audit trail to be preserved. 

 
4 The Risk Manager should continue to provide a 

commensurate level of support to Directorates, to facilitate 
having in place an up to date Risk Register within each 
Service area.  
As part of supporting this process, the potential exists to:  
- Utilise a „Glossary‟ within the Risk Management Policy.   
- Undertake training for relevant officers (where relevant - 
induction or refresher training).  
 

a) The corporate risk register 
template will be revised to 
include drop-down boxes on 
each column that provides a 
definition to assist the user 
when populating the registers.  

 
 
b) E-Learning on Risk 

Management to be created and 
available to all staff by 
September 2021. 

 
c) Risk Management training 

programme will be developed 
and the roll out to staff will 
begin in September 2021. 

 
 

31/12/21 Completed 
Risk Manager continues to 
be a report reviewer for all 
relevant reports and 
continues to challenge 
report contents. 
 
 
Completed – E-learning 
package finalised available 
on the Learning Portal 
 
 
Completed – Risk 
Management is now a 
formal offer under the 
Developing our 
Organisation for Managers 
 

5 A standing item should be added to the Risk Group agenda 
requesting any "lessons learned" examples are shared 
amongst the group, to continue to foster a culture of open 
learning from any risk management mistakes. 

a) The Risk Group agenda will 
be reviewed and updated 
prior to the next meeting on 
21 May 2021. (Although the 
agenda already contains 
ample opportunity for 
Directorate representatives 
to discuss risk 
management successes, 
failures and lessons 
learned). 

 

31/5/21 Completed 
The agenda has been 
updated for the May Risk 
Group meeting and 
includes feedback and 
lessons learned. 
 
Professional literature from 
both ALARM and North 
West Insurance Officers 
Group has been shared 
and this will continue as 

P
age 213



 

Risk Management Update - Audit and Governance Committee, November 2021 Page | 9 
 
 

 Recommendation Agreed Action Due Date Progress Update 
b) Where relevant, 

professional literature (i.e. 
from risk management 
professional bodies), will be 
shared with the Group to 
continue strengthen the 
knowledge of the Risk 
Group. This will be ongoing 
and recorded on the Risk 
Group Hub. 

 

and when relevant to the 
Risk Group. 

 

3.4 The quarterly reports to this Committee will continue to give an overview of the progress being made in delivering the 

activities above, and the effectiveness of these actions in increasing the level to which effective risk management 

arrangements are embedded into the organisation. 

 

P
age 214



Summary of Corporate Risks 2021-22

Audit and Governance Committee

24 November 2021

P
age 215



Corporate Risk Themes

Devolution 
Deal

Resilience Environment Transport Economic 
Recovery

P
age 216



Risk 1: Devolution Deal- There is a risk that the Liverpool City Region does not 
meet the specific requirements and expectations set out in its Devolution Deal.

Controls:

• Assurance Framework approved by Government

• Expertise of key teams

• Budget recognises delivery as a priority

• Spatial Development Strategy 

• Use of 'single pot' approach and freedom and flexibility to manage funding deadlines

• Overprogramming of SIF

• Use of Growth Directors as forum to manage project progress

• Regular reporting of SIF performance to identify blockages

• Pipeline development process in place

• Annual Conversation with government and associated feedback

• Provision of Pre-Development Funding to advance projects 

P
age 217



Risk 1: Devolution Deal

Actions:

• Setting clear progress objectives in heads of terms for funding objectives

• Establishment of joint boards/steering groups with constituent local authorities

• Having well developed pipelines across main policy areas: transport, housing, 

people, place and business eco system so that we are maximising our 

opportunities in bidding and securing for funds. 

• Discussions on increasing project development capacity centrally to support LAs 

and to maximise benefits of funding opportunities. 

• Need discussion of the merits of having a central bid team, drawing in existing 

resource with focus on maximising funding opportunities and making the 

strategic connections. 

• Monitoring of internal resource capacity to ensure this is appropriate to 

maximise opportunities to secure new funding streams and exploit these to full 

effect.

• Residual Score:

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

16

Green

• Timescale:

December 
2021

P
age 218



Risk 2: Resilience - There is a risk that the organisation’s ability operate in 
the event of a major incident may not be adequate and may 
disproportionately impact the organisation’s performance and that of the 
City Region’s economy

Controls:

• System security arrangements 

• Expertise of key teams

• ICT Strategy  

• Resilience and recovery arrangements 

• ICT Security Policy and Acceptable Use Policies

• Code of Conduct for Employees  

• Resilience arrangements in place and tested.

• Control Centre co-ordination

• High Risks Project Steering Group

• Strategic MEL Directorate Meeting

• Provision of Active Travel infrastructure 
across LCR to maintain connectivity

• "State of Readiness" has been drafted

P
age 219



Risk 2: Resilience

Actions:

• Deliver the cyber-security action plan

• Agree dates and scenarios for business continuity desk top exercises
20

• Residual Score:

• Timescale:

March 2022

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

P
age 220



Risk 3: Environment - There is a risk that the LCRCA does not use its position and powers 
effectively to meet the target for the City Region of being net zero carbon by 2040

Controls:

• Focus on Net Zero on all lobbying activity with Government including within the CSR submission

P
age 221



Risk 3: Environment

Actions:

• Net Zero Carbon approach to all policy development to be 

implemented

• ‘Road to Net Zero' to be developed with appropriate modelling of 

pathways

• Weekly cross-organisational Net Zero Group

• Stakeholder engagement mapping and coordination

• Residual Score:

20

• Timescale:

November 
2021

• Progress on completion of 
Actions within timescale:

Amber

—20

P
age 222



Risk 4: Transport Model - There is a risk that the role of transport in supporting the social, 
economic and environmental objectives of the City Region is inhibited by governance and 
funding models that do not support future public transport recovery and improvement

Controls:

• Monitoring network activity, development of commercial opportunities  / reduction in networks and frequencies

• Monitoring return to commercial service levels, recovering patronage levels

• Work closely with DFT and wider transport groups to understand issues and find solutions to funding gaps or adjustments 

to legislation

• Member of National and Local Resilience Forum

• Project structure in place and progressing to assess the opportunities presented by devolved bus powers 

• Ongoing development of Hydrogen Bus pilot

• Ongoing development of green bus routes with Green Bus Routes group established

• Fortnightly Rolling Stock Board meetings established

• Quarterly Risk Workshops for each of the seven Rolling Stock work streams. 

P
age 223



Risk 4: Transport Model

Actions:

• Contingency planning continues and is ongoing

• Monitor work with MEL (Operator of Last Resort)

• Procurement for external professional partners has commenced. 

Retainers to be awarded to successful bidders. Opportunity with new 

legal support services to develop commercial approach.

• Road map to recovery in relation to social distancing and revenue 

generated will reduce the level of liquidity risk. Long term strategic 

options to be developed for contract model

• Residual Score:

20

• Timescale:

December 
2021

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Red

P
age 224



Risk 5: Economic Recovery - There is a risk that the LCRCA does not use its position 
and powers effectively to drive economic recovery and prosperity in the City Region

Controls:

• Recovery Plan and Local Industrial Strategy submitted to Government

• CA role in grants to business throughout pandemic

• Recovery Fund in place

• Relationships with business community, LEP and partners

P
age 225



Risk 5: Economic Recovery

Actions:

• Finalise stakeholder engagement and consultation on recovery plan 

project development and prioritisation

• Recruit replacement and additional Commercial Development and 

Investment team resource to develop and deliver projects with key 

external partners/sponsors

• Develop and deliver recovery projects on prioritised basis 

• Residual Score:

20

• Timescale:

December 
2022

• Progress on completion of 
actions within timescale:

Amber

P
age 226



LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 
 
To:  The Chairperson and Members of the Liverpool City 

Region Audit and Governance Committee 
 
Meeting:     24 November 2021 
 
Authority/Authorities Affected:  All 
 
EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL ITEM: No 
 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS  
 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
 This report sets out proposals for appointing the external auditor to the Authority 

for the external audit of the Combined Authority’s accounts for the five-year period 
from 2023/24. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that the Liverpool City Region Audit and Governance 

Committee: 
 

(a) note the contents of the report;  
 

(b) note that the report and proposal have been considered and endorsed by 
the Audit and Governance Committee; and 
 

(c) approve the proposal to join the national procurement framework for the 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) to appoint an external 
auditor for five years from 2023/24. 

 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The current auditor appointment arrangements cover the period up to and 

including the audit of the 2022/23 accounts.  The Combined Authority opted into 
the ‘appointing person’ national auditor appointment arrangements established by 
Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) for the period covering the accounts for 
2018/19 to 2022/23. 

 
3.2 The process for retendering for external audit in local authorities in England, for 

contracts due to start from 2023/24, is now underway.  The Combined Authority is 
asked to decide whether to procure its own external auditor or opt into the national 

Page 227

Agenda Item 8



procurement framework again.  The approach outlined in this report has been 
considered by the Combined Authority Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
3.3 Under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Combined Authority is 

required to determine whether to opt into the national framework for the 
appointment of external auditors, by 11 March 2022.  In the absence of such a 
decision being made there is a presumption that the organisation is seeking to 
arrange its own procurement for its external auditors. 

 
3.4 There are three broad procurement options available to the Combined Authority 

for the retender of its external audit services; a standalone procurement exercise, 
to undertake a joint procurement exercise with other authorities to procure an 
auditor or to opt into in to the national auditor appointment scheme administered 
by a body designated by the Secretary of State as the ‘appointing person’.  The 
body currently designated for this role is PSSA. Appendix One provides more 
details on each option. 

 
3.5 In determining the appropriateness of these options consideration needs to be 

given to the current state of the local audit market and the impact that this could 
have on the desirability of the different options.  Over the last couple of years there 
have been a number of significant changes to the requirements placed on auditors 
by their regulatory body to strengthen and improve the integrity of the audit 
process.  At the same time the market has suffered from a shortage of firms in the 
market and too few qualified auditors employed by those firms. These two factors 
have led to a situation where audits have been delayed, fees have increased as a 
result of the additional audit work and failure to sign off the completed audit in line 
statutory deadlines has become common place.  

 
3.6 The ability of the Combined Authority to directly address these issues is limited 

due to the fact that the guidance and regulation of audit work is dictated by the 
Financial Reporting Council.  

 

3.7 The decision to procure outside of the national arrangement is likely to lead to 

increased costs and administrative burdens being placed on the Combined 

Authority, and for this reason it is recommended that the sector wide procurement 

conducted by the PSAA would produce better outcomes and be less burdensome 

for the Combined Authority than a procurement undertaken locally because: 

 

 Collective procurement reduces costs for the sector and for individual 
authorities compared to a multiplicity of smaller local procurements; 
 

 If it does not use the national appointment arrangements, the Combined 
Authority will need to establish its own auditor panel with an independent 
chair and independent members to oversee a local auditor procurement 
and ongoing management of an audit contract; 
 

 It is the best opportunity to secure the appointment of a qualified, 
registered auditor - there are only nine accredited local audit firms, and a 
local procurement would be drawing from the same limited supply of 
auditor resources as PSAA’s national procurement; and 
 

Page 228



 Supporting the sector-led body offers the best way of to ensuring there is a 
continuing and sustainable public audit market into the medium and long 
term. 

 
3.8 Whilst the deadline for a decision on how to proceed with appointing new external 

auditors is 11 March 2022, practically speaking arrangements will need to be in 
place ahead of that deadline.  The proposals as detailed in this report have been 
reported to and considered by the Audit and Governance Committee who have 
been asked to recommend that the Combined Authority proceed with the option to 
opt in to the PSAA procurement.  A verbal update will be provided at the 
Combined Authority meeting as the Audit and Governance Committee meeting will 
take place on 24 November 2021. 

 
 
4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 Financial 
 

There is a risk that current external audit fee levels could increase when the 
current contract end. It is clear that the scope of audit has increased, requiring 
more audit work. There are also concerns about capacity and sustainability in the 
local audit market. 
 
Opting into a national scheme provides maximum opportunity to ensure fees are 
as realistic as possible, while ensuring the quality of audit is maintained, by 
entering into a large-scale collective procurement arrangement. 
 
If the national scheme is not used some additional resource may be needed to 
establish an auditor panel and conduct a local procurement. Until a procurement 
exercise is completed it is not possible to state what, if any, additional resource 
may be required for audit fees from 2023/24.  

 
4.2 Human Resources 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.3 Physical Assets 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
4.4 Information Technology 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires a relevant 

Authority to appoint a local auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year not later 
than 31 December in the preceding year.  

 

Page 229



 Section 8 governs the procedure for appointment including that the Combined 
Authority must consult and take account of the advice of its auditor panel on the 
selection and appointment of a local auditor.  Section 8 provides that where a 
relevant Authority is a local Authority operating executive arrangements, the 
function of appointing a local auditor to audit its accounts is not the responsibility 
of an executive of the Authority under those arrangements. 

 
 Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local auditor. The Authority 

must immediately inform the Secretary of State, who may direct the Authority to 
appoint the auditor named in the direction or appoint a local auditor on behalf of 
the Combined Authority.  

 
 Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations in relation 

to an ‘appointing person’ specified by the Secretary of State.  This power has been 
exercised in the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 (SI 192) and 
this gives the Secretary of State the ability to enable a sector-led body to become 
the appointing person.  In July 2016 the Secretary of State specified PSAA as the 
appointing person. 

 
 

6.  RISKS AND MITIGATION 
 
 The principal risks are that the Combined Authority: 
 

 fails to appoint an auditor in accordance with the requirements and timing 
specified in local audit legislation; or 
 

 does not achieve value for money in the appointment process.  
 

These risks are considered best mitigated by opting into the sector-led approach 
through PSAA. 

 
 

7.  EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report.  
 
 
8. PRIVACY IMPLICATIONS 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
 
9.  COMMUNICATION ISSUES 
 
 None arising directly as a consequence of this report. 
 
  

Page 230



 
10.  CONCLUSION 
 
 The Combined Authority is required to make arrangements for the procurement of 

external auditors from 2023/24.  Whilst there several options available to address 
this need, it is recommended that the Authority opts into the PSAA procurement. 

 
 
 

JOHN FOGARTY 
Executive Director of Corporate Services 

 
 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
Sarah Johnston, Assistant Director of Finance, 0151 330 1015 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix One – Options for Procurement of External Auditors 
 
 
Background Documents:  
None 
 
 

Page 231



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX ONE 

 

EXTERNAL AUDITORS – PROCUREMENT OPTIONS 

 

Under the Local Government Audit & Accountability Act 2014 (“the Act”), the 

Authority is required to appoint an auditor to audit its accounts for each financial 

year.  The Authority has three options;  

 To appoint its own auditor, which requires it to follow the procedure set out in the 

Act.  

 To act jointly with other authorities to procure an auditor following the procedures 

in the Act.  

 To opt in to the national auditor appointment scheme administered by a body 

designated by the Secretary of State as the „appointing person‟.  The body 

currently designated for this role is Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 

(PSAA).  

In order to opt in to the national scheme, a council must make a decision at a 

meeting of the Full Combined Authority.   

The Appointed Auditor  

The auditor appointed at the end of the procurement process will undertake the 

statutory audit of accounts and Best Value assessment of the council in each 

financial year, in accordance with all relevant codes of practice and guidance.  The 

appointed auditor is also responsible for investigating questions raised by electors 

and has powers and responsibilities in relation to Public Interest Reports and 

statutory recommendations.   

The auditor must act independently of the council and the main purpose of the 

procurement legislation is to ensure that the appointed auditor is sufficiently qualified 

and independent.  

The auditor must be registered to undertake local audits by the Financial Reporting 

Council (FRC) employ authorised Key Audit Partners to oversee the work. As the 

report below sets out there is a currently a shortage of registered firms and Key Audit 

Partners.  

Auditors are regulated by the FRC, which will be replaced by a new body with wider 

powers, the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA) during the course of 

the next audit contract.  

Page 233



Councils therefore have very limited influence over the nature of the audit services 

they are procuring, the nature and quality of which are determined or overseen by 

third parties.   

Appointment by the council/Authority itself or jointly  

The Authority may elect to appoint its own external auditor under the Act, which 

would require the council to;  

 Establish an independent auditor panel to make a stand-alone appointment. The 

auditor panel would need to be set up by the Authority itself, and the members of 

the panel must be wholly or a majority of independent members as defined by the 

Act. Independent members for this purpose are independent appointees, 

excluding current and former elected members (or officers) and their close 

families and friends. This means that elected members will not have a majority 

input to assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm to award a contract for 

the Authority‟s external audit.  

 Manage the contract for its duration, overseen by the Auditor Panel.   

Alternatively, the Act enables the Authority to join with other authorities to establish a 

joint auditor panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of 

independent appointees. Further legal advice would be required on the exact 

constitution of such a panel having regard to the obligations of each Authority under 

the Act and the Authority would need to liaise with other local authorities to assess 

the appetite for such an arrangement. 

The national auditor appointment scheme 

PSAA is specified as the „appointing person‟ for principal local government under the 

provisions of the Act and the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. 

PSAA let five-year audit services contracts in 2017 for the first appointing period, 

covering audits of the accounts from 2018/19 to 2022/23. It is now undertaking the 

work needed to invite eligible bodies to opt in for the next appointing period, from the 

2023/24 audit onwards, and to complete a procurement for audit services. PSAA is a 

not-for-profit organisation whose costs are around 4% of the scheme with any 

surplus distributed back to scheme members.   

In summary the national opt-in scheme provides the following: 

 the appointment of a suitably qualified audit firm to conduct audits for each of the 
five financial years commencing 1 April 2023; 

 appointing the same auditor to other opted-in bodies that are involved in formal 
collaboration or joint working initiatives to the extent this is possible with other 
constraints; 

Page 234



 managing the procurement process to ensure both quality and price criteria are 
satisfied. PSAA has sought views from the sector to help inform its detailed 
procurement strategy; 

 ensuring suitable independence of the auditors from the bodies they audit and 
managing any potential conflicts as they arise during the appointment period; 

 minimising the scheme management costs and returning any surpluses to 
scheme members; 

 consulting with authorities on auditor appointments, giving the Authority the 
opportunity to influence which auditor is appointed; 

 consulting with authorities on the scale of audit fees and ensuring these reflect 
scale, complexity, and audit risk; and 

 ongoing contract and performance management of the contracts once these have 
been let. 

 

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	Minutes

	4 Members Code of Conduct Update
	Revised -  Annexe 1- Proposed Amendments to Merseyside Model Code
	Enc. 2 for Members Code of Conduct Updates

	5 Internal Audit Update
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit Update

	6 Fraud Update
	Enc. 1 for Fraud Update
	Enc. 2 for Fraud Update
	Enc. 3 for Fraud Update
	Enc. 4 for Fraud Update
	Enc. 5 for Fraud Update
	Enc. 6 for Fraud Update
	Enc. 7 for Fraud Update

	7 Risk Management Update
	Enc. 1 for Risk Management Update
	Risk Management Enc 2

	8 Appointment of External Auditors
	Enc. 1 for Appintment of External Auditors


